
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

August 20, 2019  5:30 pm 
  

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Derek Duke 
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 08-06-2019 Council Minutes 
b) 08-06-2019 Executive Session Minutes 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve an application for Sec.6-17(d) exemptions to open 

container prohibition.   
A) The Blue Room  

Manager- Kaleo Lyles   
1830 Chandler Rd    
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION V 19-07- 
01: Josh Whitfield requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 6 of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum building sign height requirement 
of Sign District 4 in order to allow the placement of a building sign at 20 feet located at 
13 North Main Street (Tax Parcel S18 000015 000). 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION CUV 19-
07-03:  Alicia Barnes Burnsed requests a conditional use variance from Article V of the 
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.76 acres of property located at 508 East Main Street 
to utilize the property as an addiction recovery community residence in the R-15 (Single 
Family Residential) zoning district (Tax Parcel MS71 000003 000). 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion approve Resolution 2019-28: A Resolution for the adoption of 
the Statesboro 2019-2029 Comprehensive Plan.  
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to Award a Contract to New Way Trucks in the amount of 
$310,698.68 per Sourcewell contract # 112014-NWY for the purchase of a new CNG 
Front Load Refuse Truck.  Funding is provided from 2013 SPLOST funds. 

 
10. Consideration of a Motion to authorize the Mayor to execute the GDOT Local 

Administered Projects (LAP) recertification application. 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to execute a Right of Way Mowing 
and Maintenance Agreement with the Georgia Department of Transportation. 



 
 

 
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to set the dates for the required three (3) public hearings to 
solicit input regarding the millage rate of 7.308 for the 2019 property taxes. 1st  Public 
Hearing- August 27th  2019 at 9:00 am, 2nd  Public Hearing- August 27th  2019 at 6:00 
pm, 3rd  Public Hearing- September 3rd , 2019 at 9:00 am 

 
13. Other Business from City Council 
 
14. City Managers Comments 
 
15. Public Comments (General) 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 
 

17. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                                   COUNCIL MINUTES 
               AUGUST 6, 2019                                                           9:00 AM 

 

1 
 

  

 
The published agenda had the time as 9:30 am which was an error. The meeting started at 9:00 
am. 
1. Call to Order 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  
 

2. Invocation and Pledge 
Councilman John Riggs gave the Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.

 
ATTENDENCE  
Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present  
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Sam Jones Councilmember Present  
Jeff Yawn Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Present  
Derek Duke Councilmember Present  
 

Other staff present was: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, City 
Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Sue Starling.  

  
3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 07-16-2019 Council Minutes 

 
B) Consideration of a Motion to Accept the high bid for a bloc of firearms to be sold 

as surplus 
 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 

Unanimous   

  Councilman Sam Jones 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    



 
 

2 
 

5. Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve application for an alcohol 
license Sec. 6-5 

 
A) Namaste Boro LLC 
     DBA: Primos Italian Kitchen 
     Ian Munger 
     609 Brannen St Ste 9 
     Statesboro, GA 30458 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 

A motion was made to close the public hearing 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
A motion was made to approve the alcohol license 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Unanimous   

  Councilman Jeff Yawn 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Jeff Yawn 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman John RIggs 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    



 
 

3 
 

B) ALDI Inc. 
     DBA: ALDI #85 
     ALDI Inc. 

                             270 Henry Boulevard 
                             Statesboro, GA 30458 
 
A motion was made to open the public hearing 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 

A motion was made to close the public hearing 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
A motion was made to approve the alcohol license with the condition to no issue it until the company 
receives their Certificate of Occupancy from the City. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
6. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to provide general liability insurance to 

Travelers in the amount of $524,609.00. If approved, this coverage will be for a one-
year term beginning August 14, 2019.  

 
A motion was made to approve the general liability insurance contract 
 

  RESULT: 

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman John riggs 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   



 
 

4 
 

 
  MOVER: 

 
  SECONDER: 

 
  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
 
7. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to provide workers compensation 

insurance to Bitco in the amount of $288,323.00. If approved, this coverage will be for a 
one-year term beginning August 14, 2019. 
 

A motion was made to approve the workers compensation insurance to Bitco. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 
 
 

8. Consideration of a Motion to enter into a Mutual Aid Agreement between the Claxton 
Fire Department and the Statesboro Fire Department. 

 
 A motion was made to approve the consent agenda 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Councilman Phil Boyum 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Jeff Yawn 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    



 
 

5 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to Approve Resolution 2019-27: A Resolution allowing Forth 
State Productions use of the Statesboro Fire Department Training Facilities. 

 
A motion was made to approve Resolution 2019-27. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
 
10. Other Business from City Council :  None 

 
11. City Managers Comments 
 

City Manager Charles Penny stated that he would like to have a session with Council on 
Saturday morning for about 2 hrs. The date is yet to be determined. 
 

12. Public Comments (General):  None 
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel 
Matters” “Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-
14-3(b) 

 
A motion was made to enter into Executive Session at 9:15 am. 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 
A motion was made to 
exit Executive Session with no action taken at 10:10 am 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 

Unanimous   

  Councilman John Riggs 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman John Riggs 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Derek Duke 

 Councilman Phil Boyum 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 



 
 

6 
 

  ABSENT: 
 
14. Consideration of a 

Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn the meeting at 10:10 am 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  ABSENT: 

 

    

Unanimous   

  Councilman Phil Boyum 

 Councilman Jeff Yawn 

  Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs, Duke   
 
    













CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles W. Penny, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

 

To: Charles W. Penny, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: August 12, 2019 

 

RE: August 20, 2019 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Sign Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the variance requested by 

application V 19-07-01 with conditions. 

 

Background: Josh Whitfield requests a variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) 

Table 6 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance regarding the maximum building 

sign height requirement of Sign District 4 in order to allow the placement of a 

building sign at 20 feet located at 13 North Main Street (Tax Parcel S18 000015 

000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Jones (District 2) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report V-19-07-01 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 V 19-07-01 

SIGN VARIANCE REQUEST 

13 NORTH MAIN STREET 

LOCATION: 13 N Main Street 

 

REQUEST: Sign variance request.  

APPLICANT: Josh Whitfield (Whitfield Signs) 

OWNER(S): Warren Holland 

ACRES: 0.15 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
S18 000015 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
District 2 (Jones) 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant requests a variance to Appendix A; Section 1509, Table 6 of the Statesboro Zoning 
Ordinance. Specifically, this application requests a variance from the maximum height requirements for the 
placement of building signs in Sign District #4 and the CBD (Central Business District) zoning district. The 
applicant is requesting the placement of a building sign at a height of 20 feet (See Exhibit D – Proposed 
Signage Plans).  

BACKGROUND:   

The applicant submitted a request on May 10, 2019 for the placement of a sign on the building listed as 13 
North Main Street. This sign was meant to be placed at the conclusion of a general renovation of the building 
which included new paint to the façade. This sign was initially denied, due to the requested placement of the 
sign at 20 feet, whereas the Central Business District requires that building signs be placed no higher than 
12 feet.  
 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING:  

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: CBD (Commercial Business 
District) 

Commercial retail shops. 

SOUTH: CBD (Commercial Business 
District) 

Commercial retail shops and government buildings. 

EAST: CBD (Commercial Business 
District) 

County Courthouse. 

WEST CBD (Commercial Business 
District) 

Commercial retail shops and the Statesboro Herald. 

The subject property is located within the CBD (Commercial Business) district. Surrounding parcels include 
Commercial retail uses and government buildings. (See Exhibit A –Location Map, Exhibit B—Future 
Development Map & Exhibit C—Photos of Subject Site). 

ATTACHMENTS: Exhibit A (Location Map), Exhibit B (Future Development Map), Exhibit C (Photos of Subject Site 
and surrounding sites), Exhibit D (Proposed Signage Plans), Exhibit E (Table 6 – Statesboro Zoning Ordinance) 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 2 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The City of Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan’s Future Development Map includes the subject site in 

the following character area: 

“Downtown – City Limits” 

Vision: 

Downtown is the historic core of the city and should remain the activity and cultural hub 

of the region. In the Urban Core, Traditional development patterns of buildings along 

the sidewalk and a lively streetscape should be respected and promoted. Historic 

buildings should be protected from demolition or inappropriate restoration which can 

degrade the architectural details of the structures. Additional residential opportunities, 

especially in the form of lofts or other residential over retail, should be promoted. 

Street-level uses should be reserved for retail, entertainment, or similar high-activity 

uses. 

Suggested 

Development & 

Implementation 

Strategies:  

 

 

 Maintain/enhance integrity of interconnected grid and pedestrian circulation 

interconnectivity. 

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and 

setbacks. 

 New developments that contain a mix of residential, commercial and/or community 

facilities at small enough scale and proximity to encourage walking between 

destinations should be encouraged. 

 Historic structures should be preserved or adaptively reused wherever possible. 

 Encourage mixed-use infill and redevelopment. Uses should typically transition 

across the rear of properties instead of across the street to soften the transition 

and maintain appropriate streetscapes. 

 Create local historic districts. 
Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 32. 

In addition, the Future Development Map and Defining Narrative section of the Comprehensive Plan states 
the following:  

“Statesboro residents have expressed dissatisfaction with a variety of features in the community which 
clutter streetscapes and obstruct natural landscape features- particularly on major corridors entering 
and exiting the community. While City leadership has acknowledged the need to comprehensively 
updated land development regulations to holistically address aesthetic concerns, there exist a number 
of individual topics which can be addressed by ordinance amendments in the short-term. Signs 
(attached and detached) should be managed by incorporating uniform design features, and by 
restricting billboards and other off-premise signage which distract from traffic control signage and 
compete with local and other on-site businesses.” 

Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan, Community Agenda page 11. 

ANALYSIS 

 

I. Variance from Article XV Section 1509(C) Table 6: Sign District 4 Dimension standards 
to allow for installation of a building sign in excess of the maximum allowed height. 

The applicant is requesting a variance from Article XV (Signs) regarding the maximum height of building 
signs allowed in Sign District #4. Article XV (Signs) Section 1509 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 
regulates the dimensional standards for all building signs within the City of Statesboro. The subject site is 
located in the CBD (Commercial Business) zoning district and is regulated by the dimensional standards of 
Sign District 4. As per Table 6 (Exhibit E), the maximum height permitted for building sign placement on 
the building’s exterior elevations in Sign District #4 is restricted to 12 feet.  

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 3 

The intention of this request is to allow for the installation of one (1) building sign at a height of 20 feet for 
a new business, locating in the downtown district. This request will not exceed the maximum square 
footage allowed for this individual establishment (See Exhibit D – Proposed Signage Plans).  

 
Section 1503(G) states that no variances shall be permitted from the terms of Article XV regarding signs in 
the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance. It continues to state that “Specifically, no variances under article XVIII of 
this ordinance [chapter] shall be applicable to the standards contained within this article.” However, Article 
XV regarding signs is part of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance, which provides for the award of variances 
by the City Council from the zoning regulations stating that “approval of a variance must be in the public 
interest, the spirit of the ordinance must be observed, public safety and welfare secured, and substantial 
justice done” and Section 1801 states that the Mayor and Council [should] consider if the following 
are true in its consideration of a variance request: 

 

1. There are special conditions pertaining to the land or structure in question because of its 
size, shape, topography, or other physical characteristic and that condition is not common 
to other land or buildings in the general vicinity or in the same zoning district; 

2. The special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the applicant; 
3. The application of the ordinance to this particular piece of property would create an 

unnecessary hardship; and 
4. Relief, if granted, would not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the 

purposes and intent of the zoning regulations. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of variance requested by application V 19-07-01 with conditions. 
 
At the regularly scheduled meeting held on August 6, 2019 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 6-
0 to recommend the approval of V 19-07-01 with the following staff condition(s): 
 

1. Approval of this variance does not authorize the construction of the proposed signage. Applicant 
will be required to submit a sign permit application for staff review & approval prior to construction 
commencement. 

 
 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 4 

EXHIBIT A:  LOCATION MAP 
 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 5 

 

EXHIBIT B: FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 

 

 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 6 

EXHIBIT C: SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTY PHOTOS 

Picture 1: View of the subject property and area where V 19-07-01 is being requested. 

 

Picture 2: View of the adjacent property to the north of the subject site, currently Georgia Department of Community 

Supervision. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 7 

 

 

Picture 3: View of the surrounding property to the east of the subject site, Bulloch County Courthouse. 

 

 
Picture 4: View of the surrounding properties, looking north along North Main Street. 

 



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 8 

 

 

Picture 5: View of the surrounding properties, looking south along North Main Street.  

 

Picture 6: View of the adjacent property to the south of the subject site, currently commercial retail uses. 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 9 

Exhibit D: Proposed Signage Plans 

 

 

  



Development Services Report 

Case: V-19-07-01  P a g e  | 10 

Exhibit E: Table 6: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

 

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles W. Penny, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

 

To: Charles W. Penny, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 

From: Owen Dundee, City Planner II 

 

Date: August 12, 2019 

 

RE: August 20, 2019 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Conditional Use Variance Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the conditional use variance 

requested by application CUV 19-07-03 with conditions. 

 

Background: Alicia Barnes Burnsed requests a conditional use variance from 

Article V of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance for 0.76 acres of property located 

at 508 East Main Street to utilize the property as an addiction recovery 

community residence in the R-15 (Single Family Residential) zoning district (Tax 

Parcel MS71 000003 000). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1) 

 

Attachments: Development Services Report CUV-19-07-03 
 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 
 

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 

CUV 19-07-03 

CONDITIONAL USE VARIANCE REQUEST 

508 EAST MAIN STREET 

LOCATION: 508 East Main Street 

 

REQUEST: 

Request for a conditional use 

variance from Article V of the 

Statesboro Zoning Ordinance 

for 0.76 acres of property 

located at 508 East Main Street 

to utilize the property as an 

addiction recovery community 

residence (Tax Parcel # MS71 

000003 000). 

APPLICANT: Alicia Barnes Burnsed 

OWNER(S): Alicia Barnes Burnsed 

ACRES: 0.76 acres 

PARCEL TAX  

MAP #: 
MS71 000003 000 

COUNCIL        

DISTRICT:            
1 (Boyum) 

   

 

PROPOSAL: 

The applicant is requesting a conditional use variance to utilize 508 East Main Street (Tax Parcel MS73 000003 000) as 
a long term residential, addiction recovery community residence of ten (10) adults (See Exhibit A – Location Map). The 
subject site is currently zoned R-15 (Single Family Residential) and the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance does not address 

or define group homes, personal care homes or recovery residences or designate an appropriate zoning district for such 
uses. In addition, Article II of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance states that a family in the R-15 zoning district may not 
consist of more than three (3) unrelated persons.  

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING: 

 ZONING: LAND USE: 

NORTH: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

SOUTH: R-15 (Single Family Residential) Single-family detached dwelling units 

EAST: R-3 (Medium Density Residential) Pine Needle Pointe Duplex Community  

WEST R-15 (Single Family Residential)  Chi Alpha Christian Fellowship Building 

 

Properties to the north, south, and west are single family residential land uses. The property to the east is a duplex 
community, Pine Needle Pointe (See Exhibit B—Photos of Subject Site and Surrounding Properties). 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 2 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

The subject site lies within the “Established Residential Neighborhood” character area and lies between the “Residential 
Redevelopment” and “Activity Centers/Regional Centers” character areas as identified by the City of Statesboro 2014 
Future Development Map (See Exhibit C—2014 Future Development Map) within the City of Statesboro Updated 2014 

Comprehensive Plan.   

Vision:  

“The traditional residential neighborhoods in the Established area were developed from the late 19th to mid-20th century, 
and feature connected street grids linked with downtown. Sidewalks should be located on both sides of major streets; 
lesser streets may have limited facilities. Major corridors in this area may support a mix of residential and commercial 
uses. As corridors transition from residential to commercial, the original structures should be maintained and renovated 
whenever possible. Any new structures should respect the existing fabric of the neighborhood, through similar front, side, 
and rear setbacks.” 
 

Appropriate land uses include:  

 Neighborhood-scale retail and commercial. 

 Small-scale office. 

 Small-lot single family residential. 

 Garage Apartments. 
 

Suggested Development & Implementation Strategies 

 In areas that are or were residential but may now be more appropriate for commercial uses, adaptive reuse of 
the residential structure should be encouraged to maintain the character of the area and to maintain appropriate 
scale. Excellent examples of adaptive reuse can be seen along Zetterower Avenue.  

 Evaluate the benefits and potential of urban redevelopment plan(s) for declining neighborhoods. Such plans can 
provide incentives and access to resources to revitalize these neighborhoods. 

 Statesboro Updated 2014 Comprehensive Plan, Community Agenda page 17-18. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION: 

The subject property is currently serviced by city utilities, sanitation, and public safety.  No significant impact is expected 
on community facilities or services as a result of this request.  

ENVIRONMENTAL: 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a special flood hazard area. There is no expected 
environmental impact associated with this request. Any potential issues will be brought forth and discussed during 
standard permitting and review procedures. 

ANALYSIS: 

Section 2007 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance provides eight (8) standards for the Mayor and City Council 
to consider “in making its determination” regarding a zoning map amendment and “balancing the 
promotions of the public health, safety, morality (morals), and general welfare against the right of 
unrestricted use of property.” Those standards are numbered below 1-8.  Staff findings regarding some of 
the factors are given for Council’s consideration of the application: 

1.) Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby.  

2.) The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning restrictions.  

3.) The extent to which the description of property values of the property owner promotes the health, 
safety, morals or general welfare of the public.  

a. The variance is needed in order to provide rehabilitative services to an adult population.  

4.) The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon the property owner.  

5.) The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes.  

a. The subject site is suitable for the proposed use and could still be used as a single-family residence 
should this use, if granted, cease.  



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 3 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

6.) The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of land 
development in the area in the vicinity of the property.  

7.) The extent the proposed change would impact the following: 

a. Population density in the area.  

i. The request would add seventeen (17) additional persons to the area.  

b. Community facilities. 

c. Living conditions in the area.  

d. Traffic patterns and congestion.  

e. Environmental aspects.  

f. Existing and future land use patterns.  

g. Property values in adjacent areas.  

8.) Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation and development plans for the 
community. 

In addition to the standards for determination outlined in Section 2007, the Mayor and Council will consider 
the following factors established by Article XXIV Section 2406 of the Statesboro Zoning Ordinance:  

1.) Adequate provision is made by the applicant to reduce any adverse environmental impact of the 
proposed use to an acceptable level.  

2.) Vehicular traffic and pedestrian movement on adjacent streets will not be substantially hindered or 
endangered. 

3.) Off-street parking and loading, and the entrances to and exits from such parking and loading, will be 
adequate in terms of location, amount, and design to serve the use.  

4.) Public facilities and utilities are capable of adequately serving the proposed use.  

5.) The proposed use will not have a significant adverse effect on the level of property values or the general 
character of the area.  

6.) Unless otherwise noted, the site plan submitted in support of an approved conditional use shall be 
considered part of the approval and must be followed.  

7.) Approval of a proposed use by the mayor and council does not constitute and [an] approval for future 
expansion of or additions or changes to the initially approved operation. Any future phases or changes 
that are considered significant by the planning commission and not included in the original approval are 
subject to the provisions of this section and the review of new detailed plans and reports for said 
alterations by the governing authority. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    

Staff recommends approval of the use requested by application CUV 19-07-03 with conditions. 

At the regularly scheduled meeting held on August 6, 2019 at 5:00 PM, the Planning Commission voted 7-0 to 
recommend the approval of CUV 19-07-03 with the following staff condition(s): 

 
(a) Applicant will be required to coordinate with the City of Statesboro Fire Department to ensure life safety 

standards meet current code requirements. 

(b) The applicant must not exceed reasonable standards for parking and avoid excessive parking at the location. 

(c) The applicant may not install signage at the location. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 4 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

EXHIBIT A: LOCATION MAP 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 5 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES 

Picture 1: Picture of the subject property, 508 East Main Street, currently a single family residence being proposed 
an addiction recovery community residence under CUV 19-07-03.  

 

Picture 2: An additional view of the subject property, 508 East Main Street, from the rear of the property. 

 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 6 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 3: View of the surrounding properties, currently single family residences located to the north of the subject 
property. 

 

Picture 4: View of the surrounding properties, looking west along East Main Street. 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 7 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

EXHIBIT B: PHOTOS OF SUBJECT SITE AND SURROUNDING PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 

Picture 5: View of surrounding properties, looking east along East Main Street. 

 

Picture 6: View of the surrounding properties, currently Pine Needle Pointe Duplex Community located to the east 
of the subject property. 

   



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 8 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

 
EXHIBIT C: 2014 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT MAP 

 
 

 

 

 



DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT  Page 9 of 9 

 
Case # RZ 15-03-04 

April 29, 2015 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES REPORT 

Case # CUV 19-07-03 

 

EXHIBIT D: Recorded Plat  

 

 



CITY OF STATESBORO

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Derek Duke, District 5 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence   Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691

www.statesboroga.gov 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, City Planner I 

Date: August 12, 2019 

RE: August 20, 2019 City Council Agenda Items 

Policy Issue: Resolution 2019-28: A resolution for the adoption of the City of 

Statesboro 2019-2029 Comprehensive Plan. 

Recommendation: Staff recommends adoption of the 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Plan.  

Background: The Department of Community Affairs has approved for adoption 

the 2019-2029 Comprehensive Plan for the City of Statesboro. Passage of this 

Plan is a requirement to maintain Qualified Local Government status.   

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments: 2019-2029 City of Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 

City Manager’s Recommendation: City Manager Recommends Adoption of 

Resolution 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


City of Statesboro 1 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

S���������, G������
Comprehensive Master Plan 2019—2029 

A RICH PAST…... 

AND A BRIGHTER FUTURE! 



 

City of Statesboro 2 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

This page is intentionally left blank. 
 



City of Statesboro 3 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Prepared For:

The Mayor and City Council

Of

Statesboro Georgia

50 East Main Street, Statesboro Georgia 30458

Adopted: August _, 2019

The Mayor and Council of the City of Statesboro acknowledge the input and efforts of 
all individuals who contributed to the creation of this comprehensive plan document. 

This Plan will provide important information for community members and decision 
makers in the future.  

 Facilitated multiple meetings with community members and leaders, where they
discussed the future of Statesboro

 Conducted a community survey and 3 open houses
 Compiled research and analysis
 Created various plan components and assembled the plan document
 Held 2 Public Hearings on the production of the plan

Dedicated city staff were critical in the development of the Comprehensive Plan, 
providing key background information that generated sound recommendations for 
inclusion in the plan. 



City of Statesboro 4 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Jonathan McCollar Mayor 

Phil Boyum Council Member—District 1 

Sam Lee Jones Council Member—District 2 

Jeff Yawn Council Member—District 3 

John Riggs Council Member—District 4 

Derek Duke Council Member—District 5 

Charles Penny City Manager 

Jason Boyles Director of Public Works & Engineering 

Vacant Director of Planning & Development 

Flavia Starling Director of Human Resources 

Darren Prather Director of Purchasing and Information Technology 

Cindy West Director of Finance 

Mike Broadhead Chief of Police 

Sue Starling City Clerk 

Tim Grams Chief of Fire 

Steve Hotchkiss Director of Public Utilities 

City Council & Department Heads



City of Statesboro 5 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Member Name Role 

James W Byrd Sr. Planning Commission  Member 

Cindy Steinman County Management Analyst 

Benjamin McKay Business Innovation Group Advisor 

Steve Price Georgia Department of Transportation Manager 

Jamie Grady Averitt Center for the Arts Director 

Phyllis Thompson Chamber of Commerce President 

Allen Muldrew Downtown Development Authority Director (Economic Development) 

Denise Mikell Realtor’s Association President 

Derek Duke District 5 Council Member (Elected Official) 

Benji Thompson Bulloch County Development Authority CEO 

Steering Committee



City of Statesboro 6 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Table of Contents

PREFACE 9

COMMUNITY GOALS 17

COMMUNITY PROFILE 22

COMMUNITY PROFILE: GENERAL DEMOGRAPHICS 23

COMMUNITY PROFILE: HOUSING 29

COMMUNITY PROFILE: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 35

COMMUNITY PROFILE: DEVELOPMENT ELEMENTS 39

COMMUNITY PROFILE: CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 46

COMMUNITY PROFILE: FACILITIES 59

COMMUNITY PROFILE: NATURAL/CULTURAL RESOURCES 65

COMMUNITY PROFILE: LAND USE 72

COMMUNITY PROFILE: LAND USE PLAN 78 

COMMUNITY AGENDA 114

COMMUNITY AGENDA: NEEDS & OPPORTUNITIES 115

COMMUNITY AGENDA: REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS 120

COMMUNITY AGENDA:WORK PROGRAM 2019-2024 126

APPENDIX A: STAKEHOLDER ANALYSIS 136 

APPENDIX B: SWOT ANALYSIS 137 

APPENDIX C: INFORMATION SOURCES 141 

APPENDIX D: REQUIRED DOCUMENTS 143 

APPENDIX E: SURVEY RESULTS 150 

APPENDIX F: MAPS 162 



 

City of Statesboro 7 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

  

List of Figures 

FIGURE PREFACE Page 

1.1 List of Procedures and Descriptions 14 

2.1 Population 24 

2.2 Population Comparison 24 

2.3 Number of Households 25 

2.4 Median Age 26 

2.5 Population By Race 27 

3.1 Change in Number of Housing Units 30 

3.2 Median Values for Owner-Occupied Homes 31 

3.3 Median Rent 31 

3.4 Housing Types 32 

3.5 Age of Housing 33 

4.1 Employment by Industry 36 

4.2 Labor Force Participation 37 

4.3 Percent of Households by Income Range 38 

5.1 School Enrollment, Schools Serving Statesboro 63 

   



 

City of Statesboro 8 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

  

List of Maps 

MAP MAP TYPE Page 

 1.1 The State of Georgia, Bulloch County, and the  City of Statesboro 11 

  2.1 Wetlands 66 

  3.1 Soils 67 

4.1 FEMA Flood Zones  68 

5.1 Cultural Resources 70 

6.1 Current Land Uses 78 

7.1 Future Land Use 79 

8.1 Future Development 80 



 

City of Statesboro 9 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

PREFACE 

Statesboro Kiwanis Annual Fair 



 

City of Statesboro 10 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Counties, cities, and towns all experience change at various points in time, whether it be demographic, geograph-
ic, or economic. These changes are factors that together determine the long-term viability of these localities. One 
important thing to remember is that the effects of change are different for communities that can anticipate and 
accommodate it. Communities that fail to plan can face negative consequences that could have been avoided or 
mitigated with proper planning. 

Community stabilization and quality growth begin with a consistent locally generated vision and a plan of imple-
mentation which can spark economic opportunity and social cohesiveness in any given town, city, county, or re-
gion. 

Statesboro officials acknowledge the importance of this comprehensive planning process to address multiple com-
munity needs and opportunities. Including concerns regarding the availability and quality of housing, economic 
development, natural and cultural resources, transportation and future land use. This document consolidates 
identified issues and locally generated solutions. 

The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan is the official guiding document for the future of the City. The comprehensive 
plan serves the following functions: 
 It lays out a desired future 
 It guides how that future is to be achieved 
 It formulates a coordinated long-term planning program 

The Plan document also addresses issues regarding housing, economic development, and land use in a coordinat-
ed manner and serves as a guide for how: 
 Land will be developed 
 Housing will be improved and made available 
 Businesses will be attracted and retained 

The Comprehensive Plan document becomes a         
powerful resource for elected and appointed officials as 
they deliberate development issues and convey policy to 
their respective citizenry. 

Preface: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS 



 

City of Statesboro 11 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The City of Statesboro is located in Bulloch County, Geor-
gia. It is one of the many municipalities within the 
Coastal Region of Georgia and one (1) of four (4) incorpo-
rated jurisdictions in the county. The Coastal Regional 
Commission is the regional entity for the area and works 
with the local governments on multiple projects. States-
boro's location in south central Bulloch County places it 
at the heart of development within the rural county, 
which presents its own benefits and challenges.  

The history of the City of Statesboro can be told through 
its cultural resources and those who built and occupied 
them. Some of these resources are still in existence, but 
many are gone forever, demolished by fire and the pres-
sure of development throughout time. It is said that the 
community of Statesboro grew as the commercial and 
residential center of the region. The City of "Statesboro" 
was incorporated in 1803 by charter from the Georgia 
General Assembly, and continued to thrive through the 
Reconstruction Era. Particularly through the fact that at 
the turn of the twentieth century it was responsible for 
producing one-eighth of the world’s Sea Island cotton. 

Statesboro has remained relevant in the current century 
through education, specifically higher learning, through 
Georgia Southern University. Due to the growth and suc-
cess of the University, the City of Statesboro has experi-
enced an abundance of new ideas and culture to add to its 
rich history. 

Map 1.1 : State of Georgia,  
Bulloch County, and 
the City of Statesboro 

 

Preface: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS 

Source: StaGIS 

City of Statesboro in Red 



 

City of Statesboro 12 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Comprehensive Plan is a living document that should be updated as 
the communities it describes change. The Georgia Department of Commu-
nity Affairs (DCA) requires 10-year development of the plan and 5-year up-
dates of the community work program portion of the plan to ensure com-
munity needs are met. 

The 2014 Statesboro Comprehensive Plan Update was prepared by Lott + 
Barber with collaboration from RS&H. Consistent with DCA standards, the 
plan outlined municipal conditions that existed at the time and formulated 
goals to address those conditions. 

The Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 2019 was prepared by City Staff with 
the assistance of the Coastal Regional Commission. This plan provided a 
full community assessment and created long-term goals regarding eco-
nomic development, housing, natural and cultural resources, community 
facilities, transportation, and land use. 

Preface: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS 



City of Statesboro 13 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The City of Statesboro served without a contracted consultant as its planning coordinator for the new Comprehen-
sive Plan 2019-2029 This document has been prepared to exceed the minimum requirements of Georgia Depart-
ment of Community Affairs' 2014 Minimum Standards and Procedures For Local Comprehensive Planning which 
became effective in March 2014. 

The 2019 Comprehensive Plan includes the following state-required and elective components: 
 Community Goals • Economic Development Element
 Needs and Opportunities • Land Use Element
 Community Work Program • Housing Element
 Community Involvement Overview
 Community Facilities

All state-required comprehensive planning components, and additional elective elements listed are distributed 
throughout the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan's three (3) sections: Preface, Community Profile, and Community 
Agenda. Figure 1.1 illustrates the location of each of the elements in the Comprehensive Plan in relation to the 
structure of this document. 

SERVICE DELIVERY STRATEGY 

The state of Georgia's "Service Delivery Strategy Act" (O.C.G.A 36-70) was adopted in 1997 by the Georgia General 
Assembly. It required all Georgia counties and incorporated municipalities to adopt a joint "service delivery strate-
gy" document by July 1, 1990. The service delivery strategy document is an action plan supported by appropriate 
ordinances and intergovernmental agreements, for providing local government services and resolving land use 
conflicts within a county. 

The purpose of this Act - and the service delivery strategy document - is for local governments to examine public 
services, identify overlap or gaps in service provisions, and develop a better approach to allocating the delivery and 
funding of these services among local governments and other authorities within each county. Updates regarding  
the City Service Delivery Strategy took place concurrently with the development of the City Comprehensive Master 
Plan.

Preface: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS



 

City of Statesboro 14 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Figure 1.1: List of Procedures and Descriptions 

 Procedure Description 

B First Required Public Hearing Brief public on the process and provide opportunities to participate 

C Plan Development Include  opportunity for involvement from stakeholders and community members 

D Second Public Hearing Plan is drafted and made available for public review 

E Submittal for Review Upon completion must submit to Regional Commission for review 

F Notification of Interested Parties 
The RC will notify all interested parties of the availability of the Plan for review and 
comment 

G Regional Commission Review RC will review the Plan for potential conflicts 

H Department Review DCA will review for compliance with their set requirements 

I 
Report of Findings and 
Recommendations 

A report of findings and recommendation must be transmitted within 40 days after 
submittal 

J Plan Revisions If plan is not in compliance revisions may be made to the plan to meet requirements 

K Adoption of Plan 
Once the plan is found in compliance the plan can be adopted within a certain time 
frame 

L Notification of Local Adoption RC must be notified of adoption within 7 days and forward to DCA in another 7 days 

M 
Qualified Local Government 
Certification 

DCA will notify communities their QLGC has been extended 

N Publicizing the Plan 
Publication of plan adoption must occur and    citizenry informed of the availability of 
plan for review 

A Steering Committee 
Includes City and County staff, faculty, and citizens with a particular  interest in the 
City’s Future Planning.  

Preface: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS 



 

City of Statesboro 15 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

A comprehensive plan should be composed to reflect the shared vision, goals and objectives for all communi-
ties involved in the process The Georgia Department of Community Affairs requires the planning process for 
comprehensive plan to follow a set of minimum procedures to ensure that the public has the opportunity to 
provide input and review the comprehensive plan document as it is created.  

Consistent public input was a necessary component for the creation and completion of this comprehensive 
plan document. A steering committee of stakeholders was created and was comprised of municipal and city 
leaders. The primary purpose of this committee was assuring that COS Staff reflect the aforementioned shared 
vision, goals, and objectives of the community. 

An initial Steering Committee meeting was held on October 29 2018, at which time COS Staff presented pre-
liminary data regarding population, housing,  economic development, and land use. COS staff initiated a dia-
logue with   Committee members to gain their perspective regarding presented data. Staff also communicated 
with stakeholders and met with them on the following dates: 

 January 28, 2019 at the Luetta Moore Park, Jones –Love Cultural Building 
 January 29, 2019 at the Pittman Park United Methodist Church 
 January 29, 2019 at the Fletcher Memorial Baptist Church 

Considering past plans, COS staff created and coordinated a community survey to gather more community in-
put.  

Preface: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS 

Steering Commi�ee Mee�ng– October 31, 2018 Public Input Mee�ng–  January 29,2019 



 

City of Statesboro 16 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Vision Statement :  
 

The City of Statesboro prides itself on being a caring, inclusive community with family values and character that 

endeavors to ensure that current and future residents are able to enjoy their lifestyles. Residents have stated that 

Statesboro is a wonderful place to live and raise a family, and have expressed a strong desire that the City not only 

maintains, but also enhances the quality of the community.  

The goal of the Comprehensive Plan is to establish a guide that ensures that the characteristics that make the city 

unique may be preserved, and strengthened in future years. 

A number of objectives are key to realizing this vision: 

Economic Centralization – The location of the City of Statesboro provides a major opportunity to centralize 

growth in the region, due to not only the Georgia Southern, but also serving as the county seat for surround-

ing cities. The City will continue to incentivize large employers and centers of development in the expanding 

City limits. 

Sustainability – The City will continue to preserve greenspace and develop practices that promote sustainabil-

ity of resources within the City limits. 

Quality Housing – The City will promote the construction of quality homes, maintain awareness of the condi-

tion of homes, and emphasize walkability and interconnectivity in neighborhoods.  

Land Use Policies – The City will maintain a land use policy that provides for distinct areas, ensuring that ex-

pansion conserves as much of the natural resources available while minimizing ecological damage.  

Transportation Network – The City will develop a comprehensive network which will place equal im-

portance on all forms of transportation to minimize congestion, and provide safe facilities for pedestrian/bike 

traffic. This will begin with a transportation feasibility study.  

Education – Maintaining our current educational facilities and allowing for expansion and development. En-

suring that newcomers will not only come to the region, but will also engage with the community.  

Downtown – Through the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority, the City will promote policy deci-

sions that ensure the preservation of historical buildings, and provide for day and evening destinations for 

our citizens.  

Preface: THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN PROCESS 



 

City of Statesboro 17 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Agenda: 

Community Goals 
 

Stakeholders and other planning participants have 
identified the planning goals of the City of Statesboro. 
The "Community Goals" component of the Communi-
ty Agenda document includes the following elements: 

List of Goals: The goals list consists of broad 
statements of understanding and intent regarding the 
communities' long-term growth and development vi-
sion. In addition to the list of needs and opportuni-
ties, the Georgia Department of Community Affairs' 
"Quality Community Objectives" were reviewed in or-
der to form these topic-specific goals which guide the 
implementation strategies contained in the Commu-
nity Work Program. 

Policies: To accompany the community goals, a 
list of supporting policies was developed, some as on-
going initiatives. During the course of the 2019 Com-
prehensive Plan process, the previous work program 
items and objectives were reviewed. Some of these 
items were deemed more appropriate as goals or as 
supporting policies for said goals. Duplicated policies 
were eliminated in other sections of the Plan. 



 

City of Statesboro 18 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

TRANSPORTATION GOALS 
 Increase pedestrian/bicycle safety and access to all portions of the City. 
 Create greater interconnectivity between streets and developments to reduce dependency on existing major 

highways. 
 Manage the long-term maintenance of City streets while improving access along major thoroughfares. 
Supporting Policies 

-Develop an extensive recreational trail network. 
-Provide for non-vehicular access between developments. 
-Explore funding measures necessary to create a reserve fund for long-term street maintenance. 
-Promote higher-intensity development patterns in order to decrease the amount of new public facilities 
and utilities being added to the city's street system. 
-Develop access management standards for major thoroughfares. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GOALS 
 Ensure that new employment options include higher-paying administrative and professional services, high-tech 

and medical positions. 
 Obtain a greater number and variety of retail establishments to locate within the municipal limits. 
 Focus retail recruitment efforts to character areas along major thoroughfares as identified in the future develop-

ment map. 
 Supporting Policies 

-Collaborate with regional economic development agencies to develop a diverse economy based on multi-
ple industry sectors and employment opportunities in the city limits. 
-Improve the appearance of the city to serve as an enticement for additional business investment. 
-Promote the formation of local private business groups that can focus their energy on marketing Statesbo-
ro as an attractive business location. 

COMMUNITY GOALS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 19 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

HOUSING GOALS 
 Provide safe, clean and affordable housing choices to Statesboro residents of varying income levels. 
 Remove deteriorated structures throughout the City. 
 Increase homeownership throughout the City. 
 Supporting Policies 

-Redevelop some of the deteriorating manufactured housing stock into higher-density and/or mixed use de-
velopment. 
-Acquire and demolish vacant and dangerous buildings that do not conform to minimum building codes 
-Focus redevelopment activity in the central portion of Statesboro to promote a more defined town center 
-Develop multi-family housing options for residents who may not be able to purchase single-family homes. 
-Partner with the private sector and/or government agencies to develop housing assistance programs. 
-Utilize the urban redevelopment plan for development decisions. 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 Protect the quality of drinking water sources (i.e. streams, ponds, lakes, etc.) from the effects of new develop-

ment. 
 Protect and promote the reuse of remaining historic properties in Statesboro, and emphasize the city's historic 

heritage. 
 Supporting Policies 

-Incorporate open space and natural landscape into new developments. 
-Improve or increase standards that provide community-wide protection to sensitive wetland habitats. 
-Reduce the amount of impervious surfaces in new development and increase tree planting/protection 
standards to reduce the amount of storm water runoff generated by development site. 
-Provide additional facilities for the GSU Museum as needed in order to accommodate work space, storage 
and event space, handicapped access and emergency ingress/egress. 
-Utilize the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority Design Standards and Central Business District 
zoning regulations to protect the design and character of historic structure while providing flexibility in 
their use. 

COMMUNITY GOALS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 20 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 Eliminate drainage problems within the City. 
 Provide additional public park space and recreational opportunities for all ages. 
 Ensure the effective provision of services to the city's growing population. 
 Supporting Policies 

-Convert existing city thoroughfares from open-ditch section streets to curb and gutter streets where part of 
conventional development. 
-Create "low-impact" development alternatives that allow storm water to flow through filtration, detention 
and/or retention systems that allow for more natural treatment of runoff. 
-Incorporate active recreation areas into new developments. 
-Identify areas where small public parks can be developed to improve community accessibility. 
-Improve accessibility to library services. 
-Streamline record-keeping functions. 
-Gradually increase the amount of City staff to provide services - particularly administrative and development 
related staff. 
-Maximize the use of the community resource character area as a location for new city facilities. 
- Develop the Blue Mile, the Blue Mile Creek Water retention area, and associated recreational improve-
ments. 

COMMUNITY GOALS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 21 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

INTER-CITY PLANNING RESOURCES 
 The City is currently running studies that would assist in more than just Economic Development. Upon publica-

tion of data, additional study information was added to the Comprehensive Plan.

 City of Statesboro Blue Mile/Blue Mile Creek Plan
 This Plan focuses on the development of the area known as The Blue Mile. Along with the revitalization of

the area leading from Downtown Statesboro to the University. The Creek Plan will focus on the upcoming
development of an area which will be known as the Blue Mile Creek. This area will house mixed-use
developments, recreation facilities as well as a water retention area to prevent flooding in an area within
the flood plain.

 City of Statesboro Strategic Plan
 Conducted throughout 2016, and approved in 2018 this Plan will help serve as additional guidance for the

City in spurring Economic Development.
 City of Statesboro Transit Feasibility Study

 This Plan focuses on the feasibility of adding some type of public transportation within the City. This
Transit Feasibility Study spans all forms of public transportation, but has yet to be implemented.

COMMUNITY GOALS: Community Agenda



 

City of Statesboro 22 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

           COMMUNITY PROFILE 
 

The "Community Profile" section of the Comprehensive Plan provides an analysis of multiple elements including:  
demographics, housing, and community facilities. From this analysis and community input, a list of "Needs and    
Opportunities" was created and is presented in the "Community Agenda" portion of this Plan. Data extracts             
addressing elements of the "Minimum Standards and Procedures For Local Comprehensive Planning" rules are 
found in this section. Portions of these extracts were utilized by stakeholders to gauge initial impressions of       
Statesboro and the surrounding area. The information located in this section represents a "snapshot" of all research 
conducted for this planning process. 
 



 

City of Statesboro 23 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

General Demographics 

 

An analysis and understanding of the population in a community lays the foundation for the comprehensive 
plan and aids in the development of the road map for community initiatives. This examination reveals the 
important changes and trends in the population that are critical to land development and infrastructure 
placement which are consistent with this plan. 

Understanding households and other demographic information is critical when determining future service 
needs and expansions or cuts, developing housing, and creating amenities. 

The General Demographics section will provide information and examination of the following areas: 

Population  30,358 (2018) 
Population Trends: 1.7% Growth   
Households 10,792 
Income $24,499 
Poverty 51.5 

 

Age 23.1 

Racial Composition 

    52% White 

    41.6% Black 

    3.9% Hispanic 

Source: ESRI Business Analyst Online  



 

City of Statesboro 24 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

POPULATION & TRENDS 

The dynamics of Statesboro's past, present population, 
population trends and population projections provide 
essential information in the decision-making process 
for certain plans and projects taking place over the next 
few years. Data collected from the Coastal Regional 
Commission is the basis for the analysis of demograph-
ic changes throughout this document. Census data esti-
mates from the years 2000 through 2023 were used. 

The population in the city of Statesboro has dramatical-
ly increased over the last eighteen years and is antici-
pated to continue its upward trend. Figure 2.1 illus-
trates the total population for Statesboro for the years 
2000 through 2024. It clearly reveals the rapid growth 
occurring in the city, some of which has been influ-
enced by growth at Georgia Southern University and 
Fort Stewart. 

According to the Coastal Regional Commission data de-
picted in Figure 2.2, the population of Statesboro 
has grown by approximately 4,000 individuals every 
decade or so. Such growth is only outpaced by Pooler. 
The Statesboro population is still higher than the 
growth in Emanuel County, and Swainsboro. For exam-
ple, between 2000 and 2010, Statesboro gained 5,655 
new residents, a percent increase of 24.7 percent. Sim-
ultaneously, Bulloch County, including Statesboro, 
gained 14,234 new residents, a percent increase of 25.4 
%. As Statesboro continues to grow, it must do a thor-
ough examination of services, housing, and other 
amenities necessary to meet the needs of a rapidly 
growing population while addressing the Community 
Goals of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Figure 2.2 Popula�on Growth Comparison 

Figure 2.1 Statesboro Popula�on 

GENERAL DEMOGRAPHICS: Community Profile:  

Source: ESRI Business Analyst Online  

Source: ESRI Business Analyst Online 



 

City of Statesboro 25 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

HOUSEHOLDS 
 
Not only has the City of Statesboro experienced growth in overall population, it has also experienced a similar 
growth in the number of households. In 2010, there were 10,234 households in Statesboro; this is an 15 per-
cent increase from the year 2000, when there were only 8,688 households. As Figure 2.3 illustrates, this level 
of growth did not occur in the other areas examined. For example, although the City of Swainsboro grew, 
Emanuel County decreased between 2000 and 2010. There is also a larger discrepancy between the level of 
growth in all the municipalities, specifically the City of Pooler. 

   
2000 2010 

2000-10 
Change 

2000-10 Percent 
Change 

Statesboro 8,688 10,234 1,546 15% 

Bulloch County 22,742 25,575 2,833 12% 

Swainsboro 3,051 3,104 53 2% 

Emanuel County 9,419 8,430 -989 -11% 

Pooler 2,245 7,300 5,054 225% 

Georgia 3,006,369 3,585,584 579,215 19.30% 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 and 2010 Summary File 1 (SF1), Table DP-1 
U.S. Census Bureau county population data includes the population counts for both incorporated 
and unincorporated area; Coastal Regional Commission of Georgia 

GENERAL DEMOGRAPHICS: Community Profile:  

Figure 2.3 : Num ber of Households  



 

City of Statesboro 26 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

AGE 
 
The median age of Statesboro’s residents has increased between 2000 and 
2010, by 0.10%. As shown in Figure 2.4 Statesboro is still the only area of 
those examined where the median population age remains under 25. In 
contrast, Bulloch County's median age dropped 0.2 years between 2000 
and 2010 whereas the City of Pooler has seen a decrease of 0.9 years. 
Emanuel County saw the largest increase of 1.9 years not taking into ac-
count Georgia’s overall population growth. 

Figure 2.4: 2000 & 2010 Median Age  

   
2000 2010 

2000-2010 Difference 
in Median Age 

Statesboro 22.0 22.1 .1 

Bulloch County 26.1 25.9 -.2 

Swainsboro 34.7 33.4 -1.3 

Emanuel County 34.9 36.8 1.9 

Pooler 34.1 33.2 -.9 

Georgia 33.4 35.3 1.9 

GENERAL DEMOGRAPHICS: Community Profile:  

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 and 2010 Summary File 1 (SF1), Table DP-1 



 

City of Statesboro 27 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

RACIAL AND ETHNIC COMPOSITION 

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the population in the City of Statesboro is diversifying but remains to be 
dominated by two major groups: Caucasians and African-Americans. In 2010, Caucasians comprised 54.3 per-
cent of the total population; African-Americans comprised 40.2%. By 2018 however, Caucasians had been re-
duced to 52.0%, and African-Americans decreased to 40.1 percent. The other 7.9% of the population was com-
prised of Native Americans, Asians, Native Hawaiians, and those who identify as "some other race" or "two or 
more races. 

Consistent with the increase in racial diversity, the ethnic composition in Statesboro has changed since 2010. In 
2000, 2.1 percent of residents were Hispanic. Between 2000 and 2010, the city nearly gained 300 additional His-
panic residents, increasing the Hispanic population to 3.0%. In 2018 this number rose to 3.9% and is projected in 
2023 to rise to 4.4%. 

GENERAL DEMOGRAPHICS: Community Profile:  

Figure 2.5: 2014-2017 Population by Race (Excluding Ethnicity) 

 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Total 29,630 30,589 30,597 30,649 

Caucasian 15,486 15,402 15,578 15,236 

African American 12,191 12,618 13,135 13,174 

Native Americans 82 68 14 59 

Asian 733 669 492 495 

Two or more Races 789 896 869 1141 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Es�mates  



 

City of Statesboro 28 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The population of the City of Statesboro has changed dramatically over the last 20 years. While some communi-
ties are struggling with little or no growth, Statesboro has grown at a respectable rate and outpaced neighboring 
municipalities, while remaining within norms for the county and the state as a whole. The population and num-
ber of households has grown consistently throughout the years since 2000. 

Demographic factors to consider when developing the plan to address growth include: 
 Population growth 
 Encouraging young residents and students to remain in Statesboro 
 Balanced levels of families and non-families 
 Increased racial and ethnic diversity 
 Significant increases in income 
 Increased numbers of residents in poverty 

Given these population increases, the City must be diligent in examining services, housing, and amenities; 
which it is able to provide to accommodate new and existing resident needs. Population growth often brings in-
creased housing and economic development opportunities and challenges. Different population subgroups de-
sire different things, but they also bring much-needed diversity to the community. As both population and de-
velopment increase, planning appropriately becomes increasingly critical to ensure greater resident quality of 
life.  

GENERAL DEMOGRAPHICS: Community Profile:  



 

City of Statesboro 29 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

Housing 

 

The majority of land use within the City of Statesboro is dedicated to residential properties. Providing quality di-
verse housing options should be a priority for any community which seeks to create or maintain a certain quality 
of life and attract new residents and businesses. 

This section contains an evaluation of housing within Statesboro, as well as changes in the state of housing in the 
city and the neighboring areas within Bulloch county over the last decade. Information regarding the availability, 
adequacy, and suitability of housing is presented in this section through an analysis of the following: 

 Number of Housing Units 
 Housing Types 
 Housing Cost 

 Occupied and Vacant Housing 
 Age of Housing 
 Cost Burdened Households 

Housing conditions within a community provide insight into the economic and social health of each area ex-
amined. Vibrant communities often contain both new housing development and renovated existing housing. 
High vacancy rates, large quantities of deteriorated housing, and lack of new development are indicators of 
stagnant growth, population loss, and potentially low quality of life. 



City of Statesboro 30 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

NUMBER OF HOUSING UNITS 
With an increasing population, the need for housing availability and affordability increases. According to the 
Coastal Regional Commission, the City of Statesboro contains 12,349 housing units. This represents a noticeable 
increase since the 2000  Census, when there were only 9,235 units reported. As depicted in Figure 3.1, housing 
unit growth within  Statesboro will outpace growth in both  Swainsboro and Emanuel County; this increase is con-
sistent with steady population growth. However Bulloch County is estimated to expand its number at a larger rate 
whereas, the City of Pooler is estimated to outpace each of the municipalities.

OCCUPIED AND VACANT HOUSING 
Statesboro has experienced a rather significant change in terms of general occupancy and home ownership.   
Between the years 2000 and 2016, the vacancy rate has decreased by about 48% relatively the same. Over the 
same time period, City resident homeownership in Statesboro has decreased. Approximately 19% of housing units 
were owner-occupied in the year 2016, compared to 28% in the year 2000. In contrast, approximately 43% of 
housing units in Swainsboro were owner-occupied in the year 2016, a 5% drop since the year 2000. This trend is 
true for Emanuel County as well, where occupancy is shifting toward a greater percentage of renters and fewer 
homeowners.

Figure 3.1: Change in Number of Housing Units 2018-2023

2018 2023 Change 
Percent 
Change 

Statesboro 12,349 12,892 543 4.4% 

Bulloch 
County 

31,139 32,980 1,841 5.9% 

Swainsboro 3,116 3,129 13 0.4% 

Emanuel 
County 

10,168 10,314 146 1.4% 

Pooler 9,781 11,026 1,245 12.7% 

HOUSING: Community Profile 

Source: ESRI Business Analyst Online 



 

City of Statesboro 31 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Figure 3.2 provides a visual representation to show 
the changes in the median value of owner-occupied homes be-
tween 2010 and 2016. Only Pooler and Statesboro experienced 
an increase during those years. 

As shown in Figure 3.3, rent prices have also increased be-
tween the years 2010 and 2016. Median rent in Statesboro has 
risen at a respectable rate, reaching $742. This is the largest 
increase in median rental rates of all the areas examined. Alt-
hough the rent levels in 2016 for Statesboro were higher than 
those in 2010, they were still lower than that of Bulloch Coun-
ty. Rental housing availability and pricing should be looked at 
carefully. The cost of rent could be a factor in the increased 
housing cost burden some families experience. Cost burdened 
households will be discussed in a later section. 

Figure 3.2 :2010 and 2016 Median Values 
for 

Owner-Occupied Homes 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2010 Census Sum-
mary and American Community Survey 

Figure 3.3: 2010 and 2016 Median Rent 

  

 
2000 2016 $ Change % Change 

Statesboro $ 585.00 $ 742.00 $  157.00 27% 

Pooler $ 1,027.00 $ 1,159.00 $  132.00 13% 

Bulloch County $ 621.00 $ 757.00 $  136.00 22% 

Swainsboro $ 476.00 $ 620.00 $  144.00 30% 

Emanuel County $ 473.00 $ 576.00 $  103.00 22% 

HOUSING: Community Profile 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey 5-Year Es�mates 



 

City of Statesboro 32 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

HOUSING TYPES 
Having a variety of housing types can be very important for a community by enabling more flexibility to meet 
the needs of a diverse population. As stated previously, Statesboro and its neighboring communities are grow-
ing; as that growth continues, location and type of housing may have an effect on new residents. According to 
the data in the 2016 ACS, displayed in Figure 3.4 Statesboro has some housing diversity. Roughly 38%of the 
housing stock consists of single-family detached dwellings. This has not changed much from the year 2000, as  
37% of housing units were single-family detached dwellings. 

Apartment complexes (Greater than 10 units) provide 
the majority of available multifamily housing within 
Statesboro. Because of its relatively young population 
due to Georgia Southern, the City should consider in-
centivizing more diverse multifamily homes.  

COST BURDENED HOUSEHOLDS 
Cost burdened households are defined as those households which spend more than 30% of their annual income 
on housing related expenses such as mortgage or rent. Cost burden can be affected by a number of things includ-
ing choice of housing and lifestyle, and not merely income. Between the 2000 Census and 2013 ACS, the per-
centage of cost-burdened households increased. In 2013, 53.1% of renters were paying 30% or more on housing 
related expenses, compared with only 33.6% in 2000. Also in 2013, cost-burdened homeowners represented 
34.9% of owner occupants reported; this was up from 23.8% in 2000. Other localities within the region, and the 
state as a whole also experienced an increase of cost-burdened households. Some of this could be the effects of 
the economic recession that took place during the study period. The percentages in Statesboro are similar to 
those for the state as a whole. 

Source: 2000-2016 American Community Survey 

HOUSING: Community Profile 

Figure 3.4 



 

City of Statesboro 33 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

AGE OF HOUSING 
With 74.6 percent of the housing stock built since 1990, it is a community of relatively newer homes, representative 
of its growth in recent years. The majority (49.9 percent) of housing in the city was constructed between 2000 and 
2009. This represents a significant difference between Statesboro, the State, and its neighbors. Figure 3.5 illustrates 
the age of housing in these areas. Statesboro is one community that does not have many historic homes remaining, 
in part because of demolition, neglect and lack of preservation. According to the 2013 ACS, only 2.3 percent of the 
housing stock in Statesboro were built prior to 1960. Preservation of the older homes which remain should be con-
sidered, particularly in areas where new development and redevelopment are occurring or will occur.  

Figure  3.5: Age of Housing 

HOUSING: Community Profile 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Es�mates 



 

City of Statesboro 34 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

With an increasing population, the need for housing availability and affordability increases. Like the popula-
tion, the number of housing units within the City has grown dramatically over the last two decades, and that 
housing stock should be looked at critically. 

The City of Statesboro has significant housing factors that should be considered in future development deci-
sions: 

 Both housing values and rents have increased. 
 Housing type, although not diverse, has changed and there are more single family homes than any other 
 type. 
 The percent of mobile homes in the City has decreased substantially. 
 The amount of historic housing stock is minimal and preservation of those homes is needed. 
 Deteriorated housing remains throughout the City. 
 There is a significant gap in the number of homeowners and home renters. More needs to be done to       
 assist in increasing the numbers of homeowners in the City. 

Efforts are being made to address these issues and others. The City should continually keep in mind the age of 
its population and the housing needs of those individuals. There are multiple senior housing facilities, and one 
currently developing for independent living, located within the City with potential for more. Additionally, the 
percentage of homeowners in the city is decreasing, while large rental developments are increasing.  

A housing study is one tool that can be utilized to assess the quantity and quality  of housing in the community. 
Thereby providing more information for officials when dedicating funds for demolition and removal of struc-
tures or creation of new housing. 

Additionally, The implementation of the mixed-use development should help in reducing the larger rental 
spaces that have reduced the number of owners taking residence in the City.  

 

Summary 



 

City of Statesboro 35 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

Economic Development 

 

The strength and capability of a community's labor force influences several aspects of the overall well-being of 
the area, including, but not limited to development and quality of life. 

This analysis provides information which could aid county and municipal leaders in making planning and 
policy decisions to advance Statesboro Economic Development goals. 

The Economic Development section of the Community Profile provides information about trends and issues spe-
cific to economic development and summarizes the following: 

 Employment by Industry   
 Unemployment Rates  
 Income 
 Labor Force Participation   
 Means of Transportation to Work 



 

City of Statesboro 36 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY 
An analysis of specific economic indicators provides important information key to aiding Statesboro accomplish 
its economic goals, and Figure 4.1 displays some of the information collected. According to data from the Geor-
gia Coastal Regional Commission, the educational, accommodation, and retail services industry clusters contains 
the greatest percentage of employment with a total of  53.6 percent. Additionally, the manufacturing, construc-
tion, and public administration grew the most between 2014 and 2016, from a combined 11.3 percent to 16.2 per-
cent. Over the same period, agriculture and other services except public administration industries both experi-
enced a decrease. 

Figure 4.1: Employment by NACIS Code 2018 

Source: ESRI Business Analyst Online 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: Community Profile  



 

City of Statesboro 37 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Population growth often leads to and expanded labor force. Between 2000 and 2013, the population of residents 16 
years and over in Statesboro more than doubled. Approximately 70 percent of that group is a part of the labor 
force. 

 

During the study period, this country endured an economic recession. As a result, many communities experienced 
a rise in unemployment. Statesboro was one of them. According to the 2013 ACS, unemployment increased to 7.4 
percent in 2013, up from 4.6 percent in the year 2000. The 2013 rate is consistent with that of the state of Georgia, 
which was 7.2 percent. 

   

 

2000 

 
 

Percent  
Labor 
Force 

2013 

 
 

Percent  
Labor 
Force 

Change 
from 2000 

to 2013 

Percent 
Change 

from 
2000 to 

2013 

Population 16 
and Older 

4,193 100.0% 8,419 100.0% 4,226 100.8% 

Employed 2,456 58.6% 4,898 58.2% 2,442 99.4% 

Unemployed 192 4.6% 624 7.4% 432 225.0% 

Armed Forces 263 6.3% 460 5.5% 197 74.9% 

Not in Labor 
Force 

1,282 30.6% 2,437 28.9% 1,155 90.1% 

 Figure 4.2 Labor Force Participation 

Source: 2000-2013 American Community Survey (ACS)   

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: Community Profile  



 

City of Statesboro 38 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
Figure 4.3 illustrates the distr ibution of 
household income throughout the city of 
Statesboro based on data provided by the 
Georgia Regional Commission for the years 
2018 and 2023. As mentioned in the General 
Demographics section, the median household 
income in Statesboro will rise from 2018 to 
2023. 
Approximately 13.4 percent of households in 
2018 had an income between $25,000 and 
$34,999.  This range saw the largest increase 
as there is an estimate that 14.5%. A signifi-
cant decrease in households with an income 
of less than $15,000 occurred over the study 
period, and it is estimated to drop from 37 
percent in 2018 to only 34 percent in 2023. 

Percent of Households by Income Range in 2018 

Percent of Households by Income Range in 2023 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: Community Profile  

Source: ESRI Business Analyst Online 



 

City of Statesboro 39 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

Economic Development Elements 

To focus on the growth of the City in the economic standpoint there are certain key elements that must be dis-

cussed. In this section those elements are nine specific aspects that will be used to further Statesboro’s Economy 

that incorporates one or several of the City’s goals. 

 Capitalize on Great Assets  

 Education   

 Expand Financial Capacity  

 Property Tax Revenues   

 SPLOST   

 Implement High Priority Projects  

 Improve Communications  

 Retain and Attract Value Generating Businesses  

 Organize Public-Private Partnerships  



 

City of Statesboro 40 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 

1. Capitalize on Great Assets  

 Public opinion and reality both show that Statesboro (the City and community) has a wide variety of great as-

sets to build upon. Its people, educational institutions, neighborhoods, and historic downtown are key assets to 

develop and leverage.  

 The community overall is significantly defined by the people who comprise it, and great benefits can come from 

all efforts to respect and promote all members of the community. Of specific importance is the talented City 

staff that is critical to maintaining and enhancing the level of service the City provides to residents. Adequately 

funding and promoting City staff, retention, and professional development is critical to Statesboro’s success.   

 

 Historic downtown and the many city neighborhoods have character, uniqueness, quality and, in many cases, 

new vibrancy. Efforts to preserve, revitalize and reinvent these places must continue, and must be planned and 

implemented in a manner that is sensitive to physical structures and the people that make the places special.  

 

2.  Education   

 Statesboro has a strong educational base to include a Georgia Southern University, Ogeechee Tech, and East 

GA State College, institutions that are consistently developing an educated and prepared workforce. City lead-

ership and collaborative efforts to strengthen the partnerships between higher education and local government 

can increase the long-term positive impacts of local higher education on the Statesboro community.   

 

3. Expand Financial Capacity  

 The ability of local government to provide services and execute projects is inextricably linked to financial capac-

ity. And while it is not always true that more funds solves problems, there is a critical connection between fi-

nancial capacity and the ability to sustain services and infrastructure. For Statesboro to enhance services and 

execute high priority projects, the City’s financial outlook must be improved. Existing revenue sources must be 

expanded and/or extended, and the most advantageous new potential revenue sources pursued.  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENTS: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 41 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

4. Property Tax Revenues   

 The long-term decline of property tax revenues is a significant challenge for the City. Property taxes contribute 

greatly to the City’s General Fund, which is relied on heavily, especially for City staff salaries and benefits. While 

there are several options for funding infrastructure projects, the General Fund is the only option for funding 

many City services. A relatively unique challenge for Statesboro’s General Fund is the fact that the City does not 

draw any revenue from the Local Option Sales Tax (LOST) in Bulloch County. In all but a very few Georgia com-

munities, a portion of the 1% LOST is available to support the General Fund, but this is not an option for States-

boro (or Bulloch County) as all LOST revenues are directed to the School Board. Therefore, Statesboro’s General 

Fund is significantly more reliant on Property Taxes than the typical municipality in Georgia.  

 Due to the combined effects of inflation, limited/marginal increase in the overall assessed value of property, and 

a property tax millage rate that has remained flat for a decade, the City of Statesboro’s real revenue from proper-

ty taxes has effectively decreased from 2007 to 2016.  A millage rate increase would assists in increasing revenue 

moving forward. Proposals to assist in increasing funds range from  a general millage increase,  to the imple-

mentation of a blight tax for properties that have been abandoned throughout the City. Further discussion is still 

pending on such decisions. 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENTS: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 42 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

5. SPLOST

 Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) revenues have consistently contributed to Statesboro’s ability to

fund critical projects for two decades. Though restricted to uses consistent with the SPLOST referendum and vari-

able due to changing sales volumes, SPLOST is the critical revenue source to accomplish critical infrastructure

projects. Without SPLOST, the General Fund would be stressed further, as SPLOST reduces the need to use Gen-

eral Fund revenues for capital improvements. Reauthorization of SPLOST is a time-sensitive and critical objective

to accomplish.

6. New Revenue Options

 Of several potential options for new major public revenue sources, the recently established (by State of Georgia)

potential for Statesboro and Bulloch County to establish a Transportation SPLOST (TSPLOST) in addition to the

traditional SPLOST warrants serious consideration. Though the TSPLOST is still in its early stages in the City

there are success stories from other regions that passed TSPLOST (ex. Augusta region). Since being passed, the

Statesboro/Bulloch TSPLOST now complements SPLOST, making more funding available for quality of life pro-

jects such as parks, trails and greenways. As an additional benefit, transportation project funding by TSPLOST

(and not involving federal transportation funding) can typically be executed quicker and more efficiently.

 Other potential new revenue options, including LOST, Community Improvement Districts and Development Im-

pact Fees, should be explored as well. Impact fees, in particular, provide a flexible option to raise revenue specifi-

cally tied to new growth and development. Many Georgia communities use impact fees to keep up with the pace of

growth and demands on parks, transportations, public safety and other factors. (See also Financing Alternatives.)

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENTS: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 43 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

7. Implement High Priority Projects  

 Project prioritization through the Capital Improvement Plan and other planning tools is an ongoing process. 

Some required infrastructure requirements simply address unseen functional needs and have no real potential 

for additional quality of life benefits. However many projects, if not most, have the potential for visible associated 

quality of life benefits. By assessing each infrastructure project in the pre-design and design stages, opportunities 

for multiple benefits can be identified. For example, the need to fix a deteriorated stormwater pipe could lead to 

daylighting a previously hidden stream and incorporating portions of a greenway trail. Key means to enhance 

quality of life benefits from infrastructure projects include coordinating early stage project planning, actively 

seeking multiple benefit opportunities, involving expert managers and establishing sound funding strategies.  

 Once the prioritization and maximum benefit analyses have been completed, it is critical for projects to proceed 

to implementation as quickly as possible. The longer a project waits for construction, the more likely to experi-

ence cost increases, complaints, and complications. Effective management is most important for the critical stage 

of moving a project from paper to built reality.   

8.  Improve Communications  

 Effective two-way communications with community stakeholders is critical. As the highest percentage of ques-

tionnaire respondents indicated the Statesboro Herald as their primary information source, enhancing the part-

nership between the City and local media outlets including the Herald is of strategic importance. This should in-

clude close coordination to get new information broadcast to the community quickly, and also identifying oppor-

tunities for more in-depth feature stories.  

 The City website and associated/linked social media platforms are also critical for communications. Web-based 

communications is a fast changing environment, and Statesboro needs to regularly review and update City web 

and social media platforms to remain current and effective.   

 Technology also facilitates effective citizen reporting, and there are increasing options for effective citizen report-

ing systems that can empower citizens to assist the City. To gain the greatest benefit from a new investment, ex-

plore options for a coordinated system that will allow citizens to report issues using multiple forms of technology.  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENTS: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 44 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 

9. Retain and Attract Value Generating Businesses  

 Economic development often focuses on new business recruitment, which is important in most communities, 

but equally or more important is retention of existing businesses. By placing emphasis on both retention and re-

cruitment, and by performing adequate due diligence to accurately understand the value of individual business-

es to the community, investments in economic development can pay off at a higher level. As a starting point, 

there are recommendations from many previous plans/studies to carry through (Blue Mile, TAD/

Redevelopment Plan, Downtown Master Plan, etc.). Related and additionally, partnerships for economic devel-

opment are critical, and great benefits can come from expanded partnerships with Georgia Southern University, 

Ogeechee Technical College, East Georgia State College, the local business community and other governmental 

entities. Smart investment in economic development is the key.  

10. Organize Public-Private Partnerships  

 Many effective partnerships are already in pace and bearing fruit. The example of the partnerships forming 

around the Blue Mile & Blue Mile Creek can give rise to additional partnerships to address a wide range of com-

munity issues, including public safety, code enforcement, education/workforce development, historic preserva-

tion, neighborhood revitalization, parks/greenspace/trails and business expansion.  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENTS: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 45 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Statesboro is a growing City and with that comes both improvements and challenges. Among them include: 
 Increased unemployment 
 Decline in manufacturing and retail jobs 
 Increase in professional and management services jobs 
 The rise in median household income from $19,106 in 2000 to $24,499 in 2016. 
 Providing workforce housing 

Job creation of more professional and higher-paying jobs is a focus for the City, and recruitment incentives for 
these are being considered. The potential arrival of new jobs and industries related to the planned Blue Mile 
Creek and Stadium complex are often discussed. Coordination with educational facilities will be important to en-
sure that the local workforce is capable of obtaining and adequately performing new industry jobs as they be-
come available. 

Traffic due to the increase in vehicles on the road and pattern of non-carpool commutes is a major concern. Creat-
ing proper infrastructure to support traffic volumes is important. Additionally, employers should consider incen-
tives for carpooling and infrastructure for other modes of transportation like walking and biking. These activities 
will be beneficial to the community on multiple levels  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ELEMENTS: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 46 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

Capital Improvements 

 

Projects that require major capital to undertake have been separated from the main Community Work Program 
for examination. Although these projects as well will have similar timelines and cost as some other projects, the 
listed projects are exclusively seen as Capital Improvements.  

  



 

City of Statesboro 47 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
West Main Streetscape 
Improvements 

Engineering     X  $750,000 TSPLOST ENG-92 

Planning S Main Blue Mile Phase I Engineering    X   $850,000 TSPLOST ENG-115a 

Planning S Main Blue Mile Phase II Engineering     X  $150,000 TSPLOST ENG-115b 

Ongoing 
Akins Blvd Roadway (Old 
Register Rd Connection) 

Engineering X X     $400,000 TPLSOST ENG-120 

Ongoing 
E Main St Sidewalk: 
Lester Rd to Packinghouse 

Engineering       TBD TSPLOST ENG-122a 

Planning 
Cawana Road/Bypass 
Connector 

Engineering  X    X $500,000 TSPLOST ENG-102 

Ongoing 
Engineering Division    
Vehicles 

Engineering X X     $60,000 TSPLOST ENG-5 

Ongoing Corridor Traffic Studies Engineering X X    X $300,000 TSPLOST ENG-96 

Planning 
Roadway Improvements 
at Traffic Generators 

Engineering      X $150,000 TSPLOST ENG-98 

Planning 
Roadway Geometric Im-
provements 

Engineering    X  X $670,000 TSPLOST ENG-114 

Planning 
E Main Sidewalk (Hwy 80 
to Packinghouse)  

Engineering       $100,000 TSPLOST ENG-122c 

Planning 
W Jones Sidewalk: S Main 
to Johnson St 

Engineering X X     $130,000 TSPLOST ENG-122d 

Planning 
West Main Streetscapes 
Improvements 

Engineering      X 
$2,000,00

0 
TSPLOST ENG-92 



City of Statesboro 48 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
Herty Dr Sidewalk: Fair 
Rd to Gentilly Rd 

Engineering X X $182,600 TSPLOST Eng-122e 

Planning 
Gnetilly Rd. Sidewalk: E 
Jones to Savannah Ave 

Engineering X X $155,000 TSPLOST Eng-122g 

Planning 
E Jones Ave Sidewalk: S 
Main to S Zetterower  

Engineering X X $90,000 TSPLOST Eng-122h 

Planning 
E Jones Sidewalk: S Main 
St to S Zetterower 

Engineering X X $104,250 TSPLOST Eng-122i 

Planning 
N Zetterower Sidewalk: 
Hill St to Hwy 80 

Engineering X X $175,000 TSPLOST Eng-122j 

Ongoing 
W Main St Sidewalk: Ivory 
St to Foss St 

Engineering X X X $225,000 TSPLOST Eng-122k 

Planning 
S College Sidewalk: W 
Jones St to W Brannen St 

Engineering X X $200,000 TSPLOST Eng-122l 

Planning 
Chandler Rd Sidewalk: 
Knight Dr to Existing 

Engineering X X $120,000 TSPLOST Eng-122m 

Planning 
E Grady St Sidewalk: S 
Main to Mulberry St 

Engineering X X $95,000 TSPLOST Eng-122n 

Ongoing 
Bulloch St Sidewalk: S 
Main to S College St 

Engineering X X X $95,000 TSPLOST Eng-122o 

Ongoing 
S Main St (US301) @ Fair 
Rd Improvements 

Engineering X X $1,000,000 TSPLOST Eng-123a 

Planning 
Fair Rd (SR76) S Zet-
terower/Tillman Improve-
ments 

Engineering X X $825,000 TSPLOST Eng-123b 

Planning 
Edgewoood Dr Sidewalk: 
Gentilly to Edgewood 

Engineering X X $135,000 TSPLOST Eng-122f 



 

City of Statesboro 49 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
W Main/Johnson/MLK 
Improvements 

Engineering   X X   $1,675,000 TSPLOST Eng-123c 

Planning 
Brampton Ave @ Bermu-
da Run Apartments 

Engineering   X  X  $470,000 TSPLOST Eng-123e 

Planning 
Cawana Rd @ Brannen/
S&S Railroad Bed 

Engineering X     X $1,000,000 TSPLOST Eng-123f 

Planning New Traffic Signals Engineering   X    $150,000 TSPLOST Eng-123g 

Planning Intersection Improvement Engineering      X $500,000 TSPLOST Eng-123h 

Planning 
Brannen St @ Little Lots 
Creek Drainage Improve-
ments 

Engineering    X   $300,000 TSPLOST Eng-124b 

Planning 
W Main (College to MLK) 
Drainage Improvements 

Engineering    X   $450,000 TSPLOST Eng-124c 

Ongoing 
Striping & Signage        
Improvements 

Engineering X      $50,000 TSPLOST Eng-125 

Ongoing 
Traffic Calming & Pedes-
trian Safety 

Engineering X X X X X X $500,000 TSPLOST Eng-127 

Ongoing 
Resurfacing & Road Reha-
bilitation 

Engineering X X X X X  
$3,088,00

0 
TSPLOST Eng-128 

Planning 
Resurfacing & Road Reha-
bilitation 

Engineering X X X X X X $1,803,366 TBD Eng-128 

Planning Anderson Street Paving Engineering      X $150,000 TSPLOST Eng-129 

Planning 
S Zetterower Ave @ Still-
well 

Engineering X X     $460,000 TSPLOST Eng-123d 



 

City of Statesboro 50 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning Parking Improvements Engineering X X  X  X $875,000 TSPLOST ENG-131 

Planning 
Citywide Parks, Green-
space, Trails 

Public Works      X $500,000 SPLOST ENG-135 

Ongoing 
Drainage Basin H&H 
Modeling/Engineering 

Stormwater X X X    $220,000 SPLOST STM-2 

Planning 
Drainage Basin H&H 
Modeling/Engineering 

Stormwater     X X $460,000 
General/

Operating 
STM-2 

Planning Work trucks Stormwater   X  X  $68,000 GMA/Lease STM-7 

Planning Frontend Loader Stormwater    X   $225,000 GMA/Lease STM-10 

Ongoing 
Johnson St Culvert Cross-
ing Replacement 

Stormwater X X     $200,000 SPLOST STM-12 

Ongoing 
Sidearm Tractor & Mow-
er Replacement 

Stormwater X X     $75,000 GMA/Lease STM-16 

Planning Dump truck Stormwater    X   $150,000 GMA/Lease STM-19 

Ongoing Sustainability Initiatives Stormwater X X X X X X $90,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-22 

Planning CDBG Grant Matching Stormwater   X  X  $550,000 SPLOST STM-24 

Ongoing CDBG Grant Matching Stormwater X X     $270,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-24 

Ongoing Transit Engineering X X X X X  $381,000 TSPLOST ENG-134b 



 

City of Statesboro 51 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
West Main St at Foss St 
Intersection Drainage  
Improvement 

Stormwater   X    $160,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-26 

Planning 
Brannen Street at Little 
Lotts Tributary Drainage 
Updates 

Stormwater      X $100,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-28 

Planning 
Lydia Street at Hart Street 
Culvert Improvement 

Stormwater   X    $55,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-29 

Planning 
Chandler Road at Paulson 
Stadium 

Stormwater     X  $50,000 
GMA Lease 

Pool 
STM-32 

Planning 
Curb & Gutter Installation 
W. Main between Foss 
and Bay St. 

Stormwater     X  $100,000 
GMA Lease 

Pool 
STM-33 

Ongoing 
Little Lotts Creek Flood 
Control Project 

Stormwater X X X X X  $5,500,000 TBD STM-34 

Planning 
Little Lotts Creek Flood 
Control Project  

Stormwater    X X X 
$15,500,00

0 
TBD STM-34 

Ongoing 
Morris Street Storm 
Drainage Improvements 

Stormwater X X     $275,000 SPLOST STM-35 

Planning 
Northlake Area Water-
shed Dentention Facility 

Stormwater    X   $300,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-36 

Planning 
Pitt-Moore Street Drain-
age Upgrades 

Stormwater     X  $200,000 SPLOST STM-37 

Planning 
Donnie Simmons Way 
Culvert Crossing Up-

Stormwater    X   $200,000 SPLOST STM-38 

Planning 
Chandler Road near 
Olympic Blvd. Culvert Re-
placement 

Stormwater    X   $260,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-40 

Ongoing 
Donnie Simmons Way at 
Big Ditch Drainage        
Improvement 

Stormwater X X     $500,000 
Operating 

Income 
STM-27 



 

City of Statesboro 52 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
Replace Commercial 
Mower 

Parks   X  X  $32,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-1 

Planning Replace Work Truck Parks   X    $38,000 
GMA Lease 

Pool 
PRK-11 

Ongoing Seasonal Decorations Parks X X  X   $22,500 
General 
Funds 

PRK-13 

Ongoing Tree/Shrub Maintenance Parks X X  X  X $18,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-18 

Ongoing 
Improvements to Edge-
wood Park 

Parks X X     $15,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-22 

Planning McTell Trail Addition Parks      X $50,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-23 

Ongoing 
Replacement Trashcans, 
Benches, Etc 

Parks X X  X  X $30,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-26 

Planning 
Improvements to Park 
Division Maintained Are-
as 

Parks   X  X  $10,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-28 

Ongoing Replacement Radios Parks X X     $9,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-30 

Ongoing 
Marvin Avenue Park Ren-
ovations 

Parks X X  X   $35,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-31 

Ongoing 
Cemetery Road Mainte-
nance 

Parks X X X X X X $60,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-32 

Planning 
Cemetery Computer Soft-
ware 

Parks    X   $15,000 
General 
Funds 

PRK-33 

Planning 
Replacement Crewcab 
Work Trucks 

Parks      X $40,000 
GMA Lease 

Pool 
PRK-4 



 

City of Statesboro 53 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
Mini Skid Steer with At-
tachments 

Parks   X    $44,000 
General 

Fund 
PRK-34 

Ongoing Sidewalk Repairs Streets X X X X X X $120,000 TSPLOST STS-31 

Ongoing Replace Bushhog Mowers Streets X X    X $18,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-62 

Ongoing 
Replace Commercial 
Mowers (Net trade ins) 

Streets X X  X  X $48,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-64 

Ongoing Work Truck Replacement Streets X X  X  X $120,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-74 

Planning 
Landscape Truck Replace-
ment 

Streets   X  X  $120,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-80 

Planning Dirt Pit Streets      X $90,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-89 

Ongoing  
Tree Maintenance & Re-
moval 

Streets X X X X X X $30,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-92 

Planning Shelters Streets     X  $130,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-101 

Planning Backhoe Replacement Streets      X $185,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-103 

Ongoing 
Traffic Control Bucket 
Truck Replacement 

Streets X X     $145,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-105 

Planning High Reach Bucket Truck Streets  X     $125,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-109 

Ongoing Dumptruck Streets X X     $150,000 TSPLOST STS-21 



 

City of Statesboro 54 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Ongoing 
Small Tractor Replace-
ment 

Streets X X  X   $125,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-111 

Ongoing Replacement Radios Streets X X X    $24,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-114 

Planning Excavator Replacement Streets    X   $200,000 GMA/Lease STS-116 

Ongoing Street Lights Streets X X  X  X $30,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-117 

Planning Stump Grinder Streets     X  $16,000 Gma/Lease STS-118 

Planning Brush Chipper Streets     X  $38,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-119 

Ongoing Concrete Saw Streets X X     $8,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-120 

Ongoing Message Boards Streets X X X X X X $200,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-121 

Ongoing 
Computer Upgrade: Diag-
nostics 

Fleet X X     $10,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-5 

Planning 
Heavy Equipment Service 
Truck 

Fleet     X  $140,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-6 

Ongoing 
Tire Changer  and Equip-
ment 

Fleet X X     $15,000 
Operating 

Income 
FMD-9 

Ongoing 
Fleet Manager Truck 
Equipment 

Fleet X X     $30,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-12 

Planning Dozer Replacement Streets     X  $250,000 
General 

Fund 
STS-112 



City of Statesboro 55 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning Air Compressors Fleet X $30,000 
Operating 

Income 
FMD-16 

Ongoing Koni Lifts Fleet X X $80,000 
Operating 

Income 
FMD-18 

Ongoing Pave Shop Parking Lot Fleet X X $100,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-20 

Planning 
Nitrogen Tire Fill Genera-
tion Unit 

Fleet X $10,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-21 

Planning Overhead Crane Fleet X $100,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-22 

Planning Tire Building Fleet X $90,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-23 

Planning 
Light Duty Service Truck 
Replacement 

Fleet X X $100,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-24 

Ongoing Wheel/Tire Balancer Fleet X X $14,000 
Operating 

Income 
FMD-27 

Ongoing 2-Post Vehicle Lift Fleet X X $22,000 
Operating 

Income 
FMD-30 

Planning 
4 Wheel Alignment Sys-
tem 

Fleet X $30,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-32 

Ongoing 
Motorpool Vehicle Re-
placement  

Fleet X X X $85,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-37 

Ongoing Repalcement Radios Fleet X X $12,000 
General 

Fund 
FMD-39 

Ongoing 4-Post Vehicle Life Fleet X X $29,000 
Operating 

Income 
FMD-17 



 

City of Statesboro 56 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
Knuckleboom Loader 
Trck Replacement 

Sanitation   X   X $360,000 
General 

Fund 
SWC-1 

Ongoing Polycarts Sanitation X X X X X X $120,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWC-5 

Planning 
Automated Residential 
Sideaem Garbage Truck 

Sanitation     X X $650,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWC-8 

Ongoing 
Commercial Front Load-
ing Garbage Truck 

Sanitation X X X X   $975,000 
Operating/

General/
SPLOST 

SWC-9 

Planning 
Pickup Truck Replace-
ment 

Sanitation     X  $30,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWC-10 

Planning Activity Recorder Sanitation    X   $50,000 
General 

Fund 
SWC-14 

Planning 
Pickup Truck CNG Con-
version 

Sanitation   X    $9,000 
General 

Fund 
SWC-19 

Planning 
Roll-Off Trucks & Conver-
sions 

Sanitation   X    $175,000 
General 

Fund 
SWC-21 

Ongoing 
Bulk Waste Roll-off Con-
tainers 

Sanitation X X X X X X $300,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWC-22 

Ongoing 
Motorola Handheld Radi-
os 

Sanitation X X     $40,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWC-27 

Ongoing 
Wash Rack Cat Walk Ex-
tension 

Sanitation X X     $39,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWC-29 

Ongoing 
Renovations to Sanitation 
Building 

Sanitation X X     $35,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWC-30 

Ongoing 
Front Loading Commer-
cial Dumpsters 

Sanitation X X X X X X $360,000 
Operating 

Income  
SWC-4 



 

City of Statesboro 57 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Ongoing 
Red Iron Paint for Shel-
ters 

Sanitation X X     $45,000 
General 

Fund 
SWC-31 

Ongoing 
Scale/Ramp Apron Re-
placement 

Landfill X X     $35,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWD-8 

Planning 
Transfer Station Scales 
Pit/Concrete Filled 

Landfill   X    $30,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWD-9 

Ongoing Inert Landfill Cover Landfill X X     $28,000 
General 

Fund 
SWD-10 

Planning 
Wheel Loader Replace-
ment 

Landfill   X    $585,000 
General 

Fund 
SWD-11 

Ongoing Inert Landfill Cover Landfill X X     $25,000 
General 

Fund 
SWD-12 

Ongoing Tractor Replacement Landfill X X     $65,000 SPLOST SWD-13 

Ongoing 
Batwing Mower Replace-
ment 

Landfill X X     $25,000 SPLOST SWD-14 

Planning Industrial Riding Mower Landfill   X    $12,000 
General 

Fund 
SWD-15 

Planning 
Pickup Truck Replace-
ment 

Landfill      X $35,000 
General 

Fund 
SWD-16 

Ongoing 
Expansion and Renova-
tion of Transfer Station 

Landfill X X  X X X $1,618,000 
General/

Operating 
SWD-22 

Ongoing 
Utility Vehicle Replace-
ment 

Landfill X X     $12,000 
General 

Fund 
SWD-35 



 

City of Statesboro 58 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Capital Project Listing 
Action Type/

Strategy 
Action/Implementation 

Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 

Strategy 
Ref. # 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Planning 
Bush Hog Rotary Mower 
Replacement 

Landfill     X  $10,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWD-36 

Planning Small Tractor Landfill     X  $40,000 
General 

Fund 
SWD-40 

Ongoing Handheld Radios Landfill    X   $24,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWD-49 

Ongoing 
Transfer Station Conven-
ience/Staging Area 

Landfill X X     $25,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWD-51 

Planning Property Acquisition Landfill   X    $300,000 
Operating 

Income 
SWD-52 

Ongoing as 
Available 

Drainage Basin H&H 
Modeling/Engineering/
Survey 

Stormwater  X X  X  $370000 TSPLOST  STM-2 

Planning 
W Main Street Drainage 
Improvements (Foss) 

Stormwater X X     $100000 TSPLOST STM-26 

Ongoing as 
Available 

Regional Detention Facili-
ty Implementation 

Stormwater X X  X   $210000 TSPLOST  STM-3 

Planning  
West Main Street Drain-
age Improvements 

Stormwater      X $150000 TSPLOST STM-33 

Planning 
Add Well at I-16  Industri-
al Park 

Water/Sewer X X X X X X TBD SPLOST  TBD 

            

            



 

City of Statesboro 59 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

Community Facilities 

An assessment of the availability and adequacy of Community Facilities is important to understanding a commu-
nity's ability to retain its local population, attract future residents, and accommodate future demands. 

The Community Facilities section of the Community Profile provides an analysis of public facilities and services 
for this purpose. This section summarizes the following topics: 

 Water Supply 

 Sewerage and Wastewater 

 Public Safety 

 Fire Protection 

 Parks and Recreation 

 Library and Cultural Facilities 

 Educational Facilities 

 Telecommunications/
Broadband 



 

City of Statesboro 60 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

WATER SUPPLY 
The City of Statesboro operates a   municipally-owned 
water and wastewater system. The city water   depart-
ment is responsible for the treatment and distribution 
of drinking water and handles the collection, treat-
ment, and disposal of wastewater (sanitary sewage). 
The city's water supply comes from a Floridian aqui-
fer. 

WASTEWATER AND SEWAGE 
Another important asset to  communities is an estab-
lished sewer system with appropriate capacity and ex-
pansion opportunity. As with water, all city  residents 
are connected to sewer, although some residents do 
maintain private septic tanks as the results of annexa-
tions into the city. Under normal circumstances, there 
are no private septic tanks in the city. Annexations of 
certain types of property have allowed for few of these 
structures to remain in use, without the extension of 
city services. 

As the Statesboro population grows, the demand for 
services and the need to acquire and provide adequate 
water and sewer service is imperative.  Currently the 
water treatment facility can process 10,000,000 gpd 
and does not require additions to maintain the current 
water output the city  produces.

COMMUNITY FACILITIES: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 61 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

PUBLIC SAFETY 

Police protection for the city is  primarily provided by the Statesboro PD. All the members of the Statesboro Police 
Department are deputized by the Sheriff, giving them the opportunity to serve not only within the city limits, but 
also throughout Bulloch County. The headquarters for the Statesboro PD is located at 25 West Grady Street. In 
addition, the community is served by both the Bulloch County Sherrif’s Department and the Georgia Southern 
University Police Department. 

FIRE PROTECTION 
The Statesboro Fire Department is a multi location operation that 
utilizes both paid and volunteer firefighters. Headquartered across 
the street from the Police Department at 24 W Grady Street, the Fire 
Department serves as a first responder, with an additional  location 
on Fair Road. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 62 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

PARKS AND RECREATION 

One great community asset is the Mill Creek Regional Park. This 66 acre park also contains the local water park, 
Splash in the Boro. Recreational opportunities are expected to increase with the completion of the Blue Mile 
Creek as well. 
 

Additionally, the city has the S&S Greenway Trail, a 2.5 mile trail which stretches from Gentilly Road within the 
city limits to the edge of Praetoria-Rushing Road in Bulloch County. This trail is maintained by the County. 
 

Internal to the city, is the Blind Willie McTell Trail. This trail stretches from the confines of Georgia Southern 
University, across Downtown Statesboro. 
 

Another option for recreation is the Georgia Southern University Recreation Activity Center. This Center is an 
80,000 square foot facility featuring numerous basketball courts, a massive activity field, and a rock climbing 
wall. 

LIBRARY FACILITIES 

The Statesboro Regional Public Library is located along the Blue Mile, and supports Bulloch, Evans, Emmanuel 
and Candler Counties. The library maintains meeting space, a children’s loft and standard computers for use. 
The facility also hosts numerous community events throughout the year. 

Also Available to the public is the Zach S Henderson Library located in the center of the Statesboro campus of 
Georgia Southern University. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 63 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES 

The Bulloch County School system currently operates 16 schools, (9 elementary, 3 middle, 2 consolidated middle/
high  and 2 high). 5 of these primarily serve the City of Statesboro (Julia P. Bryant Elementary, Mattie Lively Ele-
mentary, Mill Creek Elementary, Sallie Zetterower, and Statesboro High. Figure 5.1, depicts the school enrollment 
of schools within the City, although the county has increased from 9991 in FY 2014 to 10646 in FY 2019. Enroll-
ment in Statesboro increased from 4997 to 5433 over the same time period, directly reflective of the overall in-
creases in population and growth in younger populations as expressed in the general demographics section. Spe-
cifically the schools within the city limit show an overall 4.4% increase 

Figure 5.1: 

School Enrollment, Schools Serving Statesboro 

School  Enrollment Number 

(2013) 

Enrollment Increase  

(%) 

Julia P. Bryant  873 -15.46 

Sally Zetterower  510  46.27 

Mattie Lively  596  9.56 

Mill Creek  677  -6.94 

Statesboro High  1491  11.47 

Enrollment Number 

(2019) 

738 

746 

653 

630 

1662 

Trinity Christian School 225 244 7.8 

Bulloch Academy 501 588 14.8 

STEAM Academy 124 172 28 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES: Community Profile 

Source: Department of Educa�on FTE Enrollment Report by Grade:  2014 and 2018 



 

City of Statesboro 64 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The availability and quality of community facilities is an important part of ensuring quality of life for City resi-
dents. Moving forward, it will be important to look for other opportunities to meet community needs as well as 
maintain agreements to continue those services. 

Statesboro has experienced a growth in its young family population. This adds to the increase in school enroll-
ment in the County and City. As of 2019, the enrollment of schools within the City limits stands at 4487.  The 
SAT scores of students from Statesboro High are currently on an upward trend, although scores lag slightly be-
hind the remainder of the state. It will be important to connect with local industries to prepare students in high 
school to be more competitive for college admissions, as well as to take industry related work. 

Parks and recreation are becoming a more important part of Statesboro life. Residents have revealed that they 
enjoy the S&S Greenway trail and similar recreational opportunities. The trail is currently under consideration 
for extension further outside of the City by the County. City officials should creating additional trails and other 
recreational opportunities throughout the City. 

A well functioning transportation system is important to any community, and Statesboro is no exception. Cur-
rently, the only major transportation system in the City is functioning on Georgia Southern University. In re-
sponse to this need, the City is undertaking a Transportation Feasibility Study simultaneously. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 65 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

Natural and Cultural Resources 

The natural and cultural resources within a jurisdiction are vital parts of it that serve a variety of purposes. 
They contribute to the vitality and sustainability of the community. These assets also have the potential to 
draw visitors attracted to the natural beauty of the area and those interested in heritage tourism and historic 
preservation. 

As the population in Statesboro grows, it is important to focus efforts on protecting natural features like wetlands 
and streams not only for the potential economic development benefits, but because they provide resources and 
outdoor recreation opportunities to the community. When development decisions are made, the cultural re-
sources that make the city unique and remain to tell its story must also be considered for inclusion, preservation 
and enhancement. 

This section provides information regarding the following natural and cultural resources in the City:  

Public Water Supply • Cultural Resources • Wetlands 



 

City of Statesboro 66 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

WETLANDS 
Wetlands can be defined as lands which are satu-
rated, either permanently or seasonally, creating an 
ecosystem that contains characteristic vegetation 
that has adapted to the unique soil conditions. 
Wetlands serve as a unique habitat for fish and 
wildlife, a breeding ground, and a home for unique 
plant and animal species that have adapted to these 
special conditions. 

The Georgia Department of Natural Resources has 
identified five categories of wetlands which require 
special protection through ordinances. These in-
clude: 

 Open Water Wetlands
 Non-Forested Emergent Wetlands
 Scrub/Shrub Wetlands
 Forested Wetlands
 Altered Wetlands

Wetlands located in Statesboro are illustrated in 
Map 2.1. Land uses in w etland areas 
should be limited to low to no impact uses which 
include the harvesting of lumber and timber and 
wildlife and fishery management. 

Map 2.1 

Wetlands 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES: Community Profile 

Source: StaGIS (Statesboro GIS) 



 

City of Statesboro 67 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

SOIL TYPES 
Soil analysis of the City completed by the Na-
tional Resources and Conservation Service has 
provided an overview of the numerous Utisoils 
and Entisoils present within the city. Specifi-
cally, all the soils fall with what is considered 
the Carolina & Georgia Sand Hills. 

Carolina & Georgia Sand Hills - 
Consists of a belt of gently sloping to steep, 
well-drained soils originally derived from ma-
rine sands, loams, and clays. The area is 
largely covered with sparse forest of scrub 
oaks and pines and has poor to good suitabil-
ity for residential development and commer-
cial-industry uses. 

Different types of soils are represented in 
Statesboro. These soil types can be differentiat-
ed by the multiple types of different mineral 
particles in a particular sample. Map 3.1 dis-
plays the location of each of the soil types 
found in the city of Statesboro 

Map 3.1  

Soils 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES: Community Profile 

Source: StaGIS (Statesboro GIS) 



 

City of Statesboro 68 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Flood Plains 

Specific areas in the City have been highlight-
ed by FEMA as prone to flooding. Particular 
care has been taken to address these areas  by 
the redirecting of stormwater through the use 
of funding from City projects, i.e. the Com-
munity Development Block Grant.  

Areas listed as Floodplains have high re-
strictions on the number and types of devel-
opments allowed on them. The City has en-
gaged in creating reservoirs in specific areas 
to curve the amount of flooding generated by 
the increase of impermeable grounds. The on-
going development of the Creek on the Blue 
Mile will serve as a means of reducing the 
overall size of the flood plain in the heart of 
the City.  

Map 4.1 shows these areas and their  
impact on separate streets throughout the 
City.  

Map 4.1  

Flood Zone Hazard Map 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES: Community Profile 

Source: StaGIS (Statesboro GIS) 



 

City of Statesboro 69 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 
Although over 100 years old, the City of Statesboro does not have many remaining historic properties. Only a few 
remain on the National Historic Registry.  
 
Those still listed include the following: 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES: Community Profile 

 South Main Street Residential Historic District  

 North Main Street Commercial Historic District 

 Savannah Avenue Historic District  

 West Main Street  Commercial Historic District  

 South Main Street Historic District 

 North College Street Residential Historic District  

 East Main Street Commercial Historic District  

 East Vine Street Warehouse and Depot District 

 

 Bulloch County Courthouse (20 Siebald Street) 

 William G. Raines House (106 South Main Street) 

 United States Post Office-Statesboro  (1 College Street) 

 James Alonzo Brannen House  (112 South Main Street) 

 Jaeckel Hotel (50 East Main Street) 

 John A. McDougald House (121 South Main Street) 

 Dr. Madison Monroe Holland House (27 South Main 

Street)  

 Donehoo-Brannen House (332 Savannah Avenue) 



 

City of Statesboro 70 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES: Community Profile 

Map 5.1  

Cultural Resources 
Source: StaGIS (Statesboro GIS) 



 

City of Statesboro 71 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Availability and quality of historical landmarks remains an important resource for the city. Therefore, the 
many natural resources in Statesboro should be  continually valued and protected. Proper development is 
one key factor for this. 

With a history that dates back over 100 years, the City of Statesboro has a rich past and contains a number of 
culturally significant resources. Among these are the Beaver House,  located on The Blue Mile. In addition, there 
are numerous historical homes on Savannah Avenue. 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 72 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Profile: 

Land Use 

Demographic trends, current economic circumstances, and social attitudes often encourage communities 
to meet certain needs through the designation of land for particular uses. Land uses can ensure that land 
is distributed to meet the future needs of residents. 

The city currently contains the following land use categories: 

Residential • Public/Institutional • Commercial • Parks, Recreation, and Conservation • Industrial 

Looking forward, any targeted development or annexations into the City will need to ensure that they are fol-
lowing the general development strategy outlined in the Comprehensive Plan. To ensure that the City contin-
ues to develop with the highest and best use for land, the Mixed-Use development strategy will be employed 
under as many circumstances that seem appropriate. Current annexations taking place throughout the City 
are following this method at this time. 



 

City of Statesboro 73 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

EXISTING AND FUTURE LAND USE 

Changing conditions sometime lead to or require changes in land use. The understanding of established and 
potential future uses of land in the city should be a priority to address changing conditions. The city of States-
boro has undergone significant changes since the 2014 Comprehensive Plan Update. One major change is in 
city limits; the city has annexed property both to the north and south of its former city limits. The majority of 
this property is designated for  residential uses. 
The majority of land in Statesboro is designated for residential use, as it was in the past. An analysis of prior and 
current zoning within the city reveals multiple zoning changes in recent years. 

LAND USE DESIGNATIONS 

The following is a list and description of the City of Statesboro land uses: 
 Residential: Land designated pr im arily for  single-family and multi-family housing dwelling units or-

ganized into general categories of net densities.
 Commercial: Land designated prim arily for  non-industrial businesses including office, retail sales, ser-

vice, and entertainment facilities organized into general categories of intensities.
 Industrial: Land designated for  m anufacturing facilities, processing plants, factor ies, w are-

housing, wholesale trade facilities, mining or mineral extraction activities, or similar uses.
 Public/Institutional: Land designated for  certain federal, state, local and institutional land us-

es.
 Parks/Recreation/Conservation: Land designated for  active or  passive recreational uses. These

uses include playgrounds, public parks, nature preserves, wildlife management areas, golf courses, recreation
centers, or other similar uses.

 Utility: Land designated for  utilities, radio towers, transit stations and other  sim ilar  uses.
 Agricultural: Land designated for  farm ing (Fields, lots, pastures, farm steads) com m ercial tim -

ber, or pulpwood harvesting.
 Undeveloped: Land not designated for  a specific use, or  has been designated but that use has

been abandoned.
 Mixed Use: Non standard designation m eant for  land that w ill be developed for  both residen-

tial and commercial uses. Areas of this nature will follow designations displaying such items as malls with loft
style apartments.

LAND USE: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 74 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Statesboro ZONING DISTRICTS 
The following are zoning districts for the City of Statesboro: 
 HOC: Highway Oriented Commercial - This district is established as a district in which the principal use 

of land is for establishments offering accommodations, supplies or services to motorists, and for certain spe-
cialized uses such as retail outlets, extensive commercial amusements and service establishments, which alt-
hough serving the entire community and its trading area, should not be encouraged in the retail and non re-
tail commercial districts. 

 CBD: Central Business District- This district is established to provide for the orderly development of a 
major business and commerce area of the City of Statesboro in accordance with the Land Use Plan of the Com-
prehensive Plan. 

 CR: Commercial Retail- This district is established to provide areas for distribution, sales, service, or 
storage activities involving goods or equipment requiring extensive indoor or outdoor spaces, large or spe-
cialized handling equipment, or significant truck or rail transportation. 

 LI: Light Industrial-This district is established to provide areas for industry in locations which lie near 
residential areas, or which are served by major transportation facilities and adequate utilities but are not 
feasible nor highly desirable for conventional industrial development because of proximity to residential, 
recreational, retail, or related developments. 

 HI: Heavy Industrial- This district is established to provide areas for manufacturing, assembling, fabri-
cating, warehousing and related activities. These uses generate some emissions and have some adverse ef-
fects on surrounding properties and are not compatible with primary commercial, institutional, and resi-
dential uses. 

 PUD: Planned Unit Development District- This is a multi-use district. 

LAND USE: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 75 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 O: Office & Business Office - The office district is meant to provide for the development of professional 
and business offices not traditionally found in the CBD. 

 R20/R15: Single Family Residential - The purpose of the R20 district is to maintain and protect the 
desirable benefits which single family detached residential uses have throughout the community. 

 R3: Medium Density Multiple Family Residential - The purpose of the R3 district is to maintain 
and protect the desirable benefits which single-family detached, two-family twins, two family duplexes and 
R15 uses have throughout the community. 

 R4: High Density Residential - The purpose of the R4 district is to encourage the logical and timely de-
velopment of land for apartment and other high density residential purposes in accordance with objectives, 
policies, and proposals of the future land use plan. 

 R6: Single Family Residential - The purpose of the R6 district is to maintain and protect the desirable 
benefits which single family detached residential uses have throughout the community. 

 R8: Single Family Residential - The purpose of the R8 district is to maintain and protect the desirable 
benefits which single family detached residential uses have throughout the community. 

 R10: Single Family Residential - The purpose of the R10 district is to maintain and protect the desira-
ble benefits which single family detached residential uses have throughout the community. 

 R30: Single Family Residential - The purpose of the R30 district is to maintain and protect the desira-
ble benefits which single family detached residential uses have throughout the community. 

 R40: Single Family Residential - The purpose of the R40 distr ict is to m aintain and protect 
the desirable benefits which single family detached residential uses have throughout the community. 

LAND USE: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 76 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Map 6.1  

Current Land Use 

LAND USE: Community Profile 

The current Land Use Map shows the general 

use of all municipal land that is currently 

listed as a part of the City. Annexation and 

County areas are not shown with any specific 

regard. All developments in the City should 

show consistency with this map (also depicted 

in Appendix F). Variances and multi-use 

properties may depict small differences in 

property use.  

 

These are not the specific Zoning Districts of 

the City. Standard Zoning Districts are still 

amendable by Council Decision.  

Source: StaGIS (Statesboro GIS) 



 

City of Statesboro 77 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Map 7.1  

Future Land Use 

LAND USE: Community Profile 

The Future Land Use Map shows the general 

use of all municipal land that is currently 

listed as a part of the City. Proposed Annexa-

tions and County areas are not shown with 

any specific regard. All developments in the 

City should show consistency with this map 

(also depicted in Appendix F). Variances and 

multi-use properties may depict small differ-

ences in property use.  

 

These are not the specific Zoning Districts of 

the City. Standard Zoning Districts are still 

amendable by Council Decision.  

Source: StaGIS (Statesboro GIS) 



City of Statesboro 78 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Agenda:
Land Use Plan

The Georgia Department of Community Affairs Minimum Standards and Procedures for Local Comprehensive 
Planning require that communities that are subject to the State of Georgia Zoning Procedures Law include a land 
use element within their comprehensive plan document. The City of Statesboro administers and enforces land 
use and zoning regulations. Therefore, the state's land use element requirement applies to the City of Statesboro 
2019-2029 Comprehensive Plan. 

Inclusion of a land use element within a comprehensive plan document is a sound initiative. Perhaps no other 
comprehensive planning element better relates to a community's long term vision of growth, development, and 
vitality than how land within that community will be used by citizens and other public and private entities. 
Recognition of this inter-relationship results in the 2019 Comprehensive Plan's "Land Use Plan" component be-
ing inclusive of multiple aspects that work together and have an influence on the community. 

The Community Agenda's Land Use Plan - in conjunction with the Land Use analysis provided in the Community 
Profile document - collectively form the 2019 Comprehensive Plan's required Land Use Element. The Land Use 
Plan focuses on the principal component - character areas. During the 2014 Comprehensive Plan  Update, States-
boro opted not to prepare a future land use map but instead to focus on Character Areas. Character Area maps 
and supporting narratives provide a description of preferred land use districts for varying sections of Statesboro 
and are the principal means by which the long-term land use goals and policies of the City are represented. The 
Statesboro Comprehensive Plan's Land Use Plan will be considered by local authorities when making land use 
recommendations, determinations, interpretations, and decisions in the future. The 2019 Plan will include both.  



 

City of Statesboro 79 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

When determining how best to use the 2019 Comprehensive Plan's Character Area maps and supporting narratives, 
the reader should be mindful of the following two (2) parameters: 

1. Character Area Boundaries : Unlike a parcel-specific future land use map, character area boundaries are 
conceptual and may cross parcel lines. The character area boundaries in this document represent "approximate" 
character area location. This flexibility allows the governing body charged with implementing the plan to make de-
cisions based on changing conditions while reducing the need to continually amend the comprehensive plan. As a 
result, it is possible to assume that small parcels located directly adjacent to one (1) or more character areas may be 
permitted by the local government to develop according to the parameters of the adjacent area rather than the area 
in which it is located. Such an action should be taken sparingly and the decision should only be made if the local 
government can show that it is consistent with the recommendations provided in other sections of the 2016 Com-
prehensive Plan or other local policy document. Generally, a tract should develop according to the parameters es-
tablished in the specific character area in which it is located. The City is strongly encouraged to initiate amend-
ments to its Character Area Map whenever the community intends to promote a development pattern in an area 
that is contrary to the adopted map. 

2. Character Area Narratives: The narratives located on the follow ing pages correspond to the 
Character Area Map and should be viewed as general policy statements - as statements of intent. Their use and ap-
plicability is similar to those other goals and policy statements found in the Community Goals component of the 
Community Agenda. They should inform future development decisions and perhaps form the basis for more de-
tailed topic - specific studies in the future. 

The Character Area Map presented herein, is an update to (and supersedes) the prior character area map that was 
included in the last comprehensive plan document.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 80 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Map 7.1  

Future Development Map 

LAND USE: Community Profile 

The Future Development Map shows potential 

annexation areas as well as the way future are-

as will be developed as they  are utilized mov-

ing forward. Care should be taken to ensure 

that these areas are developed in a manner 

consistent with this map (also depicted in Ap-

pendix F). All Council decisions should be 

guided using the Future Development Map.  

 

Character Areas depicted on this map are also 

known as City Districts, and are distinguished 

from the general nature of the Future Land Use 

Map, which depicts more general types of de-

velopment that may take place on a property.  

Source: StaGIS (Statesboro GIS) 



 

City of Statesboro 81 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 2014 Character Areas 2019 Character Areas 

Activity/Regional Centers Activity/Regional Centers 

Commercial Redevelopment 1-
3 

Commercial Redevelopment 1-
3 

Conservation Area Conservation Area 

Developing Traditional  Developing Traditional  

Developing Urban Neighbor-
hood 

Developing Urban Neighbor-
hood 

Downtown Downtown 

Emerging Business Emerging Business 

Established Residential Established Residential 

Neighborhood Center Neighborhood Center 

Park Park 

Potential Annexation Potential Annexation 

Residential Redevelopment Residential Redevelopment 

University District University District 

Urban Growth/Service Deliv-
ery Area 

N/A 

 2014 Area/
Corridor Overlays 

2019 Area/
Corridor Overlays 

Urban Core Gateway Urban Core Gateway 

City Limit Gateway City Limit Gateway 

Urban Corridor N/A 

Transitional Corridor N/A 

Access Corridor N/A 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 82 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

EXISTING AND FUTURE LAND USE 

The following are established for development within city center and adjacent areas and are collectively called 
the City Districts, or character areas: 
 Urban Core/Downtown District-Downtown is the historic core of the city and should remain the activi-

ty and cultural hub of the region. In the Urban Core, traditional development of buildings along the sidewalk 
and a lively streetscape should be respected and promoted. . 

 Established/Existing Traditional Neighborhood- The traditional residential neighborhoods in the 
established area were developed from the late 19th to mid 20th century, and feature connected street grids 
linked with downtown. 

 Developing Urban Neighborhood - The residential areas in the Developing Urban Neighbor-
hood Areas located in developing or redeveloping areas of the city. The developments in this area will pri-
marily be characterized by urban style housing. 

 Residential Redevelopment Area - This land use area has most of its original housing stock in place, but 
has worsening housing conditions due to low rates of homeownership and neglect of property maintenance. 

 Neighborhood Center -  This area is characterized by a blend of lower to medium density residential and 
commercial, personal service, and offices that are neighborhood scale in size and intensity. . 

 Activity Centers/Regional Centers - Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large surface 
parking lots, the Activity Centers will evolve into pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and entertainment 
places that may also accommodate high-density residential development. 

LAND USE: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 83 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The following are established for development within city center and adjacent areas and are collectively called the 
City Districts or character areas: 
 Commercial Redevelopment Area #1 - Prim arily the area surrounding East Main Street and a

portion of the surrounding downtown areas. These areas are characterized by a high degree of access by vehic-
ular traffic; public parking: and a low degree of open space. This area is also lower density development.

 Commercial Redevelopment Area #2— Area extending down South Main Street to the bypass, this area
runs adjacent to the University area after the Blue Mile. This area contains higher density development as a
gateway to the highway.

 Commercial Redevelopment Area #3—Areas are currently in decline with vacant or underutilized prop-
erties. This area is more heavily residential, and includes some greenspace. This area should maintain a lower
density.

 University District - Anchored by Georgia Southern University. a traditional four-year college campus, de-
velopment of this area should focus heavily on pedestrian and bike accessibility, as well as transit.

 Park - Large areas of green space will be conserved for active and passive recreation, as well as protection of
environmentally sensitive areas, such as wetlands and floodplains.

 Emerging Business - This area will support the creation of a park to support office and business develop-
ment opportunities.

 Gateways, City Limits - Primarily located on major arterials at their intersections with the bypass, these
should make it clear to residents that they are entering the incorporated City through careful attention to de-
velopmental standards, signage, landscaping, and similar elements.

 Gateways, Urban Core - Areas should make it clear to residents and visitors that they are entering into the
heart of the Central Business District.

 Conservation: Prim arily natural lands and environm entally sensitive areas not suitable for  de-
velopment.

 Developing Traditional—Primarily residential, and consists largely of signle family homes. Nodal commer-
cial development should also be included to serve the needs of residents.

LAND USE: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 84 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Statesboro Downtown character area includes the central historic portion of Statesboro in the intersecting area 
of Main Street.  The area is intended to be redeveloped to create a central business district including many of the 
characteristics of a traditional downtown by promoting building, site and street-scape design features that encour-
age street-level pedestrian activity. The area should support a wide mixture of office and retail uses within struc-
tures with the potential for residential uses to be located on upper floors. It can also include office-related govern-
ment and institutional uses. Urban building form should be promoted except for properties that contain the City's 
few remaining historic homes which should be redeveloped according to their more pastoral character. 

 Promote office, retail, and institutional uses primarily within mixed
-use buildings. 

 Provide assistance to homeowners who wish to have their home 
listed on the National Register of Historic Places. 

 Limit future residential uses to existing historic homes, upper 
floors of office/retail buildings or multi-story (no more than 3 
floors) residential buildings that are designed with a traditional 
urban form. 

 Orient new buildings so that a minimum percentage of each lot is 
framed by a street-facing building façade located close to the pub-
lic sidewalk. 

 Allow increased building density if incorporating traditional de-
sign features. 

 Permit office and retail uses within existing historic homes front-
ing Robinson Avenue in order to provide incentives for building 
preservation. 

 Develop wide urban sidewalks (curb to building) with street trees, 
street furniture, uniform signage, pedestrian scale street lights, 
buried utilities and pedestrian crosswalks. 

 Provide opportunities for on-street parking (except on Robinson 
Ave) and street design features that slow traffic (traffic calming 
features) to ensure that the district remains pedestrian-friendly. 

Land Uses 

 Residential 

 Commercial 

 Office 

 Mixed-Use 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 85 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Downtown 

 Maintain/enhance integrity of interconnected grid and pedestrian circulation interconnectivity.  

 New development should respect historic context of building mass, height and setbacks.  

 New developments that contain a mix of residential, commercial and/or community facilities at small enough 

scale and proximity to encourage walking between destinations should be encouraged.  

 Historic structures should be preserved or adaptively reused wherever possible.  

 Encourage mixed-use infill and redevelopment. Uses should typically transition across the rear of properties in-

stead of across the street to soften the transition and maintain appropriate streetscapes.  

 Create local historic districts.  

 Economic development strategies should continue to nurture thriving commercial activity.   

 Enhance tree planting to include more shade trees and ornamental streetscape plantings.  

 Ensure that future phases of streetscape enhancements are developed in harmony with previous efforts as well 

as economic development goals of the City and the Downtown Statesboro Development Authority (DSDA) / 

Main Street program.  

 Develop architectural guidelines to guide new development and renovations of historic buildings.   

 As downtown continues to grow, consider the construction of parking garages with retail uses on the street level. 

Sites for parking garages should be considered as early as possible, due to the importance of a central location 

and the large building footprint of such structures  

 Encourage downtown merchants/DSDA to work together in marketing downtown.   

 Redevelop warehouses for major employer/tenant to build critical mass downtown.  

 Create a downtown master plan to identify infill/redevelopment opportunities, enhance public/private partner-

ships, and develop a detailed strategy for a sustainable downtown.  

 Update sign ordinance to be consistent with downtown architecture and pedestrian scale  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 86 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Commercial Redevelopment #1 character area is intended for a varied scale of commercial, retail and office us-
es. At the intersection of major thoroughfares, development of large-scale commercial uses to serve surrounding ar-
eas of the city and unincorporated portions of Bulloch County is appropriate. In other areas, smaller scale develop-
ment containing more local community services is desired. This character area incorporates on-site access manage-
ment features, and uniform building, site, landscaping and sign standards in order to improve function and aesthet-
ics. 

Rela�onship to Prior Plan 

This area was retained from the 2014 Statesboro Comprehensive Plan Update. . 

 Provide incentives for new businesses to locate here.
 Add and require bicycle and pedestrian facilities to create connections to downtown and nearby residential are-

as.
 Ensure significant perimeter buffering where adjacent to residential and open space corridor areas.
 Utilize uniform design standards for buildings and landscaping.
 Review signage guidelines for this area and adjust accordingly.
 Control vehicular access via utilization of access management features that extend curb spacing and pro-

mote shared access.
 Ensure Development is in line with the developmental plan established by the Blue Mile Plan.

Land Uses: Commercial

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 87 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Commercial Redevelopment #1 

 Reconfigure the parking lot and circulation routes for automobiles. 

 Provide pedestrian and bicycling amenities including walkways, benches, lighting, and bike racks.  

 Adding landscaping and other appearance enhancements, trees and landscaping in parking lots to provide shade 

and help reduce storm water runoff.  

 Building in centers architecturally integrated with the site and one another, and developed at a scale sufficient in 

size, bulk, and height to provide image identification for the center and the surrounding community.  

 Location of higher density housing near commercial centers or along arterial roads, and single family detached 

housing elsewhere in the neighborhood.  

 Accommodation of big box retail in a way that complements surrounding uses, such as breaking up the façade to 

look like a collection of smaller uses.  

 Improvement of sidewalk and street appearance and amenities of commercial centers.  

 Redevelopment of older commercial centers in lieu of new construction further down the corridor.  

 New development matching the typical densities of the older center of community.  

 Infill development on vacant sites closer in to the center of community. These sites, with existing infrastructure 

in place, are used for new development, matching character of surrounding neighborhood in lieu of more devel-

opment on greenfield sites.  

 Street layouts that match those in older parts of the community and connect to the existing street network at 

many points.  

 Retrofit buildings to be more aesthetically appealing, and therefore, more makeable to perspective tenants.  

 Building new commercial structures at the street front, taking up a portion of the oversized parking lot and cre-

ating a shopping “square” around a smaller internal parking lot.  

 Upgrading the appearance of existing older commercial buildings with façade improvements, new  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 88 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Commercial Redevelopment #2 character area is intended for a varied scale of commercial, retail and office us-
es. At the intersection of major thoroughfares, development of large-scale commercial uses to serve surrounding ar-
eas of the city and unincorporated portions of Bulloch County is appropriate. In other areas, smaller scale develop-
ment containing more local community services is desired. This character area incorporates on-site access manage-
ment features, and uniform building, site, landscaping and sign standards in order to improve function and aesthet-
ics. 

Rela�onship to Prior Plan 

This area was retained from the 2014 Statesboro Comprehensive Plan Update.  

 Provide incentives for new businesses to locate here. 
 Add and require bicycle and pedestrian facilities to cre-

ate connections to downtown and nearby residential ar-
eas. 

 Ensure significant perimeter buffering where adjacent 
to residential and open space corridor areas. 

 Utilize uniform design standards for buildings and 
landscaping. 

 Review signage guidelines for this area and adjust 
accordingly. 

 Control vehicular access via utilization of access 
management features that extend curb spacing and 
promote shared access. 

 Ensure development is in line with appropriate uses 
that benefit the areas directly adjacent to the Uni-
versity.  

Land Uses: Commercial 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 89 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Commercial Redevelopment #2 

 Reconfigure the parking lot and circulation routes for automobiles. 

 Provide pedestrian and bicycling amenities including walkways, benches, lighting, and bike racks.  

 Adding landscaping and other appearance enhancements, trees and landscaping in parking lots to provide shade 

and help reduce storm water runoff.  

 Building in centers architecturally integrated with the site and one another, and developed at a scale sufficient in 

size, bulk, and height to provide image identification for the center and the surrounding community.  

 Location of higher density housing near commercial centers or along arterial roads, and single family detached 

housing elsewhere in the neighborhood.  

 Accommodation of big box retail in a way that complements surrounding uses, such as breaking up the façade to 

look like a collection of smaller uses.  

 Improvement of sidewalk and street appearance and amenities of commercial centers.  

 Redevelopment of older commercial centers in lieu of new construction further down the corridor.  

 New development matching the typical densities of the older center of community.  

 Infill development on vacant sites closer in to the center of community. These sites, with existing infrastructure 

in place, are used for new development, matching character of surrounding neighborhood in lieu of more devel-

opment on greenfield sites.  

 Street layouts that match those in older parts of the community and connect to the existing street network at 

many points.  

 Retrofit buildings to be more aesthetically appealing, and therefore, more makeable to perspective tenants.  

 Building new commercial structures at the street front, taking up a portion of the oversized parking lot and cre-

ating a shopping “square” around a smaller internal parking lot.  

 Upgrading the appearance of existing older commercial buildings with façade improvements, new  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 90 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Commercial Redevelopment #3 character area is intended for a varied scale of commercial, retail and office us-
es. At the intersection of major thoroughfares, development of large-scale commercial uses to serve surrounding ar-
eas of the city and unincorporated portions of Bulloch County is appropriate. In other areas, smaller scale develop-
ment containing more local community services is desired. This character area incorporates on-site access manage-
ment features, and uniform building, site, landscaping and sign standards in order to improve function and aesthet-
ics. 

Rela�onship to Prior Plan 

This area was retained from the 2014 Statesboro Comprehensive Plan Update. 

 Provide incentives for new businesses to locate here.
 Add and require bicycle and pedestrian facilities to create connections to downtown and nearby residential are-

as.
 Ensure significant perimeter buffering where adjacent to residential and open space corridor areas.
 Utilize uniform design standards for buildings and landscaping.
 Review signage guidelines for this area and adjust accordingly.
 Control vehicular access via utilization of access management features that extend curb spacing and pro-

mote shared access.

Land Uses: Commercial 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 91 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Commercial Redevelopment #3 

 Street layouts that match those in older parts of the community and connect to the existing street network at 

many points.  

 Clustering high density development at nodes along major corridors, separated by areas of open space or attrac-

tive residential development.  

 Developments that have easy access to nearby transit, shopping, schools, and other areas where residents travel 

daily.  

 Structures (shopping, warehouses, offices, etc.) located near street front, with parking in rear of buildings, mak-

ing the corridor more attractive and more pedestrian friendly.  

 New housing opportunities that are created out of former undeveloped commercial, warehouse, or industrial 

spaces.  

 Landscaping of parking areas to minimize visual impact on adjacent streets and uses.  

 Location of parking at rear or side of buildings to minimize visibility from the street.  

 Reduced parking requirements for commercial and residential developments, particularly when nearby parking 

alternatives or transit is available.  

 Shared parking arrangements that reduce overall parking needs  

 Use landscaped tree islands and medians to break up large expanses of paved parking. 

 Enlisting significant site features such as view corridors, water features, etc., as an amenity that shapes identity 

and character of the development.  

 Site plans, building design, and landscaping that are sensitive to natural features of the site, including topogra-

phy and views.  

 Revitalization of existing neighborhood commercial centers to capture more market activity and serve as com-

munity focal points.  

 Reuse of existing vacant or underutilized structures (e.g. commercial centers, office spaces, warehouses) to ac-

commodate new community facilities.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 92 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Currently dominated by auto-oriented design and large surface parking lots, the Activity Centers/Regional Centers 

will evolve into pedestrian-oriented shopping, office, and entertainment places that may also accommodate high-

density residential development. Where excess parking is located, infill development can break up large surface 

parking lots. Tree plantings and landscaping will be generous to soften the development intensity in these areas. 

Access to these activity centers will be easily achieved for pedestrians, cyclists, and drivers alike.  

Land Uses: Mixed Use 

 Small, mid-size, and regional retail and commercial centers, including big box stores.  

 Redeveloped shopping center should be encouraged to include diverse uses and pedestrian-scaled elements.  

 Diverse mix of higher density housing types, such as multi-family, town houses, apartments, lofts, and condos.  

 Entertainment  

 Multi-Family 

 Medical 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 93 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Activity & Regional Centers 

 Infill and redevelopment in these areas should occur according to a master plan that allows for mixed uses,

transportation choices and urban design that mitigates the appearance of auto-dependence (such as screening

parking lots or locating parking areas primarily to the sides and rear of buildings).

 Encourage infill, new, and redevelopment to build close to the street.

 Future developments and highway improvements within these areas should include pedestrian and bicycle ac-

cess to surrounding neighborhoods.

 Connect these areas with existing and proposed networks of bicycle paths, sidewalks and multiuse trails (such as

the McTell Trail, the Julius Abraham Trail, and the S&S Greenway Trail).

 Require shade trees to be planted in parking lots and along highway corridors.

 Evaluate parking ordinances for appropriate standards, including maximum standards and shared

 Focus on redevelopment in areas of disinvestment (such as those that have become or are in danger of becoming

greyfields). Development strategy should encourage uses and activities that are suitable for the immediately-

surrounding character areas.

 Incorporate inter-parcel connectivity, especially along major thoroughfares.

 Include community gathering places, such as squares, plazas, etc. into commercial and mixed use developments.

 New residential development that reflects traditional neighborhood design principles, such as smaller lots, ori-

entation to street, mix of housing types, pedestrian access to neighborhood commercial centers.

 New developments that contain a mix of residential, commercial uses and community facilities at small enough

scale and proximity to encourage walking between destinations.

 Use infrastructure availability to steer development away from areas of natural, cultural, and environmentally

sensitive resources.

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 94 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The traditional  neighborhoods in the Established Residential area were developed from the late 19th to mid 20th 

century, and feature connected street grids linked with downtown. Sidewalks should be located on both sides of 

major streets; lesser streets may have limited facilities. Major corridors in this area may support a mix of residen-

tial and commercial uses. As corridors transition from residential to commercial, the original structures should be 

maintained and renovated whenever possible. Any new structures should respect the existing fabric of the neigh-

borhood, through similar front, side, and rear setbacks.  

Some neighborhoods within this area are facing decline issues with blight. These neighborhoods may require extra 

attention to return them to viable neighborhoods. Strengthening the urban core thorough additional commercial, 

retail, and office development can benefit the neighborhoods surrounding the urban core by providing residential 

opportunities within walking or cycling distance to downtown.  

Land Uses: Residential 

 Neighborhood-scale retail and commercial 

 Neighborhood services 

 Small-lot single family residential  

 Small-scale office Garage apartments  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 95 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Established Residential 

 Ensure that new development and land uses do not encroach upon or detract from the character of the recog-

nized National Historic Districts within this area.

 Consider creating local historic districts to protect Savannah Avenue and other historic residential areas from in-

appropriate development and to restrict the demolition or substantial alteration of recognized historic struc-

tures.

 Enhance existing pedestrian connectivity by repairing/replacing sidewalks and adding new ones, where neces-

sary.

 Develop architectural guidelines to guide new development and renovations of historic buildings within historic

districts.

 Residential developments that incorporate “corner commercial” sites such as dry cleaning or convenience gro-

cery or similar retail services.

 Enlisting significant site features (view corridors, water features, farm land, wetlands, parks, traits, etc.) as

amenity that shapes identity and character of development.

 Retrofitting existing residential communities to improve pedestrian and bicycle access and connectivity with

nearby commercial areas.

 Revitalization of existing neighborhood commercial centers to capture more market activity and serve as com-

munity focal points.

 Infill, redevelopment, and new development should promote lot sizes and setbacks appropriate for each neigh-

borhood. Neighborhood redevelopment should promote a tight grid of small lot single family development which

utilizes more efficient lot and block layouts. New structures should respect the existing architectural fabric of the

neighborhood.

 Promote an interconnected street grid through appropriate revisions to development regulations. • Streets, espe-

cially thoroughfares, should incorporate Context Sensitive Solutions (CSS) to provide traffic calming and protect

community character

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 96 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The residential areas in the Developing Urban Neighborhood Areas are located in newly developing or redeveloping 

areas of the City. The developments in this area will primarily be characterized by urban style housing, likely with 

clustered densities, green space, and a higher level of resident amenities. Nodal commercial development should 

also be included to serve resident needs. New developments should strive to increase connectivity within develop-

ments, to existing streets, and to adjacent undeveloped properties. Sidewalk facilities should be located along major 

roadways and along neighborhood streets. Pedestrian access should remain a priority.  

Land Uses: Residential 

 Mixed residential and neighborhood scale retail, commercial, and office.  

 Small scale office. 

 Small lot single family residential. 

 Multi family residential. 

 Diverse mix of housing types, such as multi family, town homes, apartments, lofts, and condos.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 97 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Developing Urban Neighborhood 

 Large new developments should be master-planned to include mixed uses whenever appropriate. These develop-

ments should blend residential uses with schools, parks, recreation, retail businesses, and services linked togeth-

er in a compact pattern that encourages walking and minimizes the need for auto trips.  

 Residential development that offers a mix of housing types (single family homes, town homes, live/work units, 

lofts over the shops, and apartments), densities and prices in the same neighborhood.  

 Residential development with healthy mix of uses (corner groceries, barber shops, drug stores, within easy walk-

ing distances of residences.  

 New development that contains a mix of residential, commercial uses and community facilities at small enough 

scale and proximity to encourage walking between destinations.  

 Clustering development to preserve open space within site.  

 Plant shade trees along streets and sidewalks  

 Allow infill multi family residences to increase neighborhood density and income diversity  

 Residential developments that incorporate “corner commercial” sites with neighborhood services  

 Enlisting significant site features (view corridors, water features, farm land, wetlands, parks, trails, etc.) as 

amenity that shapes identify and character of development.  

 Site plans, buildings design, and landscaping that are sensitive to natural features of the sites, including topogra-

phy and views. Using infrastructure availability and planning to steer development away from areas of natural, 

cultural, and environmentally sensitive resources.  

 Revitalization of existing neighborhood commercial centers to capture more market activity and serve as com-

munity focal point.  

 Streets should incorporate Context Sensitive Solutions to provide traffic calming and protect community charac-

ter.  

 Pocket parks or other green space or community space should be provided within walking distance of homes.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 98 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Developing Traditional is primarily residential consisting largely of single-family homes, although nodal com-

mercial development should also be included to serve the needs of residents. Although the current street network 

has limited connectivity, new development should strive to increase connectivity within developments, to existing 

streets, and to adjacent undeveloped properties. Some areas are currently undeveloped of minimally developed but 

under pressure to grow in a suburban manner, which has conventionally featured separate land uses, primarily 

single-family residential uses, and strip mall developments along outparcels. These areas are generally found at the 

peripheries of the City. These areas generally will contain the largest lots of residential development, interconnec-

tivity and provisions for all forms of transportation should remain a priority.    

 Single Family  housing  

 Multi-family residential 

 Services 

 Small to mid-size retail and commercial 

 Some areas may support mixed-use development 

Land Uses: Residential, Commercial, Office 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 99 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Developing Traditional 

 Large new developments should be master-planned to include mixed-uses wherever appropriate. These develop-

ments should blend residential uses with schools, parks, recreation, retail businesses, and services, linked to-

gether in a compact pattern that encourages walking and minimizes the need for auto trips.

 Clustering development to preserve open space within site.

 Enlisting significant site features (view corridors, water features, farm land, wetland, trails, parks, storm reten-

tion, etc.) as amenity that shapes identity and character of the development.

 Using infrastructure availability and planning to steer development away from areas of natural, cultural, and en-

vironmentally sensitive resources.

 New developments should provide recreational facilities and open space to meet the needs of their residents.

 Promote walking and bicycling as an alternative means of transportation through the provision of safe, accessi-

ble and connected networks and bike storage facilities at destinations.

 Identify places of natural beauty and sensitive natural resources (such as wetlands) and protect these areas from

development.

 New development should be designed with respect to the existing landscape and strive to minimize impacts to

the mature tree canopy coverage. Land clearing activities should be staged appropriately as part of the overall

construction sequence and phased as needed.

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 100 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Residential Redevelopment character area has most of its original housing stock in place, but has worsening 

housing conditions due to low rates of homeownership and neglect of property maintenance. There may be a lack 

of neighborhood identity and gradual invasion of different type and intensity of use that may not be compatible 

with the neighborhood residential use, or a neighborhood that has declined sufficiently that housing conditions are 

bad, there may be large areas of vacant land or deteriorating, unoccupied structures.  

 Single Family detached housing  

 Lower density, Single Family attached housing  

Land Uses: Residential  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 101 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Residential Redevelopment Area 

 Focus on strategic public investments to improve conditions, appropriate infill development on scattered vacant 

sites, and encouraging more homeownership and maintenance or upgrade of existing properties.  

 Public investment in sidewalks, right of way improvements, and redevelopment incentives should be focused 

where needed to ensure that the neighborhood becomes more stable, mixed income community with a larger 

percentage of owner occupied housing.  

 The redevelopment strategy for the area should focus on preserving what remains of the original housing stock, 

while rebuilding on the remaining land, a new, attractive neighborhood following the principles of traditional 

neighborhood development.  

 Strengthen code enforcement, property maintenance, and the demolition of dilapidated structures in area. 

 The neighborhood should include a well-designed new neighborhood activity center at the appropriate location, 

which would provide a focal point for the neighborhood, while also providing a suitable location for a grocery 

store, hardware store, school, and similar appropriately scaled retail establishments serving neighborhood resi-

dents. 

 Strong pedestrian and bicycle connections should also be provided to encourage residents to walk/bike to work, 

shopping, or other destinations in the area. 

 New streets should be connected (i.e., minimize or prohibit cul-de-sacs_, to disperse traffic, shorten walking/

biking trips. 

 Design features that encourage safe, accessible streets should be employed- such as, narrower streets, on street 

parking, sidewalks, street trees, and landscaped raised median for minor collectors and wider streets.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 102 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Neighborhood Center is characterized by a blend of lower to medium density residential and commercial, per-

sonal service, and offices that are neighborhood scale in size and intensity. This character area often acts as a buffer 

or transition area between single family residential areas and more intense commercial areas. These areas are likely 

to experience uncontrolled strip development if growth is not properly managed. This character area strives to bal-

ance the provision of neighborhood services with the protection of nearby residential areas.  

 Single family residential

 Medium density residential

 Neighborhood scale commercial, office, and service

Land Uses: Residential

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 103 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Neighborhood Center 

 A mix of approximately scaled retail, services, and offices to serve neighborhood residents day to day need.  

 Residential development should reinforce the center through locating higher density housing options adjacent to 

the center.  

 Pedestrian oriented, with strong walkable connections between different uses  

 Road edges should be clearly defined by locating buildings at roadside with parking in the rear. Include direct 

connections to greenspace and trail networks.  

 Enhance the pedestrian friendly environment by adding sidewalks and creating other pedestrian friendly trail/

bike routes linking to other neighborhood amenities.  

 Encourage compatible architecture styles that maintain local character.  

 Particular attention should be paid to signage to prevent visual clutter.  

 Encourage way finding, on site and monument style signage. 

 Residential development should reinforce the traditional town center through a combination of rehabilitation of 

historic buildings and compatible new infill development.  

 Encourage minimal building setback requirements from the street and parking in the rear to ensure that the cor-

ridors become more attractive as properties develop or redevelop  

 Implement traffic calming measures along major roadways.  

 Enact guidelines for new development that enhances the scenic value of the corridor and addresses landscaping 

and architectural design.  

 Provide pedestrian linkages to adjacent and nearby residential or commercial districts  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 104 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Emerging Business area will support the creation of a park to support office and business development oppor-

tunities. This area is ideally situated adjacent to the Veteran's Memorial By-pass, Highway 301, the rail line, and 

near AgriBusiness Center. This business incubator center is well positioned to coordinate with the College of Infor-

mation Technology at Georgia Southern University.  

 Small And Mid-Size Regional Retail And Commercial  

 Office  

 Entertainment  

 Services  

 Multi-family  

 Mixed Use Retail/Office/Residential Buildings  

Land Uses: Commercial/Mixed Use 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

There is currently no implementation strategy for 

this area, as it lies outside of the City Limits.  

 

This area is considered for potential annexation.  

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 105 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The University District is anchored by Georgia Southern University, a traditional four-year college campus. Aca-

demic and administrative buildings, residence halls and dorms, student activity centers, cafeterias, performing arts 

venues, and ancillary buildings are found in the campus core, which is organized around an internal pedestrian cir-

culation system. Pedestrian and bicycle connectivity within the campus is excellent. Parking lots are found along 

the periphery, allowing students, faculty and staff to park and walk to buildings and facilities in the core, but this 

has caused the City exterior circulation issues.  

Development within this area, whether on campus or nearby, should focus heavily on pedestrian and bike accessi-

bility, as well as transit. Transitioning the area along the northern side of campus into more active uses, such as 

residences, educational buildings, activity centers, etc. could significantly bridge the physical gap between down-

town and the university  

Land Uses: University District 

 Neighborhood-scaled retail  

 Higher education facilities  

 Services  

 Multi-Family  

 Single-family  

 Mixed use retail/office/residential buildings  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 106 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: University District 

 Encourage future growth within the academic core.

 Host formal discussions between GSU and the City on how to strengthen physical "town and gown" connections

between the campus and adjacent commercial and residential areas.

 Consider the pros and cons of the greenbelt around campus, which physically separates the campus from the

greater community.

 Continue to preserve open spaces such as Sweetheart Circle and areas of natural beauty, including Herty Pines.

 Collaboratively address parking needs on campus that affects public and private property in surrounding areas.

 Consider the installation of parking structures on campus as a parking solution. Potential sites include the exist-

ing parking areas near the Hwy 67 entrance, along Old Register Road, and along Chandler Road.

 Strengthen enforcement of code violations for private property, including property maintenance, parking, and

structural conditions.

 Ensure adequate bicycle and pedestrian facilities for students commuting to and from GSU campus.

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 107 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Conservation Area will be conserved for active and passive recreation, as well as protection of environmental 

sensitive areas, such as wetlands and floodplains. This area will differentiate from the park area, as the develop-

ment in this area shall be minimal, with the concern primarily on the preservation of the already established green-

ery.  

Land Uses: Parks/Recreation/Conservation 

 Open Space 

 Passive Recreation 

 Multi-purpose paths/trails 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 108 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Conservation 

 Within these areas, identify places of natural beauty and sensitive natural resources (such as wetlands) and pro-

tect these areas from development; consider the use of conservation easements for increased protection in per-

petuity.  

 New development should be master-planned and carefully linked to surrounding developed areas through a net-

work of streets  

 Incorporate passive recreation, such as multi-purpose trails, in green space areas to increase access to natural 

areas and increase transportation alternatives.  

 To allow for greater design flexibility, consider the use of net density instead of minimum lot sizes in areas adja-

cent to sensitive natural lands or green space.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 109 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Park Area around Mill Creek Park and Splash in the 'Boro will be a family-oriented area, to include additional 

opportunities for restaurants, retail, and family entertainment. The area will evolve into a pedestrian-oriented envi-

ronment to facilitate safety and accessibility for all ages. Future transportation alternatives will allow visitors to ar-

rive by other options than just automobile .  

Land Uses: Parks/Recreation/Conservation 

 Active and Passive Recreation 

 Multi-purpose paths/trails 

 Open Space 

 Small and Mid-size Regional Retail 

 Entertainment 

 Office 

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 110 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGIES: Park 

 Within these areas, identify places of natural beauty and sensitive natural resources (such as wetlands) and pro-

tect these areas from development; consider the use of conservation easements for increased protection in per-

petuity.  

 New development should be master-planned and carefully linked to surrounding developed areas through a net-

work of streets  

 Incorporate passive recreation, such as multi-purpose trails, in green space areas to increase access to natural 

areas and increase transportation alternatives.  

 To allow for greater design flexibility, consider the use of net density instead of minimum lot sizes in areas adja-

cent to sensitive natural lands or green space.  

 Future developments and highway improvements within these areas should include pedestrian and bicycle ac-

cess to surrounding neighborhoods and the greater Statesboro community.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 111 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Potential Annexation Area consists of areas highlighted to likely become a part of the City in the upcoming 

years. These areas must be evaluated for their potential use as annexation becomes a possibility, but the surround-

ing uses will need consideration before a determination can be made on the highest and best use at the time.  

Land Uses: Mixed Use

 Small, mid-size, and regional retail and com-

mercial centers, including big box stores.

 Redeveloped shopping center should be encour-

aged to include diverse uses and pedestrian-

scaled elements.

 Diverse mix of higher density housing types,

such as multi-family, town houses, apartments,

lofts, and condos.

 Entertainment

 Multi-Family

 Medical

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 

There is currently no implementation 

strategy for this area, as it lies outside 

of the City Limits. 

Vision: 



 

City of Statesboro 112 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Gateway Areas & Urban Core Gateway Areas are not considered character areas in themselves, but are set to 

show the transitional layer between the primary areas of the Downtown District as well as the intersections of Vet-

erans Memorial and the major thoroughfares crossing over it. These overlays have an included strategy, but not any 

particular land uses.  

Implementation Strategy 

 There should be good vehicular and pedestrian/bike connections to retail/commercial services as 

well as internal street network connectivity, connectivity to adjacent properties/subdivisions, and 

multiple site access points.  

 Encourage compatible architecture styles that maintain regional character.  

 Screen parking areas from view through attractive landscaping, low fencing, etc. Where feasible, lo-

cate parking beside or behind buildings.  

 Install streetscape improvements which reflect the character of Statesboro through special treatment 

of sidewalks (such as pavers, scored concrete, etc.), pedestrian scaled lighting, street trees, hardscape, 

seasonal plantings, etc.  

LAND USE PLAN: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 113 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Statesboro has grown in more ways beyond population, income and housing, and several land use developments 
have occurred over the last 10 years. Since the previous comprehensive plan, the city has extended its boundaries 
and annexed a number of properties. The majority of the land in Statesboro has been and remains designated for 
residential uses. The increases to the population are linked both to the expansion of the local university, as well 
as transplants into the community from other areas. In the past, citizens have expressed a desire to increase 
green space, as well as walkability in the city, which has added additional priorities to incoming developments. 
However, the increased area designated for civic use and open space notes the growing importance of these land 
uses to the city. 
 
The tax base for the community is still stunted due to the high level of rental properties located in the city, as well 
as the high proportion of dilapidated properties. The introduction of the newly established Tax-Allocation Dis-
tricts should assist in the development process, as well as the general maintenance of the city. 
 
As part of this comprehensive plan, Character areas have been re-examined. 

LAND USE: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 114 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The Community Agenda is the key element to reaching the community's goals. The Community Agenda formaliz-
es a shared community vision, concrete goals and a work program to help meet the anticipated challenges in the 
future. The activities in the Community Work Program are the road map for improving the welfare of the citizens 
of Statesboro. 

 "Needs and Opportuni�es" 

 "Community Goals" And Long-Term Policies 

 "Land Use Plan" Incorpora�ng City-Wide Character Areas 

 "Community Work Program" Iden�fying Specific Implementa�on     Ac-
�vi�es to be undertaken over the next Five (5) Years. 

A dedicated stakeholder committee, comprised of local elected officials and community representatives, collabo-
rated and participated in sessions to provide input on the future for the city. The group also constructed strategies 
for addressing concerns and aspirations. It is important to note that the items listed on the subsequent pages are 
structured in a manner that serves to meet the additional factor of adhering to the state's minimum comprehen-
sive planning rules established by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs. 

Community Agenda 



City of Statesboro 115 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Agenda:
Needs and Opportunities

A list of needs and opportunities regarding economic development, housing, natural and cultural resources, 
community facilities, and transportation for Statesboro is included in the Community Agenda. These lists 
were generated over the course of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan process. 

In conjunction with supporting data, these lists have been generated through the efforts of community 
stakeholders - and their ability as local leaders to apply their knowledge of relative community strengths 
and weaknesses, with anticipated or ongoing challenges. 



 

City of Statesboro 116 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
Need: 
 A greater number and variety of retail and 

other business establishments to locate 
within the municipal limits is desired. 

 Statesboro's workforce diversity requires a va-
riety of housing options. 

 

Opportunity: 
 The development of the soccer stadium should 

increase the number of visitors to the area. 
 Expansion of the Georgia Southern Uni-

versity to the City of Savannah and Lib-
erty County gives the opportunity for an 
increased student population moving 
through the city which may bring more 
businesses and business opportunity. 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES 
 
Need: 
 Proper provision for water and sewer discharge 

service for the growing population is needed. 
 There are drainage problems throughout the city that 

must be addressed. 
 Additional public park space and recreational op-

portunities for all ages is needed. 
 Residents value the S&S Greenway, and Mill Creek 

Park and want to see more of this kind of develop-
ment. 

 

Opportunity: 
 Opportunities exist to increase the number of sidewalks 

and bike paths. 

NEEDS AND OPPORTUNITIES: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 117 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

HOUSING 
 
Need: 
 The municipal Code dictates the exact require-

ments for downtown structures, but does not in-
clude specific guidelines for housing. 

 The majority of housing is single family de-
tached, although the homeownership rate is 
very low. In addition, there is a very large 
number of multifamily complexes which are 
experiencing growth in the community. 

 
Opportunity: 
 Housing values are rising which will increase the 

tax base to cover necessary changes/adjustments. 
 The Blue Mile Plan has defined redevelop-

ment areas and provided an implementation 
plan. 

TRANSPORTATION 
 
Need: 
 Pedestrian/bicycle safety and access to all por-

tions of the City is needed. 
 Ensure that adequate funds exist to meet long

-term street maintenance responsibilities. 
 
Opportunity: 
 Manage the access of motor vehicles to 

and from private properties along major 
roads in order to decrease motor vehicle 
conflicts and accidents created by traffic 
entering and exiting highways. 

 Land is available on which to promote higher
-density development patterns to reduce dis-
tances between residential, retail and office 
areas. 

 Transit Feasibility Study  

NEEDS AND OPPORTUNITIES: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 118 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

NATURAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 
Need: 
 Protect the quality of drinking water sources (i.e. streams, ponds, lakes, aquifer, etc.) from the effects of 

new development. 
 There are several remaining historic properties in the City, primarily concentrated in the Downtown District. 
 
Opportunity: 
 Many community members use the existing parks and trail system, creating an opportunity to expand those 

services. 
 Incorporate a greater portion of natural landscape and open space in new developments that preserves natural 

habitat in sensitive environmental areas such as floodplains. 
 Community members support the creation of more community event space in the City. 

NEEDS AND OPPORTUNITIES: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 119 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

BROADBAND/TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
General Broadband Access is highly beneficial to communities, but can be difficult to maintain in more rural areas. 

The City of Statesboro has high speed access in all parts of the City, provided by multiple providers. Coverage 
across the city has the capability for up to 100 mbs. Additionally, Bulloch Telephone has considered the possibility 

SMALL TOWERS 

The City of Statesboro has endeavored to ensure that small towers can be implemented around the city. Numerous 

large structures have been retrofitted for tower additions, giving Statesboro coverage in most areas within the city 

Name of  Company Serves Business Serves Residential 

Northland Cable Yes Yes 

Hargray Communications Yes Some 

Frontier Communications Yes Yes 

Bulloch Telephone 

Cooperative 

Yes Yes 

NEEDS AND OPPORTUNITIES: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 120 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Agenda 

Report of Accomplishments 

This section of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan presents the Report of Accomplishments for the City of Statesboro. 
A list of activities from the prior 2011-2015 work program is included and assigned the following identifiers to 
acknowledge the status of each project as: 

 Completed: the listed activity has been concluded 
 Ongoing: the listed activity has started and is continuing 
 Postponed: the listed activity has not been started or halted for some reason. 
 Abandoned: the listed activity has been discontinued 

The Report of Accomplishments is structured to adhere to the Georgia Department of Community Affairs' 
minimum standards for comprehensive planning. 

 



 

City of Statesboro 121 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Project/Activity Status Comments 

Implement Franchise audit to en-
sure that revenues are efficiently 
collected 

Completed Project was completed in 2016. 

Continue DSDA activities to pro-
mote downtown business 

Ongoing Four (4) Facebook accounts, Pinter-
est, Blog, Twitter, Events and news-
letter. DSDA Incentive Resolution 
Passed 2019.  

Complete downtown Dog Park to 
revitalize old areas 

Ongoing Currently raising funds to complete 
full project. Project is roughly 80% 
complete. 

Develop incubator for business Complete GSU/COS Fablab & Business Inno-
vation Group Center opened in 
2017. 

Planning Element (i.e. Economic Development) 

REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 122 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Project/Activity Status Comments

Plant/replace trees specified by in-
ventory

Ongoing City is proactive in the maintenance 
of trees.

Establish pocket parks and urban 
parks throughout city.

Postponed Tight budgets in recent years have 
delayed the creation of additional 
parks.

Reestablish recreation board or 
other formal city involvement in 
parks and recreation facilities plan-
ning

Postponed Changes in City Administration/
Council have re-prioritized this ac-
tion.

Public Transit-Passage of TSPLOST Complete Department of Engineering is cur-
rently undergoing a transit study. 
Study was funded by TSPLOST

Passage of SPLOST Complete The City has passed renewal of the 
SPLOST as of November 6 2018. 

Passage of TADS Complete Currently TAD Districts assigned to 
Assistant City Managers. 

Historic & Natural Resources 

REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 123 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 Project/Activity Status Comments 

Purchase equipment for DPW Ongoing (Public Works) Recent purchases include pothole 
patcher, CNG garbage trucks, and 
yard trash trucks 

Transfer Station Expansion Ongoing (Public Works) N/A 

Construct Fire Stations (3 new) Ongoing (Fire Department) Details Contingent upon Future 
District IGA with Bulloch County 

Relocate and Improve Grady Street 
Fire Station and training facility 

Complete (Fire Department) Training Facilities are complete as 
outlined from initial project. New 
Fire Station location still being    
decided.  

Extend Gas Service to various loca-
tions 

Ongoing as needed (Natural Gas) Extension takes place as needed for 
various projects 

Maintenance/upgrade of city signs Ongoing (Public Works) Signs upgraded as funds allow 

Water/Sewer Rehab Program Ongoing (Water/Sewer) Multiple projects already complete 

Permanent Farmer’s Market Ongoing (DSDA) No current location suitable 

Capital Equipment Replacement Ongoing (Fire Department) Thermal imaging, SCBA, etc 

Radio Systems Upgrades Ongoing (Fire Department) Purchased as funding allows 

Vehicle/Apparatus Rotation Ongoing (Fire Department) FD is replacing vehicles on schedule 

Community Facilities 

REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 124 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 Project/Activity Status Comments 

Extension of Water/Sewer to un-
derserved areas 

Ongoing (Water/Sewer) N/A 

Retrofit Pump Stations with Gener-
ators 

Ongoing We have installed several genera-
tors at the pump station sites and 
will continue this project until all 
pump stations have emergency 
power generators. 

Replace vehicles and equipment for 
Water/Wastewater Department 

Ongoing We have replaced all vehicles and 
equipment originally submitted in 
the 2014 Comprehensive Plan Up-
date. 

Water/Sewer to I-16 & 301 South 
Interchange 

Ongoing Industrial Park development is tied 
into the extension project and is on-
going.  

Community Facilities (Continued) 

REPORT OF  ACCOMPLISHMENTS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 125 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 Project/Activity Status Comments 

Expand and improve transportation 
system for all modes of travel con-
sistent with the Capital Improve-
ments Program. 

Ongoing There is currently an ongoing 
Transit Feasibility Study for the 
City  

Coordinate with the Georgia De-
partment of Transportation on in-
tersection improvement projects. 

Ongoing N/A 

Identify and implement additional 
streetscape projects in the Urban 
Core and Gateways character areas. 

Ongoing Pocket Parks and additional 
streetscapes are being implemented 
as land made available 

Amend the CIP to install traffic 
calming measures into retrofitted 
roads where appropriate 

Ongoing Traffic calming measures are now 
considered during all roadway im-
provement designs. 

Amend the CIP to install bicycle/
pedestrian facilities into retrofitted 
roads where appropriate. 

Ongoing N/A 

Transportation 

REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 126 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Community Agenda 

Community Work Program: 2019-2024 

 

The Community Work Program includes activities which are currently underway and will be continued in the fu-
ture. It also includes activities which were scheduled for implementation as part of the initial programs but have 
not been accomplished. The new program includes cost estimates for implementation of the individual activities 
and sources of funds. The city also maintains a six-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP). Activities indicated 
in the CIP should be considered part of the overall CWP. Specific line items from the CIP are not shown in the ta-
ble below for easier readability for the user, but are instead referenced in general. 

As mentioned in the Community Goals section, there are no objectives listed in the Community Work Program por-
tion of the Community Agenda. During the course of the 2014 Comprehensive Plan Update, the previous work pro-
gram and objectives were reviewed. Some of these items were deemed more appropriate as goals or as supporting 
policies for said goals. Others were eliminated because they were duplicated in other sections of the plan. 

 Description of each activity 
 Timeframe for undertaking the activity 
 Responsible party for implementing the activity 
 Estimated Cost (if any) of implementing the activity 
 Funding Source (s) 



 

City of Statesboro 127 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

The full names of organizations are represented by acronyms or otherwise abbreviated in the following charts 
based on the listing shown below.

City City of Statesboro P&D Planning & Development 

BC Bulloch County CVB Convention & Visitors Bureau 

State State of Georgia WS Water & Sewer 

CDBG Community Development Block 
Grant

DPW Department of Public Works 

CHIP Community Home Investment Pro-
gram

OTC Ogeechee Technical College

DABC Development Authority of Bulloch 
County

SPLOST Special Purpose Local Options Sales Tax

DSDA Downtown Statesboro Development 
Authority

TSPLOST Transportation- Special Purpose Local Options 
Sales Tax

GDOT Georgia Department of Transporta-
tion

PRI Private Entities (Market Resources)

GSU Georgia Southern University CNG Compressed Natural Gas 

COMMUNITY WORK PROGRAM 2019-2024: Community Agenda 



 

City of Statesboro 128 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Economic Development 

Action/Implementation Strategy Responsible Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Revise Sign ordinance for appropriate com-
mercial areas 

P&D X  X         Staff Time City 

South Main Street Revitalization Effort 
Private, City, 

DSDA, GSU, Blue 
Mile 

X           TBD TBD 

Business Park Development City, Partners X           TBD TBD 

One Stop Shop Permitting & Project Man-
agement 

City Development 
Team 

X  X X  X X  X  TBD TBD 

Land Bank: fully utilize to improve dilapi-
dated properties. 

City , BC, Land 
Bank Board 

X  X         TBD TBD 

Maintain data necessary to recruit desired 
commercial & retail development (Retail 
Strategies) and support DABC in industrial 
recruitment.  

City, CVB X X X X X X TBD City 

Assist CVB with Camera Ready Program. City, CVB X X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 

Identify a location for Farmer's Market and 
funding source. 

DSDA     X X  TBD TBD 

Develop criteria for incentives, subsidies, or 
other public support of private development 
such as w/s & CNG extension, sidewalks, 
streets, etc. 

Public Works X X          Staff Time TBD 

Produce and distribute City commercial 
marketing materials. 

City, CVB X  X X X X X Hotel Tax City 

Partner with private developers to recruit & 
maintain commercial investment. 

City, Private X  X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 



 

City of Statesboro 129 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Economic Development 

Action/Implementation Strategy Responsible Party 
Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

DSDA Downtown Promotion DSDA X  X X  X  X  X Staff Time Staff Time 

Downtown Dog Park Development DSDA X X X       TBD TBD 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Historic & Natural Resources 

Action/Implementation Strategy Responsible Party 
Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Tree Replacement for Tree Inventory DPW X  X X  X  X  X Staff Time Staff Time 

Pocket Park Establishment  DPW   X  X     TBD TBD 

Recreation Board Reestablishment DPW    X X  TBD TBD 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Transportation 

Action/Implementation Strategy Responsible Party 
Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Transportation System Improvements P&D/DPW X X X X X X TBD TBD 

GDOT Intersection Improvements DPW X X X X X X TBD TBD 

CIP Amendment (Calming Measures) DPW  X X X X X TBD TBD 

Streetscape Identification/Installation DPW X X X X X X TBD TBD 

Retrofit Roads for Bicycles/Pedestrian DPW X X X X X X TBD TBD 



 

City of Statesboro 130 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Infrastructure & Facilities 

Action/Implementation Strategy 
Responsible Par-

ty 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Fiber/internet facilities in high density, com-
mercial and public institution areas. 

City, Private     X X      TBD City 

Review and revise franchise agreements. Engineering X X X X X X Staff Time City 

Adopt and implement storm water manage-
ment & utility program. 

Stormwater X X X X X X 
Staff Time, 
Consultant 

Contract 
City 

Encourage continued development of pedestri-
an paths, walking trails, multi use trails and 
pocket parks. 

Public Works,  

Planning 
X  X X  X  X  X  Staff Time 

City, 
State 

Extend CNG to Metter Commercial Park. City     X        TBD City 

Improvements to city parks & trails: Parker @ 
W Jones (Eng-Prk 22) and McTell Trail Addi-
tion (Eng-Prk 23) 

City, GSU X X  X  X  X  X  TBD TBD 

Continue exploring methods to connect GSU 
students and student transportation systems to 
COS Downtown and other commercial areas. 

Transit Study 
Committee 

X  X         TBD TBD 

Enhanced mobile application in public works 
and utility operations. 

Central Services X  X         TBD TBD 

Extend water services down Westside Road. Water/Sewer  X X          TBD TBD  

Extend and improve reclaimed water system.  Stormwater       X      $1,700,000  SPLOST 

Continued maintenance and landscaping in 
traffic islands, city parks and city facilities to 
enhance the city's appearance and quality of 
life. 

City  X  X X X X X Staff Time 
Staff 
Time 



 

City of Statesboro 131 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Infrastructure & Facilities 

Action/Implementation Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 
Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Continued improvements and offering in 
public portals: IT services, city services and 
operations. 

Central       Ser-
vices 

X X  X       TBD TBD 

Continued operation of mosquito abatement 
program.  

 Public Works X X  X X X X  TBD TBD 

Continued prompt identification of prob-
lems, issues, concerns with COS infrastruc-
ture, safety hazards and priority of repair 
and maintenance. 

City X X  X X X X TBD TBD 

Implement sludge to compost system.  Public Works       X      $1,750,000  City 

Add deep well to water system and elevated 
tank to industrial park. 

 Water/Sewer  X X X       $1,300,000  SPLOST 

Convert significant portions of city fleet to 
CNG. 

City X  X X X  X  X  TBD TBD 

Extend sewer to areas currently receiving 
COS water: Ramblewood, Oakcrest, Fox-
lake, etc. 

City X           TBD City 

Sewer upgrades to Proctor Street to Parrish 
St, Savannah Ave, N Edgewood Dr. and W 
Jones/Denmark St 

City X X  X X X X TBD City 

GIS COS utilities placement, ROW & ease-
ments. 

Engineering X  X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 

Drainage Improvements: Gordon St & S 
College St (Eng 109). 

City X           $300,000  SPLOST 

Continued operations and maintenance of 
Eastside Cemetery. 

City X X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 

Vehicle and Apparatus Rotation Fire X X X X   TBD TBD 



City of Statesboro 132 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Infrastructure & Facilities 

Action/Implementation Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Drainage Improvements: Gordon St & S 
College St (Eng 109). 

Stormwater X $300,000 SPLOST 

Sidewalk construction and improvement: 
Gentilly Rd, S College St (ENG 109) and 
Lester Rd (ENG 68). 

Engineering X X $825,000 SPLOST 

Intersection improvements: Zetterower 
Ave @ Tillman (ENG 84), W Gentilly St @ 
S College (ENG 44), W Main St @ S Col-
lege (ENG 44), W Main St @ Johnson and 
W Main St @ College (ENG 41). 

Engineering X X X X X $1,625,000 SPLOST 

Enhance and add downtown public park-
ing (ENG 41) 

 Engineering X $210,000 SPLOST 

Seriously explore adoption of Fire Service 
Fee 

Fire X Staff Time Staff Time 

Develop connector roads in transportation 
system: private developments, public 
(ENG 88) and Cawana Rd (ENG 102). 

Engineering X  X X X X $200,000 SPLOST 

Rehabilitate streets in need such as Savan-
nah Ave, Gentilly and W Parrish (ENG 110) 

Engineering X X X X $940,000 SPLOST 

Develop public tree inventory and mainte-
nance program. 

Public Works X X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 

Radio System Upgrade Fire X X X TBD TBD 



 

City of Statesboro 133 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Infrastructure & Facilities 

Action/Implementation Strategy 
Responsible 

Party 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

General DPW Equipment Purchases DPW X X X X X X TBD TBD 

Expansion of Transfer Station DPW X X X    TBD TBD 

Fire Station Constructions Fire X X X X   TBD TBD 

General Gas Service Extension Natural Gas X X X X X X TBD TBD 

City Sign Updates DPW X X X X X X TBD TBD 

Water/Sewer Rehab Program Water/Sewer X X X    TBD TBD 

Permanent Farmer’s Market DSDA X X X X X X TBD TBD 

Fire Capital Equipment Replacement Fire X X X    TBD TBD 

Water/Sewer General Extension Water/Sewer X X X X X X TBD TBD 

Pump Stations Generator Retrofit Water/Sewer X X X X   TBD TBD 

Water/Wastewater Vehicle Replacement Water/Sewer X X X X X X TBD TBD 

301/i-16 Water/Sewer Interchange Water/Sewer X X X    TBD TBD 



 

City of Statesboro 134 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Comprehensive Master Plan - Community Work Program/Land Use 

Action/Implementation Strategy 
Responsible Par-

ty 

Time Frame 

Cost 
Funding 
Source 19 20 21 22 23 24 

Annex properties in the proposed 
annexation area or areas of pop-
ulation growth that are likely to 
be developed in urban fashion 

P&D X  X  X X   X X  Staff Time City 

Addition of single family lot 
availability through zoning and 
annexation. 

P&D X  X  X  X  X  X Staff Time Staff Time 

Amend zoning ordinance to al-
low more flexibility in uses i.e. 
more mix of uses and  promote 
smaller lot sizes. 

P&D X  X     Staff Time Staff Time 

Amend zoning ordinance to re-
duce redundancy in zones. 

P&D X  X  X  X  X  X Staff Time Staff Time 

Amend zoning ordinance to cre-
ate neighborhood commercial 
zone. 

P&D X  X  X    Staff Time Staff Time 

Amend sign and parking ordi-
nance to promote easier compli-
ance 

P&D X  X     Staff Time Staff Time 

Continue long term master plan-
ning for utilities and other infra-
structure. 

P&D X  X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 

Continued operations and 
maintenance of Eastside Ceme-
tery. 

City X X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 

Continued maintenance and 
landscaping in traffic islands, city 
parks and city facilities to en-
hance the city's appearance and 
quality of life. 

City  X  X X X X X Staff Time Staff Time 



Resolution 2019-28

A Resolution of the City of Statesboro for the Adoption of the 

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Whereas, The Statesboro City Council, The governing authority of   Statesboro, 

Georgia has prepared the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029, to replace 

their prior comprehensive plan and plan update, and 

Whereas, the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 was prepared in   

accordance with the Rules and Procedures of the Georgia Department of Community 

Affairs, and  

Whereas, the Statesboro Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 has been reviewed by 

the Georgia Coastal Regional Commission and the Georgia Department of   

Community Affairs and found to be in compliance with the minimum “Standards and 

Procedures for Local Comprehensive Planning.” 

Therefore, Be it Resolved by the Statesboro City Council that the Statesboro 

Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 be adopted and that a copy of this resolution shall 

be submitted to the Coastal Regional Commission. 

________________________ 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 

Attested By: 

_________________________ 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 



City of Statesboro 136 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Appendix A: STAKEHOLDER ANALYSIS 

STAKEHOLDER ANALYSIS MATRIX 

Stakeholder Name Contact Person Impact Influence Needs Contribu�on Engagement Strategy 
Steering Committee All Members Document Guidance N/A Comp Plan Passage Final Dra� Submi�al Commi�ee Mee�ngs 

City Council Jonathan McCollar Legal adop�on Steering Commi�ee 
Membership 

Passable Document Legal Acceptance Council Mee�ngs/
Public Hearings 

City Departments Department Heads Project Execu�on Document Dra�ing Maximize Depart-
ment Influence 

City Recommenda-
�ons 

Department Mee�ngs/
Standard Email 

Planning Commission James Byrd Sr. Recommenda�on to 
Legal Body 

Steering Commi�ee 
Membership 

Acceptable Stand-
ards based on Ordi-
nance 

Planning Recom-
menda�ons 

Commission Mee�ngs/ 

Community Residents N/A Direct Beneficiaries Immediate Response 
to Recommenda�ons  

Greenspace/
Businesses & 

Survey Recommen-
da�ons 

Survey Monkey/Public 
Hearings 

Business Owners N/A Secondary Beneficiar-
ies 

N/A Increased Resources Interest Area Guid-
ance 

Survey Monkey/Public 
Hearings 

Georgia Department 
of Transportation  

Steve Price GDOT Steering Commi�ee 
Membership 

 GDOT Compliance DOT Guidance Email 

Private Developers N/A Land Use Concerns  N/A University Growth/
Development 

 N/A N/A 

Georgia Southern Uni-
versity 

Ben McKay Plan Recommenda-
�ons 

Steering Commi�ee 
Membership 

Student Support N/A Email 

Department of Com-
munity Affairs 

N/A QLG Declara�on Plan Standards Approved Document  Gran�ng QLG Status Planning Process 

Civic Organizations N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Recreation Depart-
ment 

Ed Nelson Greenspace Recom-
menda�ons 

 N/A Greenspace Growth/
Maintenance 

N/A Email 

Chamber of Com-
merce 

Phyllis Thompson Plan Recommenda-
�ons 

Steering Commi�ee 
Membership 

Marketable Develop-
ment 

N/A  Email 

Local Churches N/A  N/A  N/A N/A N/A N/A 
Non-Profits N/A  N/A  N/A N/A N/A 
Convention & Visitors 
Bureau 

Jus�n Samples  N/A City A�rac�ons  N/A  N/A Email 

County Government Cindy Steinman City/County Coordi-
na�on 

Steering Commi�ee 
Membership 

 N/A County Recommen-
da�ons 

Email 



 

City of Statesboro 137 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Strengths: 

Experienced City Staff 

Established Plans and Planning Processes 

Community Trust (In Public Safety personnel) 

Success Track Record (e.g. Downtown Revitalization) 

City Communications Infrastructure 

Existing Infrastructure/ Parks 

SPLOST Renewal 

Approval of TSPLOST 

Creation of TADs (Tax Allocation Districts) 

Weakness: 

Finance Option Limitations (LOST, etc) 

Stagnant Property Tax Revenues 

Limited Supporting Entities (e.g. Non-Profits) 

Aged Facilities and Infrastructure (Expensive Mainte-

nance Requirements) 

Graduate Retention 

Opportuni�es: 

Higher Education Institutions (Partnerships) 

College Graduates (Potential To Retain) 

Positive Employment Trends 

Low Cost of Living 

Growing Art/Cultural Opportunities ( Diversity) 

Grant Successes (Blue Mile, CDBG) 

Threats: 

Loss of trained City Staff to Other Communities & Pri-

vate Sector 

Outside Influences on Public Safety 

Transient Population (Students) 

Negative Perceptions of Local Government 

Some Neighborhood Property Conditions 

High Percentage of Rental vs. Owner-Occupied Housing 

Appendix B 

 

STRENGTHS, WEAKNESSESS, OPPORTUNITIES, AND THREATS  ANALYSIS 



 

City of Statesboro 138 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Strengths:  

 Experienced City Staff – Many staff members have served Statesboro and provided leadership for many years; 
institutional knowledge and consistency is a great asset.  

 Established Plans and Planning Processes – As referenced in this document, plans have been prepared recently 
to address specific needs and opportunities, and funding for implementation is lining up in some cases.  

 Community Trust – Survey results and anecdotal input suggests a strong level of community trust in public 
safety officials serving Statesboro. This is a critical strength; the community and police partnership in particular 
is paramount to address public safety issues.  

 Successful Track Record – There are many stories to tell of successful implementation of projects and initia-
tives, and visible results include revitalization in downtown Statesboro, attractive parks, greenways and a grow-
ing business community.  

 City Communications Infrastructure – As shown through survey results, residents use and benefit from City 
communications tools like the City website; also through local media outlets. Having effective communications 
tools in place makes it easier to expand and enhance communications.  

 Existing Infrastructure and Parks – The availability of public owned land, in particular, is a strength that sup-
ports the City’s ability to provide enhanced services and amenities to residents.  

 Renewed SPLOST – SPLOST is a critical revenue source for Statesboro to fund infrastructure projects. Without 
SPLOST funding, projects would not be accomplished and the City General Fund would bear a much heavier 
burden.  

 Latest TSPLOST-The voting on regional TSPLOST, presents a strength for Statesboro to add a funding source 
for transportation projects. Additionally, it is very advantageous that TSPLOST-funded transportation projects 
can be implemented quickly, relative to federally funded projects, due to streamlined processes for environmen-
tal and engineering approvals.  

 Creation of new TAD—The City in partnership with Tormenta FC, has created a Tax Allocation District in a cur-
rently developing area on Old Register Road. This area will not only heavily increase tourism to the city, but will 
also expand the opportunities for economic development.  



City of Statesboro 139 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Weaknesses: 

 Finance Option Limitations – As described in Chapter 2, the impact of the inability of Statesboro to use Local
Option Sales Tax (LOST) revenues to support its general fund is significant.

 Stagnant Property Tax Revenues – As described in Chapter 2, property tax revenues have been eroding over the
past decade or more. This can in part be described as a symptom of the high level of rental property in the City.

 Limited Supporting Entities – Statesboro has a relatively (or very) small number of non-profit entities that can
work alongside the local government to address issues like vacant housing, property deterioration and parks/
greenspace maintenance. Those existing organizations need to expand, and new ones need to be fostered.

 Aged Facilities and Infrastructure – Though the needs for investment in public facilities and infrastructure are
understood to some degree, there are certainly unknown needs and liabilities, as is typical of most older cities in
the South. Frequent assessment and action is required to address issues and maintain effective services through
public facilities and infrastructure.

 Lack of Retention of Graduates—The job market in the City generally does not provide enough entry level posi-
tions to ensure that students stay upon graduation, costing the City a large number of educated residents.



City of Statesboro 140 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Opportunities: 

 Higher Education Institutions – Having Georgia Southern University, Ogeechee Technical College and East
Georgia State College campuses in Statesboro provides opportunities for Statesboro residents to conveniently
access higher education, and also brings thousands of students to Statesboro each year from different parts of
Georgia and beyond. This is an educational and economic development resource in every sense, with potential
for greater benefit to the community.

 College Graduates – There are thousands of graduates from Statesboro each year; increasing the percentage
who remain in Statesboro to start careers is a key opportunity for the City to pursue.

 Positive Employment Trends – Despite many years of struggle on the jobs front, trends are positive nationwide,
promising benefits of business growth and expansion on the local economy and City budget.

 Low Cost of Living – In the increasingly mobile and connected society, where individuals and families have a
wide range of choices about where to live and work, the cost of living in a community can make the difference.
Statesboro’s relatively low cost of living, combined with other community and environmental assets, can help to
fuel growth of population and economy.

 Growing Arts/Cultural Opportunities – A solid trend of arts and culture development is in place in Statesboro,
linked to historic preservation and enhancement of the community’s sense of place. This is a highly attractive
factor to the generation that is starting careers and families, and can be a key to community growth and devel-
opment in coming decades.

 Grant Successes – With the recent success of the Blue Mile project in a highly competitive environment for
grant funds, Statesboro has proved the ability to play on the big stage of community development. There is op-
portunity to build on the momentum of this win, and others.



 

City of Statesboro 141 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Threats:  

 Loss of Trained City Staff to Other Communities & Private Entities – Staff training is expensive, and trained 
staff members are of great value to a community, whether public safety or management and operations per-
sonnel. As Statesboro is in a growing region and adjacent to larger communities that may offer higher salaries 
to trained personnel, there is a consistent threat that trained staff will choose to relocate for higher pay rather 
than remain in Statesboro.   

 Outside Influences on Public Safety – Two key factors involving outside influences seem to have a significant 
impact on public safety in Statesboro, both involving transience: the large student population associated pri-
marily with GSU, and traffic/transience associated with the I-16 corridor. As GSU and I-16 both also offer in-
credible benefits to Statesboro, the requirement is to address the public safety threats while embracing the as-
sociated benefits.  

 Transience in Population – Beyond public safety factors, the high level of turnover in the local population due 
to student transience has an impact on the community, and in particular on neighborhoods where high num-
bers of students rent housing. This is one factor that impacts the level of owner-occupied housing, for example.   

 Negative Perceptions of Local Government – Survey results indicate a relatively high level of concern about lo-
cal government and it’s effectiveness in Statesboro. Addressing issues in a strategic and responsive manner 
would be expected to alleviate concerns, as would improved communications that ensure citizens are informed 
about successes and the value that local government leadership and services provide.    

 Neighborhood Property Conditions – As common to most municipalities in Georgia, some neighborhoods suf-
fer more from property maintenance neglect, code violations and vacancy. Instances of property neglect, in 
neighborhoods as well as commercial districts, could escalate across the community if not properly addressed.  

 High Rate of Rental vs. Owner-Occupied Housing – In 2015 the housing vacancy rate in Statesboro was 13.7%. 
of the Occupied housing units, 21% were owner-occupied and 79% were renter-occupied. Comparatively, the 
rates in 2011 were 27.2% owner-occupied and 72.8% renter-occupied. Related to neighborhood conditions, it is 
frequently (but not always) the case that higher levels of rental housing in a neighborhood can be associated 
with declining property values and maintenance levels. Conversely, it is generally accepted that higher levels of 
owner-occupancy will result in growing property values and improved maintenance. These generalities would 
seem to apply to Statesboro, thus a long term trend of decreasing levels of owner-occupancy in neighborhoods 
is a threat to stability.  



City of Statesboro 142 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Appendix C: 

INFORMATION SOURCES

- Source:-U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 and 2010 Summary File 1 (SF1), Table DP-1
U.S. Census Bureau county population data includes the population counts for both incorporated and unincor-
porated area 

- U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 Census Summary File 3 and 2009-2013 American Community Survey

- U.S. Census Bureau, 2010 Census Summary and American Community Survey

- City of Statesboro, Transit Feasibility Study: Technical Memo #1

- City of Statesboro Strategic Plan (2018)

- Statesboro/Bulloch County, Creek on the Blue Mile Feasibility Study (2018)

- StaGIS (Statesboro GIS)

- U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

- U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates

- Georgia Coastal Regional Commission, ESRI Business Analyst Online Community Profile Report (November
2018), 1181 Coastal Dr SW, Darian GA



City of Statesboro 143 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Appendix D: 

REQUIRED DOCUMENTS

To ensure that all legal and DCA requirements are met, the City of Statesboro has included documentation related 
to all held public meetings for the Comprehensive Plan.  

Steering Committee was provided with a continuous update of the plan as it was developed via Dropbox & Email. 



 

City of Statesboro 144 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 145 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



City of Statesboro 146 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



City of Statesboro 147 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 148 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 149 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 150 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Appendix E: Survey Results 

Based on total responses received from all surveys distributed. Surveys ran from 1 January 

2019 until 1 March 2019. These surveys were advertised using both The Statesboro Herald, 

City of Statesboro website, media outlets such as WTOC, WSAV, and multiple public hear-

ings (as referenced in Appendix C). 

 

The following pages are labeled as per the individual questions that were used in the survey, 

as well as the percentages as provided through the survey monkey app. Questions 5-8 were 

omitted due to the large range of answers received.  

 

The number of collected surveys was totaled at 222. This does not include the individual ser-

vices and priority calculations which are referenced in Appendix E.  



City of Statesboro 151 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Q1: Which of the following best describes your residential status in Statesboro?



 

City of Statesboro 152 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Q2: Are there children under the age of 18 living in your household?  



 

City of Statesboro 153 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



City of Statesboro 154 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 155 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Q9: Please check off three 
(3) most important reasons 
you chose Statesboro as a 
place to live or work.  



City of Statesboro 156 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 157 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 158 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 159 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Q14: Which of the following do you think the City should spend more money on 
in order to improve service delivery or meet community needs? (Check all that 
apply)  



City of Statesboro 160 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Q15: Would you be willing to pay an increase in user fees or charges, property tax, 
or other revenue sources to pay for additional services or the community needs 
you in selected in Question 14 above?



City of Statesboro 161 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

Q16: Have you used any of the 
following in the last 12 months 
to receive information about 
City government? (check all 
that apply)



 

City of Statesboro 162 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

 

Appendix F: Maps 

All maps used throughout this document are located in large format in the following Appendix 

to assist those who may have issues legibly reading the documents otherwise.  

 

 



 

City of Statesboro 163 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



City of Statesboro 164 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 165 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 

LAND USE: Community Profile 



 

City of Statesboro 166 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 

City of Statesboro 167 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



City of Statesboro 168 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



City of Statesboro 169 Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

 Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
  
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  Robert Seamans, Streets and Parks Superintendent 
 
Date:  July 26, 2019 
 
RE:  Bid Award – Front Loader (CNG) Refuse Collection Truck- Solid 
Waste Collection Division 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing Policy 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends the contract be awarded to New Way Trucks for the 
purchase of a New Way Front Loader Refuse Collection body with a 2020 
Peterbilt 520 CNG Cab and Chassis per Sourcewell (formally NJPA) contract to 
New Way Trucks in the amount of $310,698.68.  
 
Background:  
The Front Loader (CNG) Refuse Collection Truck is to be utilized in the Solid 
Waste Collection Division of Public Works. The Front Loader (CNG) Refuse 
Collection Truck, if approved, is funded in the amount of $325,000.00 in the FY 
2020 budget and is listed under CIP# SWC-9. The Front Loader (CNG) Refuse 
Collection Truck will be purchased with funds from the 2013 SPLOST. This Front 
Loader (CNG) Refuse Collection Truck will be outfitted with other safety 
equipment with the remainder of the funds provided. The Sourcewell Contract 
#112014-NWY, meets all requirements, specifications and warranty needed. The 
new Front Loader (CNG) Refuse Collection Truck will be replacing a 10-year-old 
unit, 2009 New Way Front Loader Collection Truck with Peterbilt Chassis as per 
our 10-year replacement schedule. 
 
Budget Impact:   
Reduce Maintenance Cost 

Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 
 
Attachments: 
Sourcewell Contract #112014-NWY 





 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Jason Boyles, Asst. City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: www.statesboroga.gov 

 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, City Engineer 
 
Date:  July 22, 2019 
 
RE:  GDOT Local Administered Project (LAP) Recertification 
 
Policy Issue: Approval of Development Agreement between City and Georgia Department of 
Transportation (GDOT). The City remains qualified to obtain and administer federal-aid (Grants) 
projects for transportation. 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion for Council to authorize the Mayor to execute the 
GDOT Local Administered Projects (LAP) recertification application. 
 
Background: The City currently has a Local Administered Projects (LAP) certification and GDOT 
requires a recertification of the policies and personnel on record for this program. The LAP re-
certification application will be used to determine if Local Public Agencies will remain qualified 
to obtain and administer federal-aid (Grants) projects. Each Local Agency is required to recertify 
after a period of three years 
 
Budget Impact: Allows the City the ability to offset costs and expenditures that would normally 
be assigned to tax based budgets for transportation projects.  
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachment(s): LAP Application 
 
City Manager’s Recommendation: Recommend approval and authorization for the Mayor to 
sign the application on the City’s behalf. 
 



 

 Local Administered Projects Certification 

Rev. 8/16 

 

         

  

 

 

 



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

P a g e  | i 

Georgia Department of Transportation 
Local Administered Projects Certification 

The Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) has developed a Local Administered 

Projects (LAP) Certification process to ensure the resource capacity and ability of the Local 

Public Agency (LPA) to successfully manage, administer and execute the policies and 

procedures for Federal and State compliance in order to receive federal funding participation.   

The LAP Certification application will be used to determine if Local Public Agencies will 

qualify to administer federal-aid projects.   The GDOT serves as the prime recipient of federal 

transportation funds.   In accordance with 23 Code of Federal Regulation Part 635.105, GDOT is 

the supervising agency; as such, it is responsible for authorizing performance of the work by the 

Local Agency on all Federal-aid projects.  Please complete the questions provided in this 

application to ensure a complete review of submitted materials.   

If you have any questions about the application please contact the Office of Program Control at 

404-631-1830.  For additional information please visit the Local Programs website at  

http://www.dot.ga.gov/PS/Local/LAP  

 

                                           

 

 

 

 

http://www.dot.ga.gov/PS/Local/LAP


GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | ii 

Table of Contents 

Table of Contents ...................................................................................................... ii 

Acronyms ................................................................................................................. iv 

Types of Certification Applications ........................................................................... 1 

Required Training for Certification ........................................................................ 1 

Documents to be Submitted .................................................................................... 1 

LAP Certification Information ................................................................................... 2 

Local Administered Projects Responsible Charge Worksheet .................................. 3 

Section A - Title VI - Civil Rights Performance & Assessment  

Questionnaire ....................................................................................................... 4 

Section B - Environmental Questionnaire ........................................................... 6 

Section C - Right of Way Questionnaire ............................................................. 9 

Section D - Utility Division Questionnaire .......................................................11 

Section E - Construction Division Questionnaire .............................................12 

Section F - Procurement of Engineering and Design Related Services 

Questionnaire .....................................................................................................16 

Section G - Certification Acceptance Qualification Agreement .......................18 

Section H - Certification Appeal Process ..........................................................19 

 

  



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | iii 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Intentionally Left Blank 



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | iv 

Acronyms 

AADT – Average Annual Daily Traffic  

AAWT – Average Annual Weekly Traffic  

AASHTO – American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 

(http://www.transportation.org)  

ADA – Americans with Disabilities Act  

ADT – Average Daily Traffic  

AHI – Adjusted Hazard Index  

ATR – Automated Traffic Recorder  

AWT – Average Weekly Traffic  

C-D – Collector-Distributor  

CDR – Collector Distributor Road  

CFR – Code of Federal Regulations  

CORSIM – Corridor Simulation Software  

CWP – (GDOT) Construction Work Program  

DBA – Decibels, A-Scale  

DHV – Design Hour Volume  

DTM – Digital Terrain Model  

FAA – Federal Aviation Administration (http://www.faa.gov)  

FDR – Freeway Distributor Road  

FFPR – (GDOT) Final Field Plan Review  

FHWA – Federal Highway Administration (http://www.fhwa.dot.gov)  

FRA – Federal Railroad Administration (http://www.fra.dot.gov/)  

GDOT – Georgia Department of Transportation (http://www.dot.ga.gov)  

GLA – Gross Leasable Area  

GRIP – Governor’s Road Improvement Program 

(http://www.dot.ga.gov/Projects/programs/Pages/GRIP.aspx) 

GRTA – Georgia Regional Transportation Authority (http://www.grta.org/  

HCM – Highway Capacity Manual (see References for additional information)  

http://www.transportation.org/
http://www.faa.gov/
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/
http://www.fra.dot.gov/
http://www.dot.ga.gov/
http://www.dot.ga.gov/Projects/programs/Pages/GRIP.aspx
http://www.grta.org/


GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | v 

HCS – Highway Capacity Software (http://mctrans.ce.ufl.edu/hcs/)  

HOV – High Occupancy Vehicle  

IA – Independent Assurance  

ISTEA- Intermodal Surface Transportation Equity Act 

(http://www.bts.gov/laws_and_regulations/)  

ITE – Institute of Transportation Engineers (http://www.ite.org/)  

L/A – Limited Access  

LARP – Local Assistance Road Program  

MPO – Metropolitan Planning Organization  

MUTCD – Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (FHWA) see References for additional 

information  

NHS – National Highway System  

OCGA – Official Code of Georgia (http://www.lexis-nexis.com/hottopics/gacode/default.asp)  

OES – (GDOT) Office of Environmental Services  

OMR – GDOT’s Office of Materials and Research.  

PDP – (GDOT) Plan Development Process  

PE – Preliminary Engineering  

PFPR – Preliminary Field Plan Review  

PHV – Peak Hour Volume  

PM – Preventive Maintenance  

PNRC – Project Nomination Review Committee  

QPL – (GDOT) Qualified Products List  

RCInfo – Roadway Characteristics Information  

RDG – (AASHTO) Roadside Design Guide 

(https://bookstore.transportation.org/item_details.aspx?ID+148)  

ROW – Right-of-Way  

RTT – Roadway Testing Technician as certified by GDOT  

RTV – Right Turn Volume  

SPUI – Single Point Urban Interchange  

SRTA – State Road and Tollway Authority  

http://mctrans.ce.ufl.edu/hcs/)
http://www.bts.gov/laws_and_regulations/)
http://www.ite.org/)
http://www.lexis-nexis.com/hottopics/gacode/default.asp
https://bookstore.transportation.org/item_details.aspx?ID+148


GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | vi 

STARS – (Georgia) State Traffic and Report Statistics 

(http://www.dot.ga.gov/informationcenter/statistics/Pages/default.aspx) 

STI – GDOT Sampling, Testing and Inspection Manual which is located on the GDOT website 

under “The Source”.  

STIP – State Transportation Improvement Plan.  

SWTP – Statewide Transportation Plan 

(http://www.dot.ga.gov/Projects/programs/Pages/SSTP.aspx) 

TIP – Transportation Improvement Program  

TMOS- Testing Management Operations Supervisor  

POLICY AND PROCEDURE – Transportation Online Policy and Procedure System 

(http://www.dot.ga.gov/Policy and Procedure/index.shtml)  

UAM – (GDOT) Utility Accommodation Policy and Standards Manual. 

http://www.dot.ga.gov/doingbusiness/utilities/Pages/manual.aspx  

VT – Verification Testing

http://www.dot.ga.gov/informationcenter/statistics/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.dot.ga.gov/Projects/programs/Pages/SSTP.aspx
http://www.dot.ga.gov/Policy%20and%20Procedure/index.shtml
http://www.dot.ga.gov/doingbusiness/utilities/Pages/manual.aspx


GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 1 

Types of Certification Applications 

1. Full Certification Acceptance (CA) Status 

This status delegates some or all authority to a qualified local agency for approving 

project development and construction administration.  

2. Non-CA Status   

a) Option 1 The Non-CA Local Government could enter into an agreement with a 

CA Local Government to administer all aspects of the project.  There must be a 

jurisdictional relationship (for example a CA County could have an agreement 

with a Non-CA City that is within its jurisdictional boundaries). This agreement 

requires approval by GDOT.    

b) Option 2 GDOT acts as the CA for the Local Government through an approved 

plan for the administration of projects, which are executed between GDOT and 

the Local Government. 

Required Training for Certification 

These courses will be required every 3 years for certification and re-certification: 

 Local Administered Projects Training  

 Right-of-Way Acquisition Training  

 Title VI Training  

 Project Development Process Training  

Documents to be Submitted 

 Organizational Chart (update chart that identifies by name and title/position of non-

consultant staff that will participate in LAP certification) 

 Copy of the LAP Manual Training Certificate 

 Copy of the Right-of-Way Acquisition Training Certificate 

 Copy of the Title VI Training Certificate  

 Copy of the PDP Manual Training Certificate 

 Copy (PDF) of State of Georgia PE License from Professional Licensing, Georgia 

Secretary of State website with expiration date 

 

 

 

 



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 2 

LAP Certification Information 
 

Date: ________________ 

 

Agency Name: _________________________________________________________________ 

 

Type of Certification Status:       CA________ Non-CA Options 1:_________ Option 2________ 

 

GDOT District: ______________________Congressional District: _______________________ 

 

Interview Conducted By (GDOT) Name: ____________________________________________ 

 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Agency Representative (Local) Name: ______________________________________________ 

 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

 

How Long in Current Position? ______________ 

 

Phone Number: __________________________ Fax Number: ________________________ 

 

Email Address: _________________________________________________________________ 

 

Street Address: _________________________________________________________________ 

 

City: _________________________________________________________________________ 

 

State: ________________ County: _________________ Zip Code: _______________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

July 1, 2019

City of Statesboro

  X

  5   12

Byron Cowart

District Planning and Programming - Office of Preconstruction

912-764-0655 N/A

50 East Main Street P.O. Box 48

BullochGeorgia

Statesboro

30459

 Kiara Ahmed

 Engineer

4 yrs

kiara.ahmed@statesboroga.gov



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 3 

Local Administered Projects Responsible Charge Worksheet 

List the Name and Position Responsible for the Following Functions. Only list Non-Consultant staff positions 

within your organization.  (Attach the most current organizational chart. The Local Agency must notify the 

Department within 30-days of any name or position changes.)  

Statewide Transportation Improvement Program: _________________________________________________ 

Selection of Annual Program: ________________________________________________________________ 

Location/Design Approval: __________________________________________________________________ 

Environmental Documents: __________________________________________________________________ 

PS&E Approval: ___________________________________________________________________________ 

Tied Bids: ________________________________________________________________________________ 

Approval of Materials Sources: _______________________________________________________________ 

Construction Administration: _________________________________________________________________ 

Construction Inspection: ____________________________________________________________________ 

Acceptance Sampling/Testing: ________________________________________________________________ 

Change Orders: ____________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Files: ______________________________________________________________________________ 

OEO Interviews/Monitoring: _________________________________________________________________ 

Training Goal Attainment: ___________________________________________________________________ 

DBE Compliance/Monitoring: ________________________________________________________________ 

Utility Certification: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Row Certification: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Consultants 

For what areas does the agency expect to use consultants?   

 

___        Environmental                                                                    ___        Right-of-Way Relocation 

___        Design                               ___        Construction Administration 

___        PS&E Preparation                             ___        Construction Inspection 

___        Right-of-Way Appraisal                                                        ___        Surveying  

___        Right-of-Way Negotiation                                                     ___       Sampling and Testing  

___        Utilities 

If there is an organizational change this document must be updated within 30days. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Mayor and Council

John Washington, City Engineer

City Engineer

City Engineer

Mayor and Council

City Engineer

City Engineer

City Engineer

City Engineer

Mayor and Council

City Engineer

City Engineer

City Engineer

City Engineer

City Engineer

City Engineer

Charles Penny, City Manager



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 4 

Section A - Title VI - Civil Rights Performance & Assessment Questionnaire 

1. Do you have a Title VI Policy, Title VI Notice to the Public, Title VI Assurances and Title 

VI Plan or non-discrimination agreement in place? Provide proof of your Title VI policy (via 

web or printed materials) 

____________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________ 

2. Please provide a copy of your Title VI complaint procedure for discrimination complaints?  

What extent is the community aware of it? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

3. Have you received any Title VI related complaints during the past two years? If so, how 

many?  (Please attach the complaint form) What were the outcomes? Where there any Title 

VI complaints lodged by beneficiaries or participants? If so, explain the issues involved. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

4. What is the name and title of the person who attended the GDOT Title VI training? Please 

provide the date and a copy of the training certificate? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

5. Are minority members of the community invited to participate in public hearings? If yes, 

how do you identify potential EJ groups?  How do you ensure they attend? If not, what 

measures have been taken to ensure public participation in public hearings? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 Yes. Attached this document. 

 Attached this document. Posted on City website.

No Title VI complaints have been received in the past two years. 

Kiara Ahmed - Civil Engineer
William Cone - TSPLOST/Capital Projects Manager

Yes. An EJ analysis was performed to locate EJ populations as part of the development of the  
Bulloch County LRTP in 2009. The City of Statesboro advertises all public hearings in the  local 
newspaper, placing signs around a project site, directly communicating to  related EJ groups, 
and posts on the City's website. 



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 5 

 

6. Are DBE goals being monitored, included and met for contracts on a programmatic 

level? If yes, please provide a brief explanation. If not, what provisions have been taken 

to monitor and meet them? 

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________ 

7. Are minority contractors and subcontractors being informed about contracting 

opportunities with your organization? If yes, provide proof of contracting opportunities to 

minority contractors. If not, what provisions have been taken to inform minority 

contractors of contracting opportunities? 

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________ 

8. Are Appendix A of the Title VI assurances and the FHWA 1273 being included in all 

contracts, subcontracts, and material supply agreements? Provide a sample contract of the 

inclusion of Appendix A of the Title VI Assurances & FHWA 1273. 

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________ 

9. If you have not done any of the above, please explain how you will address Title VI 

Federal requirements on Local Administered projects? 

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  

 No. John Washington, City Engineer and William Cone, Projects Manager will monitor 
reports and conduct on-site inspections to ensure DBE compliance.

On Local Administered Projects, DBE goals will be included and monitored in all contracts 
as required. Title VI NDA aggreement will be included in all contracts. 

Yes. All bids are advertised in the local newspaper, on the City, Georgia Procurement 
Registry and  Georgia Local Government Access websites.

Future contracts will include Appendix A of the Non-Discrimnation Agreement (NDA) and 
FHWA 1273 documents.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 6 

Section B - Environmental Questionnaire  

1. How many types of Environmental Documents listed below are active under development? 

___ Programmatic Categorical Exclusions (PCE – approved by GDOT) 

___ Categorical Exclusions (CE – approved by FHWA) 

___ Environmental Assessments/Findings of No Significant Impact (EA/FONSI – approved     

       by FHWA) 

___ Environmental Impact Statement (EIS – approved by FHWA) 

 

2. Have you had any Environmental Documents of the types listed below in the past three 

years? 

___ Programmatic Categorical Exclusions (PCE – approved by GDOT) 

___ Categorical Exclusions (CE – approved by FHWA) 

___ Environmental Assessments/Findings of No Significant Impact (EA/FONSI – approved 

by FHWA) 

___ Environmental Impact Statement (EIS – approved by FHWA) 

 

3. For each document type noted above, what was the average number of review cycles 

required with GDOT staff to receive NEPA approval or submittal to FHWA?  (A cycle is 

considered each time comments are received without GDOT approval or forwarding to 

FHWA.) 

___ PCE ___CEs ___ EA/FONSI ___EIS 

4. For the approved documents noted in #2 above, how many approvals were received: 

___ On schedule or ahead of schedule as per the approved schedule required by the Project  

        Framework Agreement  

___ After the baseline schedule deadline and less than 3 months late 

___ After the baseline schedule deadline and between 3 and 6 months late 

___ After the baseline schedule deadline and between 6 and 12 months late 

___ After the baseline schedule deadline and more than 12 months late 

 

Please describe the specific reasons for the approval delays noted above.  Use additional 

sheets as necessary. 

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

0
0

0

0

0
0
0

0

 N/A



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 7 

5.  List any and all public involvement methods utilized during the environmental process.  Use 

additional sheets as necessary. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

6. How many applications were submitted by the LPA for approval by the Army Corps of 

Engineers USACE) and/or Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Environmental 

Protection Division (EPD)? 

___ Section 404 Permits from USACE   Individual ___ Regional ___ Nationwide ___ 

___ Stream Buffer Variances from Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD) 

 

7. For each permit type noted above, what was the average number of review cycles required 

with GDOT staff for submittal to the Army Corps or EPD?  (A cycle is considered each time 

comments are received from GDOT without forwarding to the Corps or EPD.) 

___ Section 404 Permit from USACE   Individual____ Regional ____ Nationwide___ 

___ Stream Buffer Variances from Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD) 

 

8. For the approved permits noted in #7 above, how many approvals were received: 

___ 11 or more weeks prior to the GDOT baseline let date  

___ 5-11 weeks prior to the GDOT baseline let date 

___ After 5 weeks prior to the GDOT baseline let date 

 

Please describe the specific reasons for the approval delays noted above.  Use additional 

sheets as necessary. 

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

9. Please describe any improvements that your agency or GDOT can implement to improve the 

delivery of environmental approvals or permits.  Use additional sheets as necessary. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

sites to advertise the hearing in conjuncton with advertising in the local newspaper. Letters are sent to
stakeholders as applicable.

 The City of Statesboro utilizes public hearings to obtain public input. Signage will be placed at project

0 0 0 0
0

  N/A

 City complete applications/requests with ALL pertinent information for GDOT and other agencies 
to make clear and appropriate decision and action is vital to to a successful project.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 8 

10. If you have not done any of the above, please explain how you plan to complete 

Environmental documents for Local Administered Projects? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  

 Qualified consultants will be utiliized to prepare environmental documents. All rules and 
regulations governing environmental documents shall be followed.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 9 

Section C - Right of Way Questionnaire 

1. Any consultant CONTRACTED for negotiation services for the acquisition of right of way 

for the County/City must either: 

   

___ Hold an active Real Estate license in the State of Georgia or  

___ Hold an active Real Estate broker’s license in the State of Georgia or 

___ Be identified as an exception under OCGA 43-40-29 

 

2. Any contracted CONSULTANT for negotiation services or staff negotiator performing 

negotiation services must have attended the GDOT/FHWA training class every 3 years and 

hold an active certificate.  Provide a copy of the certificate. 

 

3. Please describe your quality assurance and quality control methods to manage the ROW  in 

the following areas:  

 

a. ROW Project Activity Milestone Delivery: (i.e. schedule development and 

management recovery) 

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

b. ROW Project Budget (i.e. development, monitoring and overruns) 

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

c. ROW Project Risks associated with adhering to scope, schedule and budget (i.e. 

mitigation plan) 

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

d. ROW Consultant Services (i.e. development and monitoring) when applicable  

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

4. Identify the responsible party and title of staff certifying ROW.  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 John Washington, City Engineer

See Attachment ROW.

 See Attachment ROW.

See Attachment ROW.

See Attachment ROW.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 10 

5. Has your LPA received any non-compliance letters or corrective actions? If yes, who 

provided the service, explain non-compliance? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

6. Who will perform the Right of Way Acquisition services? (Please check all that apply) 

____Staff 

____Consultants 

____Both 

7. If you have not performed any of the above activities, how do you plan to perform Right-of-

Way functions for Local Administered Projects? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

  

 No.

 The City Engineer has performed Right-Of-Way functions using State/Federal funds in the past
and is familiar with the requirements. The City Engineer will consult the GDOT District Local
Government ROW coordinator for assistance as needed. The City will also adhere to the GDOT
ROW Manual and the Uniform Act for all property management relocations.



ATTACHMENT B - Right of Way Questionnaire 
 
 
3a. ROW Project Milestone Delivery (i.e. schedule development and management recovery): 
 
After the scope of work has been defined, the City Engineer will establish a preliminary cost 
estimate and schedule for right of way acquisition. The City Engineer will work with the Design 
Consultant to establish the estimate and schedule, which will be reviewed by the City Projects 
Manager and City Manager. The Timeline for Acquisitions Guidelines provided by GDOT in the 
Right of Way Acquisition Training for Local Agencies will be utilized. The City Engineer will also 
work closely with the GDOT District Local Government ROW Coordinator and Project Manager in 
establishing the schedule and updating or revising the schedule when needed. 
 
 
3b. ROW Project Budget (i.e. development, monitoring and overruns): 
 
The City Engineer will work with the Design Consultant to develop the Preliminary ROW Project 
Budget. The City Projects Manager and City Manager will review and approve the ROW Project 
Budget. The City Engineer will also work closely with the GDOT District Local Government 
Coordinator. After ROW Plans have been completed and approved, a Detailed Cost Estimate will 
then be prepared with the assistance of a GDOT-certified appraiser. Any potential overruns will be 
reviewed by the City Projects Manager and City Manager. 
 
 
3c. ROW Project Risks associated with adhering to scope, schedule, and budget (i.e. mitigation plan): 
 
During the Design Phase, the City Engineer will work with the Design Consultant to reduce 
ROW Project Risks by reducing the project footprint and right of way and utility impacts as much 
as possible. Property and utility impacts will also be reviewed by the City Projects Manager and 
City Manager. Significant impacts such as railroad impacts, major utility impacts, and 
relocations, will be identified as early as possible in the design process. 
 
 
3d. ROW Consultant Services (i.e. development and monitoring) when applicable 
 
On projects where ROW Consultants are utilized, selection of a qualified consultant will follow 
the City Purchasing Policy and will be reviewed and approved by the City Purchasing Manager, 
City Engineer, City Projects Manager, and City Manager. The Consultant will be expected to 
provide weekly progress updates to the City Engineer during the course of the work. 



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 11 

Section D - Utility Division Questionnaire 

Local Utility Compliance 

1. Name and Title of individual or individuals that will be or have been responsible for Utility 

Coordination work. 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

2. In brief and concise sentences, please describe your knowledge of the GDOT’s Utility 

Accommodation Policies and Standards Manual in relation to Utility Coordination work on 

project (use additional sheets). 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

3. In brief and concise sentences, please describe your work experiences that demonstrate your 

ability to coordinate with utilities during the preconstruction phase on transportation projects 

(use additional sheets). 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

4. In brief and concise sentences, please describe your ability to provide professional 

engineering services necessary to ensure utility impacts do not delay the project schedule on 

both the preconstruction phase or construction phase (use additional sheets) 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

5. If you have not done any of the above, please explain how you will perform Utility activities 

on Local Administered Projects? 

__________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________ 

 John Washington, City Engineer

 The City Engineer has performed as design engineer for utility installation/relocation on state

to avoid conflicts. Projects included road widening, intersection/sidewalk/drainage improvements.
As City engineer, I am repsonsible for coordinating with all under and above ground utilities

 All utilities are contacted to submit for impacts to proposed improvements.

As City Engineer, my role is to ensure utilities are idenitifed and located during preliminary design. 
This is done by utiliziing utility locate contractors and consultants to map the utilities. This measure
can ensure the layout can best designed for minimal impacts during construction.

routes for over 30 years while using the GUPS system since its inception. The City Engineer will  
will coordinate utility installation/relocation within GDOT rights-of-way space with the District Utilities office.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 12 

Section E - Construction Division Questionnaire  

Advertisement, Award, and Execution of Contract 

Position Responsible for: 

Approval to Advertise _____________________________________________ 

Name of Legal Publication _________________________________________ 

 Prequalification of Bidders _________________________________________ 

 Award of Contract ________________________________________________ 

 Execution of Contract _____________________________________________ 

Construction Supervision and Administration 

Name and Title of individual or individuals that will be responsible for Construction Supervision 

and Administration:  ____________________________________________________________ 

Describe the Local Governments experience with construction supervision and inspection related 

to transportation construction projects: 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Will daily Construction Supervision and Inspection be handled by the Local Government or by a 

Consultant Firm? _______________________________________________________________  

If Local Government is using a Consultant Firm, is the Firm under a current contract with the 

Local Government? ____________________________________________________________ 

If so, what is the name of the Firm? ________________________________________________ 

Is the Firm pre-qualified under the Department’s 8.01 Consultant Work Classification? ______ 

If a Consultant Firm is used, how will the Local Government monitor the Consultant’s work? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Name and Title of individual who will check contractor payrolls?  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

How will the Local Government handle administration of more than one contract at a time? 

______________________________________________________________________________

 City Manager

Statesboro Herald

 City Engineer

Mayor and Council

Mayor

John Washington, City Engineer

The City of Statesboro has successfully completed transportation projects. The City has a Capital Projects 
Manager with 15 years experience supervising and inspecting projects. The Projects Manager is supported
by the City Engineer that has functioned over 20 years as Construction Manager on tranportation/utility 
projects. Duties include scheduling and inspection, and reporting to local district offices.

Both LGA and consultant.

No.

N/A

N/A

The city engineer or his designee will conduct routine inspections for adherance to requirements and quality
assurance. The consultant will be required to provide weekly reports to the City Engineer.

John Washington, City Engineer

The City will utilize consultants to provide daily supervision and maintain the project delivery schedule.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 13 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

How will Local Government handle inspection and administration of several active phases of a 

project concurrent (e.g. grading, drainage, paving, structures)? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Change Orders/Contract Modifications 

What is the Local Government’s current change order process, including approval levels and 

final signature required for execution? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Describe the Local Government’s requirements for documenting Contractor activities and 

making measurement and payment for project bid items. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Describe the Local Governments process for subcontract approval(s). 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Material Testing and Approval 

Describe the Local Governments experience with use of materials approved by the Georgia 

Department of Transportation. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Describe the Local Governments experience with materials testing related to transportation 

construction projects. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

County administrative staff will be utilized to perform administrative tasks.

The City Engineer will delegate daily supervision and inspection to City staff and utilize consultants for 
administration of active phases of multiple projects.

Change orders are reviewed by the Projects Manager and the City Engineer for qualification.
If accepted, the CO is submitted to Public Works & Engineering  Dir. and City Manager for approval.
Final approval is obtained by Mayor and Council with final CO provided to contractor for final execution. 
The executed CO is forwarded to GDOT for approval and supplemental agreement preparation.

Contractor activities are documented daily in a project log book. Project bid items are paid based
on materials in place and measured in the field. Lump sum items are paid on percentage complete.

Subcontractor qualificatinos are submitted by the GC during pre-construction meeting for review by the
City Projects Manager. 

The City Engineer is familiar with GDOT Qualified Products List. contractos are required to submit materials
approved on QPL. The City Engineer is familar with Technician Certification Program in regard to
sampling andtesting procedures.

The City Engineer has work experience as a GDOT bridge and asphalt inspector. The City requires
contractors to adhere to GDOT program for sampling and testing of roadway construction materials.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 14 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Will materials testing and certification be done by the Local Government or by a Consultant 

Firm? ________________________________________________________________________ 

If Local Government is using a Consultant Firm, is the Firm under a current contract with the 

Local Government? _____________________________________________________________ 

If so, what is the name of the Firm? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Is the Firm pre-qualified under the Department’s 6.04a and 6.04b Consultant Work 

Classifications? 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

Is the Local Government planning and developing any projects that may contain and bridges or 

structures? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

If yes, does the Local Government or its Consultant have PCI certified inspection personnel or 

will the Local Government request the assistance of GDOT for inspection and approval? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Does the Consultant have ASNT (American Society of Nondestructive Testing) Level III 

certified welding inspectors for steel bridges? 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Does the Consultant have ASNT certified VT or MT inspectors? (visual and magnetic particle)  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Policies and Manuals 

Is the Local Government in possession of the current edition of the following policies and 

manuals? (Check answer that applies) 

GDOT Construction Manual      __ yes  __ no 

GDOT Sampling, Testing and Inspection Guide   __ yes  __ no 

No.

N/A.

N/A.

 No.

N/A.

N/A.

N/A.

Consultant or contractor. The City will refer to GDOT Materials Testing office on an as-needed basis.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 15 

 

GDOT Standard Specification     __ yes  __ no 

MUTCD         __ yes  __ no 

Manual for Erosion and Sedimentation Control in Georgia  __ yes  __ no 

Schedule/Workload 

If any, list the Local Governments schedule of Federal Aid Projects and their projected 

Construction Begin Date. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Delivery Performance & Quality Assurance 

 Who is responsible for ensuring that payments are in line with percent complete activities 

(as approved by LPA and GDOT)? 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 Who is responsible for developing the initial Gantt Chart construction schedule 

identifying the key milestones along with the critical paths? 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 How is the construction schedule monitored to determine monthly performance? 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 What industry methods have been implemented to mitigate construction risks and delays? 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 What assurances are in place to measure and document quality control performance? 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  

City Engineer

  Multi-Infrastructure Improvements - Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 2016
Multi-Infrastructure Improvements - CDBG 2019 (Application ONLY)

 The contractor is repsonsible for developing construction schedules based on the city's timeline.

The Projects Manager (PM) monitors and documents performance and progress weekly and monthly.

The PM conducts site progress meetings to maintain and meet milestones per the schedule.

Daly and weekly inspections ensure QA/QC of materials placed and accepted.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 16 

Section F - Procurement of Engineering and Design Related Services 

Questionnaire  

Please answer the following questions specific to “Procurement, Management, and 

Administration of Engineering and Design Related Services” for Federal-Aid projects to 

enable the Department to determine compliance with 23 CFR 172.  

1. How many procurements for architecture and engineering services for contracts to be funded 

with Federal Aid Highway Program funds are anticipated and what type of services will be 

procured?   

             

             

              

2. Provide the written policies and procedures which will be used to procure architecture and 

engineering services using Federal-Aid funds, which are in accordance with §172.5(b)(1).  If 

none are available, describe the process followed from beginning to end. 

             

             

              

3. How will the solicitations be announced, advertised, or published in a public forum or 

method that assured qualified in-state and out-of-state consultants were given a fair 

opportunity to be considered? How long will the projects be advertised?  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

a. What selection criteria will be utilized and what is the range of associated weights 

which will be applied for each selection criteria? 

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

b. Describe the information which will be included in the resulting evaluation, 

ranking and selection packages for each consultant selection.  What is the 

minimum number of statements of qualifications which must be received in order 

to proceed?  What are the anticipated DBE Goals for each contract? 

 sampling and materials testing, and inspection services.
At least one (1) contract is anticipated to be procured and funded for surveying and engineering,

The City has adopted GDOT Procurement Policy for The Procurement, Management and 
Administration of Engineering and Design Related Consultant Services to use in conjuction with

Solicitations for bids will be announced and advertised on the city's and GLGA website, GA 
Procurement Registry, and Statesboro Herald.

Quality and completeness of the response 15 pts, Clearly demonstrate understanding of 
project 15%, Clearly demonstrate qualifications 20 pts, Key personnel experience 25 pts, 
Clearly demonstrate success and timely completion of similar projects 25 pts.

existing City procurement policies. See executed GDOT procurement policy attached.



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 17 

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 

4. Compliance with 23 CFR 172.7(a)(1)(v) and 23 CFR172.11:  After the selection process is 

completed, describe the negotiation process which will be utilized to determine a fair and 

reasonable cost for the services provided. 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

5. What contract types (project specific, multi-phase project specific, on call/Indefinite 

Delivery/Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ) are anticipated to be procured?  

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

6. If utilizing on call/IDIQ contracts, what will be the maximum contract term?  

______________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

7. If you have not done any of the above, please explain how you plan to perform Construction 

Activities on Local Administered Projects?  
_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  

City staff will evaluate proposals based on responses; the evaluatoins are usually scored on a
scale of 1-4 with 4 being the highest ranking. A minimum of two (2) proposals must be received to proceed 
with the project. The City has not established DBE goals but 10% is an accepted goal.

The City shall obtain contract costs with a breakdown of the tasks by man-hours, classification, unit rates for a total

schedule of fees. If an agreement is not reached with the first Consultant, the next highest ranked
consultant will be contacted and fee negotiations will commence with that consultant.

Project specific. Some projects may be multi-phase project specific on an as needed basis.

N/A

N/A





GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 18 

Section G - Certification Acceptance Qualification Agreement 

The agency agrees to comply with the following requirements when developing all 

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) projects under GDOT’s Qualification 

Certification Agreement. 

 
1. Adherence to the Local Administered Project Manual and all policies and procedures 
      promulgated by the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) which accomplish  

      the policies and objectives set forth in Title 23, U.S. Code, Highways, and the regulations 

      issued pursuant thereto. 

 

2. All projects will be constructed in conformance with the GDOT current Standard 

Specifications for Road, Bridge, and such specifications that modify these Specifications as 

appropriate. 

 

3. Construction administration and material sampling and testing will be accomplished in 

accordance with the GDOT Construction Manual and the Local Administered Project 

Manual. 

 

4. All projects under Certification Acceptance shall be available for review by the FHWA 

and/or GDOT at any time and all project documents shall be retained and available for 

      inspection during the plan development and construction stages and for a three year period 

      following acceptance of the project by GDOT. 

 

5. Approval of the local agency certification by the GDOT may be rescinded at any time upon 

local agency request or if, in the opinion of the LAP Certification Committee, it is necessary 

to do so. The rescission may be applied to all or part of the programs or projects approved in 

the local agency certification. The Local Government accepts liability to reimburse the 

GDOT and FHWA for all accrued payments received for applicable projects not complying 

with this agreement. 

 

Recommendation(s) of action to be taken by Agency from GDOT Reviewer: 

______________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
           Full administration by agency of all projects 

           Administration by agency on a project-by-project basis 

           Non – CA Status Option 1           

           Non – CA Status Option 2                  

           Deny approval for Certification Acceptance 

  



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 19 

Section H - Certification Appeal Process 

If certification has been denied, the Local Public Agency will then receive a letter explaining the 

reasons for denial.  The LPA can then appeal any deficiencies found within 30 days.  GDOT will 

then approve or deny the appeal based on additional information provided by the LPA. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



GDOT LAP Certification Application                                                                                      

R e v .  8 / 1 6                                                              P a g e  | 20 

This signature ensures that the agency agrees to comply with the previous requirements when 

developing all Federal Highway Administration projects under GDOT’s Qualification 

Certification Agreement.  FAILURE TO COMPLY may require repayment for all or a portion 

of Federal funds.  This applies to all successors from here.  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT, Georgia 

Approved By: ____________________________         

Title: ___________________________________ 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered   

This ____ day of ___________,  

20__, in the presence of: 

 

________________________________ 

Witness 

 

________________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

Approved By: _________________________________________________________________ 

                                          Program Control Administrator                              Date 

 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Sam Jones, District 2 
Jeff Yawn, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Derek Duke, District 5 

 
  
 
 
  
 
 
    
To:   Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
From:  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
Date:  8/13/2019 
 
RE:  GDOT Mowing and Maintenance Agreement 
 
Policy Issue:  Intergovernmental Agreement 
 
Recommendation:  
Consideration of a Motion to Authorize the Mayor to Execute a Right of Way Mowing and 
Maintenance Agreement with the Georgia Department of Transportation. 
 
Background:  
Maxwell-Reddick & Associates has been contracted by JGR Development to perform civil 
engineering design and permitting for the Old Register TAD project with all related agencies.  A 
condition of the Old Register Road/Veteran’s Memorial Parkway traffic signal permit 
application with the Georgia Department of Transportation is the execution of a Right of Way 
Mowing and Maintenance Agreement.  This agreement transfers responsibility for mowing and 
other maintenance activities within the limits of the intersection. 
 
The City of Statesboro already provides mowing and minor maintenance activities within areas 
of the GDOT right of way, therefore, no negative impacts are foreseen with this agreement.  
Further, I have conferred with the City Attorney and he has approved this agreement for the 
Mayor’s execution. 
 
Budget Impact:   
Minor impact due to additional maintenance costs of intersection area. 
 
Council Person and District: Councilman Jeff Yawn, District 3 
 
CC:         Charles Penny, City Manager 
 



RIGHT OF WAY MOWING AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 

By and Between

THE

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

AND
City of Statesboro

Permit # A-031-002852-5

SR 000067BY, Milepoint 1.8 to 2.2

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this by and between the DEPARTMENT of Transportation,
an agency of the State of Georgia, hereinafter alternately referred to as "DEPARTMENT" or "LICENSOR", and the APPLICANT
hereinafter referred to as "LICENSEE".

WHEREAS the DEPARTMENT desires to enter into a public/private partnership to perform certain services relating to mowing
and maintenance within DEPARTMENT'S right of way, hereinafter called the "PROJECT", and

WHEREAS, the LICENSEE has represented to the DEPARTMENT that, if such permission is granted to the LICENSEE,
LICENSEE shall bear all costs and liability associated with the PROJECT; and

WHEREAS, the LICENSEE has represented to the DEPARTMENT that they are qualified and experienced to provide such
services and the DEPARTMENT has relied upon such representations;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants as herein contained, it is agreed by and
between the parties hereto that:

ARTICLE I

SCOPE OF PROJECT

The DEPARTMENT shall permit the LICENSEE to perform or cause to be performed, the PROJECT consisting of certain
services related to maintaining an identified section of the DEPARTMENT'S rights of way.

This permission shall be granted by the means of this Agreement for the entire scope of the PROJECT, as set forth herein.

The maintenance duties and responsibilities of the LICENSEE are defined and set forth in Article XI - MAINTENANCE WORK
PLAN of this Agreement, and further enumerated and described in Exhibit 'A' - Application and Permit for Special Encroachment with
approved drawings or final working drawings for a Department-approved construction PROJECT. Exhibit 'A' is attached hereto and
incorporated by reference as if fully set out herein. The PROJECT location shall be defined or delineated as part of Exhibit 'A'. The
required Special Encroachment Permit and/or the construction PROJECT final working drawings are to be approved or issued by the
DEPARTMENT.

Should the LICENSEE desire that these maintenance services be performed by a third party, LICENSEE and the third party shall
enter into subsequent agreement, whereby the LICENSEE shall assume all responsibility of repayment to the third party for those
services to be rendered as set forth in Article XI - MAINTENANCE WORK PLAN . The Agreement between LICENSEE and any third
parties to this Agreement, shall meet all operational and administrative requirements, including the provisions of liability insurance, set
forth by the DEPARTMENT, and all liability associated with the PROJECT shall be borne by LICENSEE and any third parties, as set
forth in Article VIII, herein.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 026E7452-E847-4A94-A5E3-36CF7F185122



ARTICLE II

EXECUTION OF CONTRACT AND AUTHORIZATION

TIME OF PERFORMANCE

Time is of the essence in this agreement. The LICENSEE shall execute this Agreement and return it to the DEPARTMENT within
thirty (30) days after receipt of contract forms from the DEPARTMENT.

The LICENSEE shall begin work on the PROJECT under this Agreement immediately after receiving a signed and executed
copy of the Agreement (unless noted otherwise in Exhibit A or upon PROJECT construction completion).

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and upon execution of this Agreement, the DEPARTMENT grants
the right to the LICENSEE to mow, edge, and maintain, as set forth in Article XI - MAINTENANCE WORK PLAN , that specific section
of right-of-way identified in this Agreement, and herein defined as the PROJECT.

The duration of this Agreement shall be for fifty years from the date above first written unless terminated sooner by the
DEPARTMENT or LICENSEE.

ARTICLE III

SUBSTANTIAL CHANGES

If, prior to the satisfactory completion of the services under this Agreement, any party materially alters the scope, character or
complexity of the services from those required under the Agreement, a Supplemental Agreement shall be executed between the parties.
It is understood, however, that LICENSEE shall not engage in any activities or conduct any work which would be considered to be
outside the scope of the permission granted to LICENSEE by the DEPARTMENT. Minor changes in the work which do not involve
increased compensation, extensions of time or changes in the goals and objectives of the work may be made by written notification of
such change by any party with written approval by the other parties.

ARTICLE IV

ASSIGNMENT

It is understood by the LICENSEE that the work is considered personal and, except as provided for in Article I, LICENSEE
agrees not to assign, sublet or transfer any or all of their interest in this Agreement without prior written approval of the DEPARTMENT.

ARTICLE V

CONTRACT DISPUTES

This Agreement shall be deemed to have been executed in Bulloch County, Georgia, without reference to its choice of law doctrine, and
all questions of interpretation and construction shall be governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. Any litigation arising out of this
contract shall be commenced within the State of Georgia. The foregoing provisions shall not be construed as waiving any immunity to suit
or liability, including without limitation, sovereign immunity which may be available to the Department.

ARTICLE VI

INSURANCE

Prior to beginning work, the LICENSEE shall obtain and certify to the DEPARTMENT that it has the following minimum amounts of
insurance coverage:

(a) Workmen's Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.

(b) Public Liability Insurance in an amount of not less than one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) for injuries, including those
resulting in death to any one person, and in an amount of not less than three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000) on an account of any
one occurrence, or proof of self insurance.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 026E7452-E847-4A94-A5E3-36CF7F185122



(c) Property Damage Insurance in an amount of not less than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) from damages on account
of any occurrence, with an aggregate limit of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), or proof of self insurance.

(d) Valuable Papers Insurance in an amount sufficient to assure the restoration of any plans, drawings, field notes, or
other similar data relating to the work covered by the PROJECT.

(e) Insurance shall be maintained in full force and effect during the life of the PROJECT.

The LICENSEE shall furnish upon request to the DEPARTMENT, certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. These
certificates shall also provide that the insurance will not be modified or canceled without a 30 day prior written notice to the
DEPARTMENT. Failure by the LICENSEE to procure and maintain the insurance as set forth above shall be considered a default and
cause for termination of this Agreement and forfeiture of the Performance and Payment Bonds. The LICENSEE shall, at least fifteen (15)
days prior to the expiration date or dates of expiring policies, deposit certified copies of renewal, or new policies, or other acceptable
evidence of insurance with the DEPARTMENT.

ARTICLE VII

COMPENSATION

I t is agreed that LICENSEE shall conduct all work at no cost to the DEPARTMENT, and without compensation from the
DEPARTMENT. It is further agreed that any and all issues relating to compensation and payment shall be resolved by and between
LICENSEE and any successors, subcontractors, or assigns thereto.

The DEPARTMENT and LICENSEE further agree that, should th e DEPARTMENT be required to conduct any inspections and/or
supervision of the PROJECT beyond that which would normally occur in the ordinary course of the DEPARTMENT'S maintenance
activities, LICENSEE shall reimburse the DEPARTMENT for such inspection and supervision. The rate of reimbursement for the
DEPARTMENT'S inspection and supervision shall in no case exceed a rate determined to be reasonable by the parties.

Should LICENSEE and the DEPARTMENT desire to change this agreement at a later date to provide for compensation to
LICENSEE, or any successors or assigns thereto, such change shall only be permitted by a supplemental agreement as set forth in
Article III herein. Any supplemental agreements involving compensation shall be subject to the DEPARTMENT review and approval.

ARTICLE VIII

RESPONSIBILITY FOR CLAIMS AND LIABILITY

LICENSEE NOT AGENT OF DEPARTMENT

LICENSEE, and all successors and assigns thereto, shall save harmless the DEPARTMENT, its officers, agents, and employees from
all suits, claims, actions or damages of any nature whatsoever resulting from the performance of work assigned to LICENSEE under this
Agreement. LICENSEE further agrees that they shall be fully responsible for injury or damage to landscaping, landscape related items,
and any other non-standard and decorative elements installed by or for the LICENSEE within the right of way, and for any damage to the
DEPARTMENT'S signs, structures, or roadway fixtures, if LICENSEE causes the damage. These indemnities shall not be limited by
reason of the listing of any insurance coverage.

It is further understood and agreed that LICENSEE, or any successor or assigns thereto, in the conduct of any work involved in the
PROJECT, shall not be considered the agent of the DEPARTMENT or of the State of Georgia.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 026E7452-E847-4A94-A5E3-36CF7F185122



ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION OF CONTRACT

The DEPARTMENT may terminate this contract for just cause at any time by giving of thirty (30) days written notice of such termination.
Upon receipt of such notice of termination, LICENSEE shall discontinue and cause all work under this contract to terminate upon the
date specified in the said notice. In the event of such termination, the DEPARTMENT shall be paid for any amounts as may be due it as
specified in Article VII up to and including the specified date of termination. LICENSEE shall have the right to terminate this contract at
any time, provided that such termination is first approved by the DEPARTMENT, and that the DEPARTMENT is reimbursed in full for all
services rendered pursuant to Article VII.

The DEPARTMENT and LICENSEE further agree that, should the DEPARTMENT allow the LICENSEE to terminate the
agreement, the termination, unless determined otherwise in writing by the DEPARTMENT, shall be contingent upon the following:

    The LICENSEE, at the discretion of the DEPARTMENT, removing the planted landscaping, landscape related items, and any other
non-standard and decorative elements that were installed by or for the LICENSEE at no cost to the DEPARTMENT.

     The LICENSEE restoring the removed landscape areas to their original condition or a condition that meets federal standards and is
acceptable to the DEPARTMENT.

     The LICENSEE restoring the removed non-standard and decorative elements with standard DEPARTMENT elements that meet
federal and state requirements.

The LICENSEE reimbursing the DEPARTMENT in full any state and/or federal funds used to purchase and install the landscaping,
landscape related items, and other non-standard and decorative elements that are no longer to be maintained by the LICENSEE.

The DEPARTMENT and the LICENSEE agree that, should the LICENSEE fail to perform the maintenance, as set forth in Article
XI - MAINTENANCE WORK PLAN , the DEPARTMENT may require the LICENSEE to remove, restore, and reimburse according to
items "A", "B", "C", and "D" above, as applicable, and then terminate the agreement.

ARTICLE X

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW

The undersigned certify that:

A. This Agreement is subject to applicable state and federal laws, standards, and rules and regulations.

B. The provisions of Sections 45-10-20 through 45-10-28 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated relating to Conflict of Interest
and State Employees and Officials Trading with the State have been complied with in full.

C. The provisions of Section 50-24-1 through 50-24-6 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, relating to the "Drug-Free
Workplace Act" have been complied with in full.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 026E7452-E847-4A94-A5E3-36CF7F185122



ARTICLE XI

MAINTENANCE WORK PLAN

DocuSign Envelope ID: 026E7452-E847-4A94-A5E3-36CF7F185122



The covenants herein contained shall, except as otherwise provided, accrue to the benefit of and be binding upon the successors
and assigns of the parties hereto.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said parties have hereunto set their hand and affixed their seals the day and year above first written.

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

______________________________________

Commissioner or designee

ATTEST:

______________________________________

Angela Whitworth

Treasurer

LICENSEE:

_______________________________________

DocuSign Envelope ID: 026E7452-E847-4A94-A5E3-36CF7F185122



EXHIBIT 'A'

(Attach the Application and Permit for Special Encroachment with approved drawings or the final working drawings for a Department-
approved construction)

DocuSign Envelope ID: 026E7452-E847-4A94-A5E3-36CF7F185122


	08-20-2019 Council Agenda
	08-06-2019 Council Minutes
	alcohol exemption
	Council Packet & Memo_AUG 2019 CC Meeting
	Sign Variance Request V 19-07-01
	Conditional Use Variance CUV 19-07-03

	Resolution 2019-28 memo
	Resolution 2019-28 COS 2019 Comprehensive Plan 8-7-19
	Memo New Way Solesource Front loader 0719
	New Way Solesource Contact 0719
	GDOT LAP Council Memo_rev02
	GDOT LAP Statesboro Recertification Applic_binder
	Table of Contents
	Acronyms
	Types of Certification Applications
	Required Training for Certification
	Documents to be Submitted

	LAP Certification Information
	Local Administered Projects Responsible Charge Worksheet
	Section A - Title VI - Civil Rights Performance & Assessment Questionnaire
	Section B - Environmental Questionnaire
	Section C - Right of Way Questionnaire
	Section D - Utility Division Questionnaire
	Section E - Construction Division Questionnaire
	Section F - Procurement of Engineering and Design Related Services Questionnaire
	Section G - Certification Acceptance Qualification Agreement
	Section H - Certification Appeal Process
	ROW questionaire.pdf
	3a. ROW Project Milestone Delivery (i.e. schedule development and management recovery):
	3b. ROW Project Budget (i.e. development, monitoring and overruns):
	3c. ROW Project Risks associated with adhering to scope, schedule, and budget (i.e. mitigation plan):

	3d. ROW Consultant Services (i.e. development and monitoring) when applicable



	GDOT MMA  Memo
	GDOT Mowing agreement



